

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

The Impact of Transformational Leadership on Nonprofit Volunteer Engagement and Commitment

Victoria Bohannon Buck *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons</u>, and the <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Victoria Bohannon Buck

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Robert Levasseur, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Thomas Spencer, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. Daphne Halkias, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2018

Abstract

The Impact of Transformational Leadership on Nonprofit Volunteer Engagement and Commitment by

Victoria Bohannon Buck

MBA, Webster University, 2003

BA, Northwestern University, 1976

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Leadership and Organization Change

Walden University

August 2018

Abstract

Nonprofit leadership attributes exert a significant effect on the nonprofit volunteer workforce to provide optimal service delivery to communities. Meeting the local community demands challenges nonprofit leadership to model inspirational behavior and attitudes that may motivate workers to transcend personal aspirations to support organizational goals more effectively. The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study was to determine whether transformational leadership influences the level of commitment and engagement of volunteer workers in nonprofit organizations. A theoretical framework based on transformational leadership guided the research. The research questions addressed the relationships between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. A sample of 111 U.S. volunteers provided the data by completing an online survey containing questions from the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 5X Short, the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale, and the Organizational Commitment Questionnaire. Simple linear regression was used to test the relationship between the independent variable, transformational leadership, and the dependent variables, engagement and commitment and their subscales. The results indicated a significant positive relationship between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment, and transformational leadership and 8 of 9 subscales of the dependent variables. Transformational leadership positively impacts social change by effectively motivating the nonprofit volunteer workforce, thereby enhancing service delivery to local communities.

The Impact of Transformational Leadership on Nonprofit Volunteer Engagement and Commitment

by

Victoria Bohannon Buck

MBA, Webster University

BA, Northwestern University

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Leadership and Organization Change

Walden University

August 2018

Dedication

I would like to dedicate the completion of my Proposal to my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, who continues to guide my steps, define my focus, bring peace to my soul, and strengthen my resolve to step out confidently on faith. I acknowledge the support from my husband, Stanley W. Buck, M.D.; son, Christopher Bohannon Buck, and his wife, Ayana; son, Jonathan Bohannon Buck, M.D., MPH; daughter, Jennifer Lauren Fox, JD, MPH, and her husband, Brandon; and my beautiful granddaughter, Aria; my daughter, Christina Elizabeth Buck, JD; and my parents, Ida J. Bohannon and the late Morris E. Bohannon.

You have all provided me with love, encouragement, faith, and tireless sacrifice in support of the achievement of my personal goals. I love each of you for who you are and what you have so graciously shared with me! You inspire and motivate me to strive for excellence in every endeavor. I also dedicate this work to all of my extended family and friends whose friendship, love, prayers, and counsel are a catalyst toward achieving my goals. I feel blessed to have each of you in my life. You are my touchstones!!!

Acknowledgments

To Dr. Robert Levasseur: your patience, guidance, and unfailing encouragement has continued to inspire me to continue to strive toward my doctoral goal. You truly elevated my understanding of scholarly writing. I am immensely thankful to you for supporting my efforts to address a critical gap in literature that will nurture significant positive social change.

To Dr. Thomas Spencer: your statistical insightfulness was greatly appreciated. You challenged me to think critically about the relationship between the study variables like a seasoned quantitative researcher.

To Dr. Daphne Halkias: I truly appreciated your input and support.

I sincerely appreciated the expertise, vision, and incredible insights each of you have shared with me throughout this doctoral process! You are my Dream Team!!!! I will always be grateful to each of you.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	3
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Questions and Hypotheses	10
Theoretical Framework	13
Nature of the Study	15
Definitions	
Assumptions	19
Scope and Delimitations	19
Limitations	
Significance of the Study	22
Significance to Theory	23
Significance to Practice	
Significance to Social Change	24
Summary and Transition	25
Chapter 2: Literature Review	27

Literature Search Strategy	
Library Databases, Search Engines, and Search Terms	
Scholarly Journals	
Theoretical Foundation	
Transformational Leadership Theory	
Seminal Literature	
Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire	
Utrecht Work Engagement Scale	
Organizational Commitment Questionnaire	
Literature Review as Related to Key Variables	
Transformational Leadership	
Criticisms of Transformational Leadership62	
Engagement62	
Volunteers' Engagement	
Commitment	
Volunteers' Commitment	
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Research Design and Rationale74	
Research Questions	
Methodology	

Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Recruitment	
Instrumentation	
Data Analysis Plan	
Threats to Validity	
External Validity91	
Internal Validity91	
Construct Validity91	
Reliability91	
Ethical Procedures92	
Summary94	
Chapter 4: Results96	
Introduction96	
Research Questions and Hypotheses	
Data Collection	
Response Rates	
Instrument Reliability100	
Study Results100	
Test Assumptions101	
Descriptive Statistics	

Research Question 1 & Hypotheses	106
Research Question 2 & Hypotheses	112
Research Question 3 & Hypotheses	117
Research Question 4 & Hypotheses	132
Summary	146
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	150
Interpretation of Findings	150
Limitations of the Study	154
Trustworthiness of the Data	154
Validity	155
Ethical Considerations	156
Recommendations	157
Implications	159
Positive Social Change	159
Future Research	160
Practice	161
Conclusions	162
References	163
Appendix A: SurveyMonkey® Privacy Policy	192
Appendix B: Permission to use Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire	
Appendix C: Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire	194

Appendix D: Permission to use Utrecht Work Engagement Scale	195
Appendix E: Utrecht Work Engagement Scale	196
Appendix F: Permission to use the Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ)	197
Appendix G: Organizational Commitment Questionnaire	198
Appendix H: G* Power 3.1 Sample Size Verification Graphics	199
Appendix I: Impact of Transformational Leadership on Volunteer Engagement and	
Commitment in Nonprofit Organizations Survey	200
Appendix J: Demographic Survey	207

List of Tables

Table 1. The Transformational, Transactional, and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles
and their Dimension48
Table 2. Frequency Table for Nominal Variables
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of Variables
Table 4. Case Processing Summary by Variables
Table 5. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total108
Table 6. ANOVA of MLQ-Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total108
Table 7. Coefficients of MLQ-Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total108
Table 8. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total109
Table 9. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_Total111
Table 10. Model of MLQ-Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_Total114
Table 11. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_Total 114
Table 12. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_Total
Table 13. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total115
Table 14. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ-Total predicting OCQ_Total116
Table 15. Model of MLQ-Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)119
Table 16. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)120
Table 17. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)120
Table 18. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V121
Table 19. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_D123

Table 20. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D	124
Table 21. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D	124
Table 22. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D	125
Table 23. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D	125
Table 24. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_D	127
Table 25. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A	128
Table 26. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A	128
Table 27. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A	129
Table 28. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A	129
Table 29. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_A	131
Table 30. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A	135
Table 31. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A	135
Table 32. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A	135
Table 33. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A	136
Table 34. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting OCQ_A	138
Table 35. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C	139
Table 36. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C	139
Table 37. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C	140
Table 38. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C	140
Table 39. Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting OCQ_C	142
Table 40. Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N	143

Table 41. ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N	.143
Table 42. Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N	.144
Table 43. Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N	.144
Table 44. Result for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting OCQ_N	146

List of Figures

Figure 1. Five practices of exemplary leadership
Figure 2. Boxplot of outliers for transformational leadership, engagement,
and commitment variables105
Figure 3. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of
MLQ_Total and UWES_Total109
Figure 4. Regression studentized residual MLQ-Total and UWES_Total110
Figure 5. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ_Total
and OCQ_Total115
Figure 6. Regression studentized residual MLQ_Total and OCQ_Total116
Figure 7. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ-Total and
UWES_V122
Figure 8. Regression studentized residual MLQ_Total and UWES_V122
Figure 9. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ_Total
and UWES_D120
Figure 10. Regression studentized residual MLQ_Total and UWES_D126
Figure 11. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ_Total and
UWES_A130
Figure 12. Regression studentized residual MLQ_Total and UWES_A130

Figure 13. N	ormal P-P Plot of regr	ession standardized i	residual of MLQ_Total and
--------------	------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------

0	DCQ_A	137
Figure 14	4. Regression studentized residual MLQ-Total and OCQ_A1	37
Figure 15	5. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ_Total and	
0)CQ_C	141
Figure 16	6. Regression studentized residual MLQ-Total and OCQ_C	141
Figure 17	7. Normal P-P Plot of regression standardized residual of MLQ_Total and	
0	DCQ_N	145
Figure 18	8. Regression studentized residual MLQ_Total and OCQ_N	145

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Since the mid-1980s substantial growth has occurred in the nonprofit volunteer sector (Riggio, Bass, & Orr, 2004). Volunteer support has increased due to a requirement for volunteer service hours for high school and college academic curricula, community civic involvement, corporate employee engagement and sponsorship, and baby boomers' civic volunteer support. Collaboration of employee-supported volunteering has dramatically increased the impact of service delivery compared to organizations whose leaders do not embrace the importance of citizen engagement and commitment (Mitchell, 2012). Leaders of local and national corporations, government agencies, and nonprofit organizations have recognized the value of citizen engagement and commitment in volunteer services. Nonprofit organizational leaders have recognized an increase in the level of community service delivery when engaged individuals committed to the organizational purpose are part of their collaborative team (Berman, 2015; Dvir, Eden, Avolio, & Shamir, 2002; Osula & Ng, 2014; Zhu, Avolio, & Walumbwa, 2009).

Sladowski, Hientz, and MacKenzie (2013) identified a new landscape for volunteer engagement that relates management of more engaged and committed volunteers to stronger, more viable, and more resilient communities. Leaders at the Centre for Voluntary Sector Research and Development (2010) challenged organizational leadership to broaden their perspective of service and volunteering toward nurturing active civic involvement and a diverse spectrum of engagement and commitment. Many researchers have linked transformational leadership to increased organizational commitment and employee engagement (Crawford, Rich, Buckman & Bergeon, 2014; Deichmann & Stam, 2015; Popli & Rizvi, 2016; Zhu et al., 2009), but few researchers have examined the impact of transformational leadership on engagement and commitment in the nonprofit sector.

Freeborough (2012) acknowledged that researchers had established a link between transformational leadership, organizational commitment, and employee engagement, but Freeborough sought to examine the relationships of transformational leadership to volunteer engagement and commitment in the nonprofit sector on a multilevel scale. The findings of Freeborough's study established a significant link between transformational leadership and nonprofit leader engagement and commitment. The findings from this study offer a strategic advantage to nonprofit organizational leadership by providing them with an understanding of how to create engagement and nurture commitment among their volunteer workforce.

The theoretical framework of this study supports the need for leaders of nonprofit organizations to craft change responses to facilitate optimal performance outcomes. Leaders of nonprofit organizations could benefit from the development of an effective infrastructure for nonprofit organization leaders to align leadership with organizational engagement and commitment to manage strategic decisions, reduce operational costs, and improve operational outcomes. Chapter 1 contains a summary of the background of the study, the problem and purpose statements, the study research questions and hypotheses, the theoretical framework, nature of the study, definitions of variables, assumptions, scope and delimitations, and the significance of the study as it relates to theory, practice and social change.

Background of the Study

Between 2007 and 2009, an economic recession in the United States significantly affected the financial well-being of nonprofit organizations. Inflationary effects negatively affected charitable giving by 15% (Freeeborough, 2012). As the recession period eased, more nonprofit organizations and associations emerged. Since 2011, organizational leaders have created and registered nearly 1.5 million nonprofit organizations with the IRS. This increase represented a 21.5% growth of nonprofit organizations operating in the United States since 2001 (Pettijohn, 2013; Roeger, Blackwood, & Pettijohn, 2012). Leaders of nonprofit organizations that successfully survived the economic challenges of the recessionary period acknowledged tremendous financial stress, but attributed increased prospects for survival to effective leadership knowledge and skills (Salamon, Geller, & Spence, 2009).

Collaboration among nonprofit organizational leadership, workforce, stakeholders, and community resources could strengthen the future adaptability of nonprofit organizations. Change initiatives typically lead organizations into a state of confusion (Waller & Fawcett, 2013). However, change requires a nonprofit organization to have trained leadership and volunteers committed and engaged in the organization to ensure sustainability. Without focused leadership directives, a supportive organization culture, and the requisite human, physical, and technological resources to effect the change, there may be a limited prognosis for successful navigation through the change process (Alverson & Sveningsson, 2015; Porter-O'Grady & Malloch, 2014).

Organizational leaders recognize a gap in what volunteers seek in the volunteer experience and how leaders create engaged and committed volunteer workers (Baldwin & Rosenthal, 2015; Hustinx, Cnaan, & Handy, 2010; Riggio & Orr, 2004). Williams (2014) acknowledged gaps in research regarding how organizational leaders can gain benefit from developing strategic transformational leadership models that nurture volunteer engagement and commitment. Freeborough (2012) contended that leaders of for-profit organizations embraced transformational leadership theory, but asserted that researchers had not empirically established the value of the theory in nonprofit organizations within existing literature. Freeborough's intent was to determine if employee engagement and commitment increased in nonprofit organizations whose leaders embraced transformational leadership. Freeborough extended the research of Downton (1973), House (1977), and Burns (1978) by conducting a correlational study to measure the relationships between transformational leadership and employee engagement and between transformation leadership and organizational commitment. Freeborough surveyed a random sample of 389 participants from the nonprofit employee workforce using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ-5x; Bass & Avolio, 1990) to measure transformational leadership, the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES-9; Schaufeli, Bakker, & Salanova, 2006) to measure engagement, and the Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ; Meyer, Allen, & Smith, 1993) to measure organizational commitment.

Freeborough (2012) indicated that a significant relationship existed between transformational leadership and employee engagement based on the results of a

multilevel engagement scale of vigor, dedication, and absorption. A significant relationship emerged between transformational leadership and organizational commitment in the normative commitment subscale level (Freeborough, 2012). However, Freeborough noted a negative relationship existed between transformational leadership and organizational commitment in the affective and continuance commitment subscales. Freeborough contributed significant empirical research findings to the field of transformational leadership as it relates to nonprofit organizations by assessing how transformational leadership styles relate to the unique differences between engagement and commitment in the nonprofit organizational sector. Freeborough noted that the differences are profound between for-profit and nonprofit organizations. This research study tested whether there was a significant relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations to measure how leadership effectiveness impacts the organizational commitment and engagement of workers. This study may help organizations in the nonprofit sector to create a sustainable workforce.

Problem Statement

The purpose of nonprofit organizations is to meet the societal needs of communities across the United States. Since the mid-1990s, the number of nonprofit organizations has tripled in response to the growing social and environmental needs of the general public (Wing, Roeger, & Pollack, 2012). Due to economic challenges that accompanied the recessionary period of 2008-2012, resources in the private and government sectors have diminished, which has placed increased demands upon

nonprofit organizations in the areas of community services, planning, disaster preparedness, and child care (Stull, 2009; Tierney, 2006). The leaders of nonprofit organizations have experienced challenges meeting societal needs as a result of deficits in leadership, the workforce, and volunteers (Hopkins, Meyer, Shera, & Peters, 2014; Osula & Ng, 2014; Shepard, 2009; Tierney, 2006). Leaders of nonprofit organizations recognize their mission is to transform the conditions confronting their constituents and work intently to engage community partners in civic collaboration in meeting the evolving needs of the community. The mission and vision of nonprofit organizations often remain unmet.

Nonprofit organizational leadership provides the impetus to direct the mission and vision of the organization by ensuring the fulfillment of internal and external stakeholder interests. The nonprofit mission statement serves as a guide for the day-to-day organizational operations and activities. The organizational mission statement clarifies the organizational culture, framework, engagement, commitment, and available community resources necessary to provide service delivery (Williams, 2014). Effective nonprofit transformational leadership must ensure that the mission, vision, structure, culture, policies, and procedures guide the efforts of their leaders, employees, and volunteer workforce (Suresh & Rajini, 2013). Recent studies have shown a relationship between transformational leadership and the increased ability of an organization to achieve engagement among their workforce (Freeborough, 2012; Dumdum et al., 2002; Dvir et al., 2009). Transformational leaders effectively influence worker performance outcomes through enhancing worker engagement and commitment in the organization.

Traditional leadership is a hierarchical, autocratic style of leadership in which the leader issues organizational directives without feedback from the workplace. Senge (2014) noted that traditional views of leaders as special people who set the direction, make the key decisions, and energize the followers reflect an individualistic and nonsystemic worldview.

Transformational leadership is distinctly different from traditional leadership in its approach to setting organizational goals, vision, interaction with the workforce, management of the organizational change process, and ability to develop solutions that will support sustainable organizational success (Denhardt, Denhardt, & Aristigueta (2015). Moss, Dowling, and Callahan (2009) indicated that there appear to be intrinsic linkages between the practice of transformational leadership and the emergence of adaptive behaviors among an employee workforce. While many studies have examined the influence of transformational leadership on workers in for-profit organizations, few have linked transformational leadership effectiveness to the enhancement of volunteer workforce engagement and commitment (Breevart et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2009). One reason for conducting this study was to address the gap in current literature regarding the impact of transformational leadership on nonprofit engagement and commitment.

The specific problem in this study focused on whether transformational leadership statistically impacted nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The study extends prior research by determining whether transformational nonprofit leaders can transform their volunteer workforce into an engaged and committed segment of the organizational workforce.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between transformational leadership, engagement, and its subscales (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption), and commitment, and its subscales (i.e., affective, continuance, and normative). This quantitative correlational study served as a framework for evaluating the significance of the relationship between the independent and the dependent variables. This study involved an attempt to build on Freeborough (2012), who focused on the effect of transformational leadership on the employees of nonprofit organizations. The independent variable of this study was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The study involved assessing the likelihood of a statistically significant relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations to determine if charismatic leadership affected nonprofit organization volunteer performance outcomes. This study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership and the subscales of engagement (i.e. vigor, dedication, and absorption) and the subscales of commitment (i.e. affective, continuance, and normative).

This correlational study, which entailed an investigation of the impact of transformational leadership on volunteer workforce engagement and commitment, built upon existing research studies to address the critical concerns of the nonprofit sector's management of volunteers (Breevart et al., 2013; Worth, 2014). Volunteers are often the

mainstay workforce of nonprofit organizations, as the leaders of more nonprofit organizations depend on community volunteers to drive the mission and vision of their organizations.

The study involved assessing the relationship between transformational leadership and the engagement and commitment of a volunteer workforce. Downton (1973), House (1977), Burns (1978), and Bass and Avolio (1990) conducted prior empirical research on transformational leadership. Previous researchers sought to establish a significant link between transformational leadership and organizational commitment among for-profit organizations. Researchers have also targeted the relationship between transformational leadership and the engagement and commitment of employees. Limited research exists in which researchers correlated the relationship between transformational leadership and increased organizational commitment among nonprofit organizations (Zhu et al., 2009). Lastly, researchers have conducted few studies that involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership and the engagement and commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations.

Identifying the correlations between effective leadership and the engagement and commitment of employees has led to positive organizational outcomes in for-profit organizations (Riggio et al., 2004). Gaining a better understanding of how transformational leadership can support more effective volunteer engagement and commitment could provide better performance outcomes among the nonprofit volunteer workforce and enhance its ability to meet community service requirements.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations was assessed during this study. Specifically, this research involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership, engagement, and its subscales: (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption), and commitment, and its subscales (i.e., affective, normative, and continuance). This quantitative correlational study served as a framework for evaluating the significance of the relationship between the independent and the dependent variables. Simple linear regression was used to measure the hypotheses to develop a predictive model in addition to the correlational analysis.

The research questions and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ-5x. The dependent variable, volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, was measured by utilizing the UWES-9. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ2: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ-5x. The dependent variable, a measure of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations, was assessed by utilizing the OCQ. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership is statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

In research questions 1 and 2, the hypothesis tests assessed whether the total independent variable transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations, respectively. The hypothesis tests for research questions 3 and 4 assessed which of the three dependent variable subscales was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the independent variable transformational leadership. These hypotheses tests provided an indepth measure of how the independent variable transformational leadership.

RQ3: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship between transformational leadership each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of a set of simple linear regressions to see how transformational leadership impacted each of the subscales of engagement. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ-5x. The dependent variable, the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, was measured by the UWES-9. The subscales of engagement measured the level of engagement that the volunteer worker developed with the organization through a positive work experience. The three subscales were vigor, dedication, and absorption. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ4: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 4: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of a set of simple linear regressions to see how transformational leadership impacted each of the subscales of commitment. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ-5x. The dependent variables, the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations, were measured by utilizing the OCQ. The subscales of commitment measured the commitment that the volunteer worker developed with the organization through a positive work experience. The three subscales of commitment were affective, normative, and continuance commitment. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The study involved objectively measuring the variables using published instruments that included the MLQ-5x to measure transformational leadership and its subscales, the UWES-9 to measure the dependent variable of volunteer engagement and its subscales and the OCQ to measure the dependent variable of volunteer commitment, and its subscales among volunteers in the nonprofit organization. Data analysis entailed using correlational and simple linear regression statistical tests. The findings serve as an extension of prior research on the relationships between transformational leadership and the engagement and commitment of nonprofit volunteers.

Theoretical Framework

The theory of transformational leadership was suitable to examine the influence of charismatic leaders in motivating volunteers to become committed and engaged in the collective mission of the organization (Ariani, 2014; Freeborough, 2012). Transformational leaders align volunteers' desired needs, motivations, self-identification, and personal goals with the mission and goals of the organization. Transformational leaders serve in multiple capacities with followers, including as a coach or mentor, team leader or facilitator, communicator, motivator, agent of positive change, role model, innovator, engagement and commitment builder, and stimulator of creative ideas (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Daft, 2014). An association exists between transformational leadership behaviors and dynamic and collaborative effects on followers' commitment, engagement, loyalty, and performance. Leaders exert transformational efforts on followers by fostering trust, inspiring innovation, and encouraging them to elevate the organizational mission and goals over self-interests (Bass, 1985).

The findings of this research study increased the understanding of nonprofit organizational leadership's ability to adapt to the changes in the management of the volunteer workforce. Bass (1990) and Burns (1978) provided the foundation for the theory of transformational leadership. Transformational leaders attempt to effect organizational change through an inspirational style of leadership. Transformational leadership inspires workers to embrace a change vision by strengthening their motivation, commitment, engagement, self-identity, and performance.

Chapter 2 of this research study include an examination of the theory of transformational leadership in relation to the impact of nonprofit organization leaders' behavior, attributes, and styles on their ability to create effective strategies for their volunteer workforce. The research study may benefit nonprofit organizations and local communities through the examination of the impact of effective leadership on volunteer engagement and commitment. The study involved examining the theory of transformational leadership and its role in guiding an effective volunteer experience in nonprofit organizations. Though literature that closely aligns transformational leadership to employee engagement is lacking, researchers have shown that using transformational leadership will nurture increased engagement (Zhu et al., 2009). The study did not involve examining the theory of job satisfaction. Although engagement and commitment may be a consequence of personal satisfaction with the work undertaken, the theory of job satisfaction was not suitable for this study. Understanding the relationships between transformational leadership and the ability to empower a more engaged and committed volunteer workforce could lead to positive solutions to community service delivery and ensure a better prognosis for nonprofit organizations to meet the needs of communities in the United States.

Nature of the Study

The research approach in this research inquiry was a correlational quantitative research design. The correlational research design was suitable for exploring the relationships between multiple variables or factors. Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (2008) defined cross-sectional designs as the most predominant design in survey research used to examine the pattern of relationships between variables. Researchers have failed to clarify the relationship between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. Freeborough (2012) indicated that future research into how transformational leaders could significantly inspire and develop followers in a nonprofit volunteer workforce was necessary. The quantitative non-experimental

methodology was suitable to focus on the influence of transformational leadership on nonprofit volunteer workforce engagement and commitment.

The independent variable of this study was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. Evidence in the grounding study (Freeborough, 2012) as well as other existing literature (Hallman & Harms, 2012; Huynh, Metzer, & Winefield, 2012; Mutambara & Mutambara, 2012) supported the measurement of a presumed relationship between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment.

The study involved examining the relationship between the variables. A qualitative research methodology was not suitable, as researchers who use traditional qualitative research methods employ inductive reasoning to develop, but not test, theories based on data collected from study participants who have experienced the research phenomenon (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The quantitative method included a deductive methodology to address the research questions, test the hypotheses, and assess the data collected from a random sample of the target population. The mixed method research approach was not suitable due to limited time, financial, and physical resources.

The study used correlational inferential statistical tests and established measurements to examine the hypotheses without manipulating the predictor variable. The quantitative, correlational, non-experimental research study included several published questionnaires to assess the relationship between the variables: the MLQ-5x to measure transformational leadership (Bass & Avolio, 1990), the UWES-9 to measure volunteer engagement (Schaufeli et al., 2006), and the OCQ to measure the commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations (Meyer et al., 1993). A specific description of these instruments appears in the Instrumentation section of Chapter 3. Pilot testing these instruments was not necessary due to their demonstrated validity and reliability in previous studies.

SurveyMonkey® served as the host for the survey. The study included a population audience panel secured through SurveyMonkey®. The survey participants conformed to the definition of volunteers within the parameters of the study. The use of G*Power software enabled the computation of the minimum sample size. The strategies and procedures for selecting the participants described in Chapter 3 increased the likelihood that the selected sample would approximate the characteristics of volunteers in the general population, thus supporting the generalizability of the findings (Fowler, 2014). Simple linear regression measured the relationship between the subscales of transformational leadership, taken collectively, and engagement in the aggregate, or one of its subscales, and commitment in the aggregate, or one of its subscales. This research study required a minimum sample size of 82 participants. The study involved collecting survey data through SurveyMonkey® and downloading the complete data sets for verification, tabulation, and assessment. SurveyMonkey® selected the audience panel prospective participants for the study and sent them an icon. The potential participants clicked on the icon as an "invitation to participate in the study". Participants clicked on the icon and accessed the description of the study and the consent to participate in the study. The potential participants, reading the consent form at the beginning of the survey were required to indicate that they consented to participate in the survey by checking the appropriate box.

Definitions

The following are operational terms and definitions used in the study:

Engagement: Also called commitment or motivation, engagement refers to a psychological state in which employees feel a vested interest in the company's success and perform to a high standard that may exceed the stated requirements of the job (Schaufeli, 2014).

Leadership: A combination of position, responsibility, attitude, skills, and behaviors that an individual uses to bring out the best in others and in an organization in a sustainable manner (Vender, 2015).

Organizational commitment: A survey instrument used to measure organizational commitment in three areas: affective (emotional attachment), continuance (high cost associated with prospect of loss of organizational membership), and normative (obligatory attachment; Meyer & Allen, 1990).

Transformational leadership: The ability of transformational leaders to inspire, motivate, and elevate the morality of followers through managing change and inspiring followers to reach their potential (Bass & Avolio, 1990).

Volunteers: Individuals who perform activities within an organizational context out of free will and not for financial gain. The activities benefit both the volunteers and the helpless or society in general (Law & Hui, 2015).

Assumptions

Assumptions embedded in the research study provided an understanding of transformational leadership, volunteer engagement, and commitment in nonprofit organizations. The assumptions for the study were as follows:

- A number of participants sufficient to meet the required minimum sample size will complete the survey.
- The research study will include instructions for the respondents to ensure the respondents will understand and answer the questions as designed and as presented in the survey instrument.
- Research study respondents will answer the questions accurately and truthfully.
- 4. Participants will not share or compare responses to the online survey responses.

Scope and Delimitations

The research study involved an attempt to address the predictive relationship between transformational leadership and the engagement and commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations. Although numerous researchers have focused on the relationship between these variables in the for-profit organization sector, few researchers have examined the relationships in a nonprofit organizational environment, and fewer have specifically measured these relationships for a volunteer workforce (Riggio et al., 2004). This specific research focus was suitable to determine whether there was a significant relationship between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer
engagement and commitment. This study did not include an examination of the impact of transformational leadership on the retention rates of volunteers in nonprofit organizations or of the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer job satisfaction.

This study included specific boundaries regarding the nonprofit volunteer population under investigation. Community residents who had served as part of an active volunteer workforce for nonprofit organizations throughout the United States were under study. The study included a survey conducted through SurveyMonkey® with a audience panel population secured through SurveyMonkey®. The survey participants conformed to the research study definition of volunteers and the parameters of the study. The sampling design and procedures for selecting the study sample provided the generalizability of the sample to reflect the general population (Denscombe, 2014; Fowler, 2014; Rea & Parker, 2014). This study provided an understanding of potential business outcomes for nonprofit organizations as a consequence of the effective management of their volunteer human resources and service delivery to their respective communities.

Limitations

The focus of quantitative research is testing a set of hypotheses as opposed to generating theories, which is inherent in qualitative research. Quantitative research is not without its limitations, as it requires a thorough understanding of the assumptions that underlie the statistical methods used to analyze the data (Atieno, 2009). The quantitative research methodology required a significant sampling strategy and reflected the specific study population. If not followed properly, the sample would not reflect the relationships

of the study variables and would affect the accuracy, validity, and statistical error of the study (Choy, 2014). Four limitations threatened to reduce the internal validity of this research study:

- A correlational research design does not include an assessment of impact or cause and effect. As a result of the research design, a researcher cannot test whether transformational leadership causes a successful organizational transformation.
- Focusing on hypotheses rather than theories can reduce the understanding of the mitigating elements that affect the research variables. Isolating the specific variables that may limit the association with comparable human experience can be difficult (Cooper & Schindler, 2011).
- 3. Self-reporting on a questionnaire is subjective rather than objective.
- 4. As the study included only English-speaking participants in the United States, the results may not be reliable for all cultures or countries.

Researchers should identify threats to internal validity early in the research process to allow adequate time to mitigate the threats and to develop an appropriate response to minimize the effect on the participants or survey outcomes (McKibben & Sivia, 2016). The experiences of participants that influenced how they completed the online survey affected the ability to draw appropriate inferences from the data. Participants who shared or compared responses to the online survey can significantly affect the study outcomes. It was important to ensure participants fully understood the instructions to complete the survey and the need to maintain confidentiality to preserve the integrity of the responses.

Significance of the Study

Since an economic recession ended in 2009, leaders of more U.S. corporations, government agencies, educational institutions, and community organizations are recognizing that employee volunteer programs strengthen attainment of their business goals while providing unique opportunities to support corporate social responsibility (Kezar & Burkhardt, 2015). A resurgence of interest in community civic involvement will necessitate the development of meaningful strategies to create and nurture an engaged and committed volunteer culture in nonprofit organizations. A connection exists between transformational leadership and strengthening employee performance outcomes. Researchers have noted the impact of transformational leadership on organizational commitment and employee engagement in for-profit organizations and unions (Marathe & Balasubramanian, 2013). Few studies have involved an assessment of the relationship between transformational leadership, organizational commitment, and engagement in nonprofit organizations. The study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership, engagement, and commitment in a nonprofit organization workforce. This study contributed to research on how effective nonprofit leadership can create, nurture, and retain engaged and committed volunteer workers. Understanding the relationship between leadership effectiveness and increased engagement and commitment supports increased productivity among the workforce and improved organizational performance outcomes.

Significance to Theory

This study advanced knowledge regarding how transformational leaders can strengthen volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations. This research study extended the literature on the relationships between transformational leadership, engagement, and commitment for nonprofit organizations to transform an organizational workforce into an engaged culture of committed volunteers. Researchers have linked the strength of transformational leaders to influence, motivate, and inspire followers to increase their engagement and commitment toward organizational goals (Bass & Avolio, 1995; Marique, Singlhamber, Desmette, Caesens, & De Zanet, 2013).

Significance to Practice

The information from this study provides volunteer leaders and practitioners with a clear understanding of how to use transformational leadership to empower volunteer workers. As the number of nonprofit organizations that supports the service needs of local residents increases, it becomes more important for leaders to nurture volunteer engagement and commitment to build and retain the necessary workforce to meet ongoing organizational needs. Managing volunteers requires transformational leaders to align volunteers' personal aspirations and desires with the goals of the organization. To be effective in managing volunteers, leaders must motivate the volunteer workforce to share an organization's vision and to work collaboratively toward attainment of organizational goals (Phillips, 2015).

Significance to Social Change

Community leaders across the United States rely upon nonprofit organizations to address the unmet needs of their residents. Nonprofit organizations are facing tremendous changes in funding, technology development, community service delivery models, staffing, budgeting, partnerships, stakeholders, and competitive environments (Berman, 2006) Nonprofit organizations benefit from transformational leaders who can use their knowledge and skills to collaboratively change organizational processes, nurture volunteer engagement and commitment, and proactively develop viable solutions to meet ongoing societal needs (Austin & Seitanidi, 2014).

Transformational leadership represents the organizational management's effort to effect change in organizational culture and effect positive social change (Alverson & Sveningsson, 2015; Cossin & Cabellero, 2013; Cummings & Worley, 2014; Fullan, 2014;) The focus of this study was the ability of transformational leaders to manage the changes within the workforce by challenging nonprofit organizations. As a direct consequence of this research, organizational leaders of nonprofit organizations could advance the emergent issues of transformational leadership, volunteer engagement, and commitment as critical elements in the success of nonprofit organizations. Strong, effective leadership in the nonprofit sector could equate to more effective decision making, actions, conflict resolution, engaged and committed staff, and management of fiscal and material resources. Using transformational leadership knowledge and skills could result in more effective community service to individuals in need.

This research study involved an attempt to develop supportive evidence that transformational leaders who can inspire workforce motivation and commitment to embrace organizational values and goals. The findings include an outline of an effective infrastructure for nonprofit organization leaders to align leadership with volunteer engagement and commitment.

Summary and Transition

Chapter 1 included an overview of the importance of transformational leadership to facilitate an understanding of the relationship among leadership styles, organizational commitment, and engagement among volunteers in nonprofit organizations. Leaders of nonprofit organizations have only recently become acutely aware of the relationship between leadership, organization commitment, and the ability of the organization leaders to nurture engagement and commitment. Nonprofit organizational leaders who develop necessary core competencies, leadership, and workforce engagement and commitment could help to create a sustainable service delivery to their respective communities.

Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive review of the pertinent literature on transformational leadership and on nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The focus on nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment is important, because the strategic organizational leadership process to create, nurture, and retain volunteer workforces is the focal point of this study. Chapter 2 also includes a comprehensive overview of transformational leadership theory, volunteers, volunteer engagement, volunteer commitment, and Freeborough's (2012) study that serves as the grounding study for this research. Chapter 3 contains the methodology of the research study, including the research questions, variables, and hypotheses, as well as a description of the participants and of the data collection and analysis process.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The revenues of more than 2.3 million nonprofit organizations in the United States account for 5% of the national gross domestic product or approximately \$300 billion (Roeger et al., 2012). Nonprofit organizations support the needs and social wellbeing of community residents through the administration of service delivery programs. Leaders of communities and government agencies seek to use volunteers to meet their social mission needs, though the workforce for volunteer labor falls short of the demand (Salas, 2009).

Nonprofits are experiencing an increased demand on community services traditionally satisfied through government programs, which requires them to become more business-like in the approach to their strategic mission and organizational structure (Maier, Meyer, & Steinbereithner, 2016). Government social safety net programs designed to provide services to community residents who lack essential life services are decreasing due to government fiscal deficits. Leaders of government agencies are trying to cut social safety net programs rather than increase government-supplied services to meet increased community needs (Applebaum & Gebeloff, 2016). The deficit in government-supplied safety net services requires increased workforce engagement and service delivery from nonprofit organizations to meet ongoing community needs.

Nonprofit transformational leaders must ensure that their mission, vision, structure, culture, policies, and procedures effectively guide their efforts and those of their employees and volunteer workforce. Recent studies have shown a relationship between transformational leadership and the increased ability of organizational leaders to achieve significant performance outcomes among their workforce (Freeborough, 2012). Transformational leaders constructively influence worker performance outcomes through the strategic enhancement of worker engagement and commitment in organizations (Richardson, 2014). Many researchers have shown a statistically significant relationship exists between transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment in for-profit organizations (Freeborough, 2015; Harter, Schmidt, Killham, & Agrawal, 2009; Zhu et al., 2009). Few researchers have related transformational leadership and increased workforce performance outcomes in nonprofit organizations. This study involved examining the impact of transformational leadership on volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to assess the relationship between transformational leadership and its subscales, and volunteer engagement and commitment and its subscales. The independent variable of this study was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The study involved assessing the likelihood of a significant relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations to determine whether charismatic, transformational leadership affected nonprofit organization volunteer performance outcomes. Specifically, this study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership and the subscales of engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption) and the subscales of commitment (affective, normative, and continuance). To facilitate ease of product and service delivery, leadership in corporations, government agencies, and nonprofit organizations seek capable leaders who can manage their organizational structure and resources and motivate the organization to successful performance outcomes (Taylor, Cornelius, & Colvin, 2014). Leadership practices embrace operational policies that extol vision and values (Porter, 2015). Effective organizational leadership is essential to the sustainability of successful organizations. Emergent trends in leadership reflect the unique culture, structure, and needs of the stakeholders in the organization. Leadership is a process by which a leader influences a group of followers to achieve a common goal (Chemers, 2014; Kark & Shamir, 2013; Northouse, 2015).

Leadership theories have become an important part of the foundational understanding of the field of management and organizational dynamics. Researchers of studies on leadership in many disciplines, including management, sociology, psychology, economics, political science, public administration, global initiatives, and education have established a direct relationship between leadership and the process by which it motivates followers to embrace organizational missions and goals (Bass, 1981; House, 1977; Jago, 1982; Kaiser, McGinnis, & Overfield, 2012). People have defined leadership from innumerable viewpoints. Many theorists have asserted that leadership exercises an authoritarian influence or power over followers by exercising power and authority and by dispensing rewards and penalties to ensure commitment (Bryman, 2013). Researchers of psychological studies have concluded that leadership is a social influence process in which leaders motivate followers to become engaged to contribute to the organizational mission and goals to exert a positive impact on overall organizational performance (Kaiser et al., 2012). Other theorists conclude that the processes over which the leader exerts influence is the determinant of what constitutes an effective leader (Bass, 1981).

Over the past 60 years, the complexities inherent in definitions of leadership have changed in response to the human and operational resources present in the organization and the outside environmental resources that dramatically influence the organization, such as global affairs or political perspectives (Bass, 1990; Fernando, 2016; Northouse, 2015; Reichenpfader, Carlfjord, & Nilsen, 2015). Responsible leadership relates to many aspects of an organization. Leadership, as it pertains to the contextual nature of its definition and its respective processes, is constantly changing (Burke & Noumair, 2015; Reichenpfader et al., 2015). After decades of research on leadership, theorists agree that that there is no singular definition for leadership, as its use varies due to generational differences and global influences (Northouse, 2015; Stogdill, 1974). Many individuals consider leadership to be the ability to influence specific work tasks or organizational objectives and strategies to secure commitment and optimal work behaviors toward the organization, ensure group dynamics and identity, and affect a positive team organizational culture (Choi, Goh, Adam, & Tan, 2016; Yukl, 1989). Regardless of the theorist who offered a theory of leadership, cross-disciplinary perspectives such as natural, biological, and social science have contributed to the building blocks of the definition of leadership (Antonakis, Fenley, & Liechti, 2011).

Leaders of nonprofit organizations must use their workforce and resources to provide the necessary service delivery to meet respective community needs. To facilitate

the future attainment of organizational mission and goals, nonprofit organizational leaders are facing challenges to innovate their core programming and organizational framework (Osula & Ng, 2014). Nonprofit leadership requires governance that can learn, think, and act strategically to manage organizational and community resources that are unique to each organization and community (Bryson, Ackermann, & Eden, 2014). Nonprofit management must provide leadership in spite of perceived unattainable goals and limited resources (Denhardt et al., 2015). Effective leaders must embrace the mission and vision of a nonprofit organization by motivating a collective work design and human resource management practices by providing transformational leadership that can facilita organization-wide commitment and engagement. Transformational leadership creates a motivated, engaged workforce committed to organizational goals and sustainable performance (Gaipin, Whittington, & Bell, 2015). During the last three decades, the focus of leadership research has included many different types of leadership styles. Transformational leadership refers to organizational leadership where leaders provide inspiration to motivate workers toward performance outcomes (Bass, 1997; Judge & Piccolo, 2004;). Workforce engagement is considered to be a conglomeration of commitment, satisfaction, citizenship behavior, and work intention, but work engagement is also an essential and independent component of the motivation for work (Vencina, Chacon, Marzana, & Marta, 2014). Research studies have shown a positive link between transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment in for-profit organizations (Freeborough, 2015). Few researchers have conducted studies in nonprofit organizations to determine if a volunteer workforce has higher levels of engagement and

commitment in organizations with transformational leadership (Riggio et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2009). Nonprofit organizations that develop, hire, or retain transformational leaders who can effectively manage the volunteer workforce will strengthen sustainability (Riggio et al., 2004).

Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive review of the body of literature as it relates to transformational leadership, organizational resilience, volunteers, volunteer commitment and engagement, and increased performance outcomes related to effective organizational leadership. The literature review includes a cross-section of research from peer-reviewed journals. The first section of Chapter 2 contains a reiteration of the history of the problem and the purpose of the study, including seminal works. The second section of Chapter 2 contains a synopsis of the current literature to establish the relevance of the problem. The third section of Chapter 2 includes a delineation of the concepts of volunteers, volunteer engagement, volunteer commitment, and increased performance outcomes as they relate to effective organizational leadership and a volunteer workforce. The fourth section contains an analysis on the theoretical foundation for the study with a focus on transformational leadership. The fifth section of Chapter 2 includes a synthesis of the current literature in the field that pertains to the impact of transformational leadership on volunteer engagement and commitment. The sixth section of Chapter 2 delineates possible implications related to social change. Chapter 2 ends with a summary of the information presented and an introduction to Chapter 3.

Literature Search Strategy

Researchers have written a significant amount of literature regarding the impact of transformational leadership on employee engagement and commitments in the forprofit sector (Bass, 1997; Judge & Piccolo, 2004; Pandey, Davis, Pandey, & Peng, 2015). Researchers have conducted studies and shown the link between transformational leadership and the impact on worker attitudes and behavior (Howell & Shamir, 2005). Leadership research has shown the positive effects of charismatic leaders on the perceived organization support among employees (Rahn, Jawahar, Scrimpshire, & Stone, 2016). Researchers have established positive links between transformational leadership and worker attitudes such as job satisfaction and commitment to organizational goals and level of enthusiasm for work (Harter, Schmidt, & Hayes, 2002; Kahn, 1990; Zhu et al., 2009). Researchers have also linked transformational leadership to increased follower motivation and organizational productivity outcomes (Pourbarkhordari, Zhou, & Pourkarimi, 2016; Zhu et al., 2009), with some researchers focusing on the impact of transformational leadership specifically on the millennial workforce (Bodenhausen & Curtis, 2016). Few researchers have examined the impact of transformational leadership on nonprofit volunteer workforce engagement and commitment (Freeborough, 2012). This study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations.

Library Databases, Search Engines, and Search Terms

Chapter 2 includes evidence of the relevance of the problem from scholarly literature, databases, research, and books. The focus of the literature search proceeded

from general to specific information. The scholarly articles accessed were from the Walden University library databases. The selected web-based databases were primarily in business and management, as those databases were more relevant for locating research for the literature review. As the focus of some of the relevant research information was on other disciplines such as psychology, economics, global initiatives, and education, other databases used included PsychINFO and PsychARTICLES. The databases researched to provide current and relevant literature to address the study problem included ProQuest, EBSCOhost, Business Source Complete, ABI/Inform Complete, Emerald Management, Sage Premier, Wiley Publishers, Carleton Centre for Volunteer Sector Research and Development, and Google Scholar.

Searches on web-based databases for peer-reviewed journals included the following search terms: *leadership, transformational leadership, transformational leadership theories, transformational leadership and volunteer commitment, transformational leadership and volunteer engagement, volunteer commitment, volunteer engagement and commitment, worker engagement and commitment, nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment, and transformational leadership in nonprofit organizations.* Each article included one or more of the variables in the research study.

Scholarly Journals

The scholarly journals used for this research study included *Harvard Business Review, Leadership Quarterly and Nonprofit Management, Academy of Management, Journal of Organization Effectiveness: People & Performance, Group & Organization Management, Nonprofit Management & Leadership, Corporate Governance, Academy of*

Management Review, Business Renaissance Quarterly, Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, and Servant *Leadership: Theory & Practice.* The interdisciplinary research focus revealed in the literature search included disciplines such as ethics, industrial relations, interdisciplinary leadership, educational and psychological measurements, economics and management sciences, psychology, philanthropy, commerce, and global organizational concerns. The interdisciplinary literature review included the following journals: Journal of Business Ethics, Indian Journal of Industrial Relations, Creighton Journal of Interdisciplinary Leadership, Educational and Psychological Measurements, Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics and Management Sciences, Journal of Applied Psychology, The Philanthropist, Journal of Commerce, Volunteer Canada, Voluntas: The International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, International Journal of Event and Festival Management, and Journal of Global Responsibility. Additional sources included the New York Times, Rockwood Leadership Institute, Carleton Centre for Voluntary Sector Research and Development, Listening Post Project (Johns Hopkins University Center for Civil Society Studies), Institute of Public Service, Humanitarian Work Psychology and the Global Development Agenda, textbooks, and dissertations.

The literature review search began with the basic key word search on leadership and expanded to the study variables of transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment. The search process eventually broadened to assess the study variables in a nonprofit organizational setting. To preserve the relevance of the research, I organized the literature by publication date, with the most recent date arranged first, to ensure the publication date of the search results was within the past 5 years. I searched each of the designated business databases thoroughly using all the key words. Subsequent searches involved the cross-disciplinary databases in an effort to expand the scope of the literature search. Key word searches that included three variables or variables involving nonprofit organization settings often yielded few to no results. Limited search results also occurred when using three variables in searches for dissertations, books, or online journals. I achieved more search results using one study variable such as *leadership, transformational leadership, volunteer engagement, volunteer commitment, worker engagement,* or *worker commitment.*

As few researchers had conducted studies on the topic of this study, finding few to no results when conducting key word searches employing the nonprofit organization settings validated the lack of literature on the study topic. I secured additional literature using related articles cited in primary research articles. The authors of many articles focused on the relationship between the impact of transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment in for-profit organizations (Walumbwa & Lawler, 2003; Zhu et al., 2009). Although the topical emphasis was clearly different from this research study, elements from a similar study and its literature review, theoretical foundation and methodology, and implications had a clear association with this study. Studies on workforce engagement and commitment as a paid employee in a for-profit organization, while different from volunteers, were not so conceptually distinct to warrant complete dismissal of the research information in the present study. Studies on workforce engagement and commitment served as a springboard for the study of engagement and commitment relationships among volunteers in nonprofit settings. Research on employee engagement and commitment, although conducted in an international setting, was also relevant to the topic of the current study, with specific notations to culturally specific behavioral factors.

Stand-alone research on single-study topics of engagement or commitment and the impact of transformational leadership served to broaden the scope of the current study. Using existing research with topics that could correlate with the current study variables as well as the expected findings of this study also served to expand potential relevant search sources. I limited the extent to which I used single topics, such as a situation where engaged employees impact organizational culture, well-being, innovation, employee satisfaction or retention, and performance outcomes as highly motivated individuals with minimum or no leadership influences.

The focus of the current study was on transformational leadership and leadership styles traditionally associated with it: transactional leadership and laissez-faire leadership. The study did not include research sources with other leadership styles that affect follower engagement and commitment. Studies on leadership theories such as leader– member exchange, path-goal theory, leader effectiveness, situational leadership, personal outcomes, or personal power, while accepted as influential factors within the field of workforce motivation, do not appear in the literature review for this study.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical framework for this study was transformational leadership theory. The theory served as empirical support for the essential elements of the organizational leadership philosophy as it relates to the process of leadership and organizational management of volunteer workforce engagement and commitment. The leadership theory, which served as the foundation for the study, included substantial evidence through research to support the expected study correlations as well as offer predictive insights regarding future relationships and behavior between the leadership, engagement, and commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations.

The theoretical framework served as a guide for the organizational process of the dissertation. The theoretical assumptions served as the study framework by providing an understanding of the scientific relationships between the variables of the study, designing the parameters for the research in this study, and guiding how to interpret the research results. The utility of these theories was examined in terms of how they related to the problem and purpose of the study. Beginning with a broad viewpoint on the present study topic using seminal research, the review includes the theories in a funnel-down approach in relation to the variables of the study. Using existing research in the field in tandem with the research in this study served as a springboard for generalizing new ideas about the relationships among the study variables. Following decades of leadership research and many theoretical constructs, there still remains a lack of consensus among theorists to explain the unique complexities of transformational leadership (Bass, 1990; Bryman, 1992; Day & Antonakis, 2012; Stogdill, 1974).

Transformational Leadership Theory

Transformational leadership refers to leadership in which leaders and followers collectively and purposefully interact, which leads to transformed and enhanced actions

and aspirations of the followers (Simola, Barling, & Turner, 2012). A link exists between transformational leadership and positive transformations in followers and influences followers to attain organizational goals and strategies (Crossan et al, 2014; Geib & Swenson, 2013). Charismatic leaders who use a transformational leadership style increase motivational effects by positively connecting to follower self-identification, self-worth, self-concept, values, and willingness within an organization to become part of a collective organization performance-heightening process (Boehm, Dwertman, Bruch, & Shamir, 2015; Shamir, House, & Arthur, 1993).

Transformational leadership theory provides a theoretical foundation for three types of leadership styles: transformational, transactional, and passive-avoidant (Bass, 1985; Bass & Bass, 2008). Recent interest in leadership theories continues to include a focus on transformational leadership (Bass & Bass, 2008). The literature review confirms a link between transformational leadership and leaders' ability to inspire followers to move beyond their individual interests to work toward improved organizational performance outcomes (Pillai, 2013; Taylor et al., 2014). Recent researchers have focused on the ability of leaders to use transformational leadership to affect change in work outcomes and follower behaviors, performance, and creativity (Zhu, Newman, Miao, & Hooke, 2013). Transformational leadership leads toward a positive change in the opinions, values, beliefs, and attitudes and strengthens the commitment and engagement of followers (Breevaart, Bakker, & Demerouti, 2014; Guzukara & Simsek, 2016). Researchers have shown that transformational leaders nurture trust in their followers

through instilling a sense of empowerment that results in a maximization of workforce performance potential (Bass, 1985; Hossain & Saleh, 2016).

The following processes are components of transformational leadership (Avolio & Bass, 2017): idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration. Transformational leaders heighten followers' performance potential through the four components of transformational leadership (Bass, 1985).

Idealized influence. Idealized influence occurs when a transformational leader serves as a role model for the followers by securing their trust and respect. The followers generally admire, respect, and trust the leader (Bass, 1998). The transformational leader uses influence over the followers by stimulating them to work for the organization goals over their personal self-interests and goals. Transformational leaders secure workforce engagement and increased follower contributions to the organization by acting as role models through idealized influence (Shamir et al., 1993). Idealized influence has two components: attributed and behavior. Attributed idealized influence entails the perception that the leader is charismatic, confident, ethical, idealistic, and trustworthy (Avolio & Bass, 2017). The leader with attributed idealized influence nurtures pride in followers, leads for the overall benefit of the group, extols confidence and leadership skills, and embraces attributes which instill follower respect (Avolio & Bass, 2017). Behavior idealized influence addresses the leadership behavior that happens when followers attempt to identify with and emulate the leader (Avolio & Bass, 2017). A leader with behavior idealized influence highlights followers' essential values and purposes, weighs

moral and ethical issues as they relate to the organizational decision-making process, and strengthen the collective support of the organization mission.

Idealized influence reflects the viewpoint that the leader is charismatic, trustworthy, and inspires others to emulate; inspirational motivation involves leadership that communicates organizational expectations. Idealized influence encourages a commitment from followers to embrace the organization mission and develop creative and critical thinking about organization mission, vision, and change processes.

Inspirational motivation. Inspirational motivation takes place when a transformational leader inspires the follower to meet the goals, vision, and mission of the organization through increased commitment (Bass, 1998). Transformational leaders communicate a dynamic vision of the future and generate confidence that influence workers meet the organizational goals (Avolio & Bass, 2004). Transformational leaders nurture confidence in their followers to believe they can overcome day-to-day organizational changes as well as optimism that they can successfully craft a future vision (Kovjanic, Schuh, & Jonas, 2013).

Intellectual stimulation. Transformational leaders attribute their ability to affect positive organizational growth and performance outcomes to the fact that they motivate followers to place organizational goals ahead of personal success. Research has substantiated that transformational leaders must (a) possess a clear understanding of the organization's vision, mission, and goals; (b) be capable of communicating those directives; (c) be willing to inspire and motivate followers to generate new ideas and

question ineffective organizational systems; and (d) encourage followers to craft innovative solutions to meet organizational challenges (Weng, et al., 2015).

Individual consideration. Transformational leaders provide followers with individual consideration when they mentor and support them, acknowledge their innovation and creativity, and allow them to participate in the organization decisionmaking process. Followers view leaders as mentors or coaches who are keenly aware of their needs. Transformational leaders challenge their followers to be innovative and participatory in the process of crafting responses to organization change through innovation, shared ideas, communication, and collaborative relationships. Transformational leaders effect organization change among followers by succinctly communicating the organization vision, nurturing creative ideas for goal attainment, inspiring confidence, providing supportive feedback, and modeling optimal leadership behaviors that will motivate followers to collaboratively work toward the organizational vision (Stone, Russell, & Patterson, 2003).

Individual consideration refers to the leader's consideration of followers' needs through mentoring or coaching to create an organizational environment that stimulates followers' growth (Avolio & Bass, 2004). These leadership behaviors strengthen transformational leaders' ability to exert a positive influence on organization workforce attitudes (Asrar-ul-Haq & Huchinke, 2016; Judge & Piccolo, 2004).

Nonprofit management can use their understanding of how transformational leadership theory influences follower engagement and organizational commitment to strengthen the engagement and commitment of their volunteer workforce. Existing research includes limited evidence linking transformational leadership to increased employee engagement (Zhu et al., 2009). Although existing research may not include substantial evidence linking transformational leadership to increased employee engagement, transformational leadership has heightened employee satisfaction, which in turn increases work engagement and performance (Kovjanic et al., 2013). Transformational leaders' charisma is the reason why followers emulate leaders and become inspired to follow their message (Bass, 1985; Bycio, Hackett, & Allen, 1985; Howell & Avolio, 1993). Transformational leaders motivate followers by supporting the followers' intellectual pursuits, identifying with their unique talents and abilities, providing mentoring, and empowering followers to transform their individual skills and

motivations to attain the organizational mission, vision, and goals (Bass, 1998). Hence, integrating the frameworks of transformational leadership and followers' psychological needs can provide valuable insights into leadership development.

Leadership in nonprofit organizations must identify and use transformational leadership strategies that will increase engagement and commitment among volunteer workforces. Existing studies include limited research to establish the relationship between transformational leadership and workforce engagement, but the authors of these studies do substantiate that transformational leaders inspire followers to exceed personal expectations to meet organizational vision, mission, and goals. Researchers have demonstrated that in exceeding personal expectations, followers' engagement increases through a stronger connection with leadership and the organization. The implications of this study serve as a guide for nonprofit leaders in the effective use of their human resources as well as increase service delivery and organization performance outcomes.

Seminal Literature

Innumerable theorists have studied leadership over the past 100 years. Leadership is a process of influence in which one person uses the support of others to complete a common task (Suresh & Rajini, 2013). Since the 1990s, the concept of transformational leadership has dominated the study of leadership (Diaz-Saenz, 2011) Transformational leadership is a leadership style that includes a focus on the relationships between the leaders and the followers and their capacity to attain organizational goals and objectives (Thomson, Rawson, Slade, & Bledsoe, 2016). Transformational leadership is a process through which leaders actively engage with followers to motivate the followers to attain organizational goals.

James Downton. Downton (1973) introduced the concept of transformational leadership. Leadership processes were classified through Downton's social and political lens using transformational and transactional leadership. Adopting a social interpretivist perspective, Downton focused his theory on the scope of transformational leadership's influence derived through the commitment and trust of the followers.

Robert House. House (1977) furthered Downton's leadership study to emphasize that the theory was, in essence, about charismatic leadership. House asserted that charismatic leadership attributes directly reflected the characteristics of the transformational leader. Charismatic leaders empower their followers through succinctly articulating organizational mission, vision, and goals (House, 1977). House offered a theory to explain charisma and suggested that it was among the essential leadership traits that constituted transformational leadership: (a) strong role model, (b) shows competence, (c) articulates goals, (d) communicates high expectations, (e) expresses confidence, and (f) arouses motives. Followers in the organization embrace the organizational mission, vision, and purpose and accept the leader's mission and goals as their own individual purpose (House, 1977). Charismatic leaders elevate followers' performance by aligning the followers' personal motives with the organizational goals and objectives.

James Macgregor Burns. Burns furthered the investigation of transformational leadership (Burns, 1978). Transformational leaders are leaders who raise followers' consciousness about organizational outcomes and the ways to attain those outcomes (Burns, 1978). Burns assessed transactional leadership as processes with a focus on leader–follower exchange and using rewards or enhancements for optimal work performance or punishments for failing to meet work requirements or being late. Burns (1978) defined transformational leadership as leadership in which leaders affect followers' performance by motivating and strengthening their commitment to the organization. Burns suggested that while charisma is a positive attribute to have, it is not the only leadership trait that is inherent in transformational leadership. Burns's research in the field of transformational leadership has generally linked effective leadership to positive follower organization outcomes (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Ertureten, Cemalcilar, & Aycan, 2013; Kovjanic et al., 2013).

Bernard M. Bass. In 1985, Bass built upon the work of House (1977) and Burns (1978) to assert that transformational leadership leads followers to abandon the need for

self-achievement and self-actualization (Maslow, 1954) and embrace the ideas and moral aptitude of the leader for the good of the organization (Bass, 1985). Bass (1978, 1990) viewed transformational leadership as much more than leadership charisma, as it provided an opportunity for shared leadership with followers. Burns defined transformational leaders as leaders who inspire and motivate followers toward more achievements and self-actualization. While charisma may be a necessary element to leadership, it is not essential for transformation leadership, which requires intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, individual consideration, and idealized influence. Transformational leadership may lead to an abuse of leadership vision and power (Suresh & Rajini, 2013).

In contrast to transformational leadership, Bass determined that the basis of transactional leadership was an exchange between the transactional leaders and followers such that leaders influence followers through systematic mentoring, coaching, rewards, and punishments (McCleskey, 2014). Transactional leaders, while typically passive, work within organizational systems to facilitate organizational goal attainment (Odumeru & Ogbonna, 2013). Leader–follower exchanges provided opportunities for leaders to review organizational goals and objectives, nurture and instill optimal work behavior in followers to ensure attainment of organizational goals, and support goal attainment through an established reward system (Bass, 1985, 2008; Burns, 1978, McCleskey, 2014). Followers benefited through the leader–follower exchange by pursuing their own self-interests, controlling task-related anxiety, and gaining a clearer understanding of organizational performance measures (Sadeghi & Pihie, 2012). Burns (1978) identified

transactional leadership as a reciprocal relationship between leaders and followers in which the exchanges provided opportunities to facilitate organizational, as well as individual, goal attainment. Transactional leadership clearly defines the roles and expectations of leader and followers and ensures the organization remains at the status quo. Transactional leadership style means that the failure of the followers to deliver the expected behavior or work task can result in potential negative consequences.

Bass (1985) described a third form of leadership called laissez-faire, in which the leader assumes no responsibility and provides no support or feedback to the followers. Laissez-faire leadership is essentially a hands-off approach to leadership or the absence or avoidance of leadership and is a distinct leadership approach from transformational and transactional leadership (Avolio, 1999). Leaders allocate decision-making authority to the followers to determine goals, make decisions, and solve problems (Khan et al., 2015).

The challenges with the laissez-faire style of leadership include (a) the leader assumes no responsibility for the management of the followers; (b) the cohesion among the follower group dynamics is minimal, which leads to a lack of team identity; (c) the generation of new organizational initiatives is not an active pursuit; (d) followers challenge organizational limits; and (e) leaders often overlook the opinions of less assertive followers and minorities (Khan et al., 2015). An analysis of transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire styles of leadership appears in Table 1.

Table 1

The Transformational, Transactional, and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles and Their

Dimensions

Leadership	Dimensions	Description of Characteristics
Transactional	Contingent reward	Leader provides satisfactory performance using rewards
	Management by exception (active)	Leader actively monitors performance and attends to failures
	Management by exception (passive)	Leader only intervenes when problems become severe
Transformational	Idealized influence (charisma)	Leader holds high standards and is a respected and trusted role model that leaders identify with
	Inspirational Motivation	Leader displays contagious optimism and excitement about tasks
	Intellectual Stimulation	Leader stimulates employees to come to innovative problem solving
	Individualized Consideration	Leader listens to, coaches, and supports followers on an individual level
Laissez-faire	Non-leadership	Leader takes neither decisions nor responsibilities and gives no support or feedback

Bass's theory on transformational leadership provided the initial empirical research that delineated the nature of the relationships between transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership on a continuum, as opposed to individual leadership concepts with transformational and laissez-faire leadership at the opposite ends of the continuum. Bass's theory indicated that transformational leadership includes four components of specific behaviors: (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual motivation, and (d) individual consideration (Bass, 1998; Bass & Avolio, 2000). The four components work in tandem to craft the leadership and behavior of a transformational leader to effect the desired organizational outcome through the followers (Bass, 1985, 1990, 2000; Bass & Riggio, 2014). Bass (1999) asserted that transformational leadership aligned the followers' values with the mission and goals of the organization.

Transformational leaders develop a strong bond with followers that inspires increased motivation in followers as well as in leaders. Followers embrace the values and authority of transformational leaders by increasing their performance efforts to meet organizational objectives and goals. Transformational and transactional leadership positively influence follower performance, which ultimately influences organizational performance. Bass (1978) proposed the quantification of transformational leadership and noted how it influences follower motivation and performance. The degree to which a leader influences a follower is the measurement of how transformational the leader is. As opposed to leadership theories shared by Burns, Bass (1985) posited that while both transformational and transactional leadership are unique processes, they are not mutually exclusive, and a leader can use transformational and transactional leadership processes at the same time or at different times in different situations (Bass, 1978; Yukl, 1989).

Jay A. Conger and Rabindra Kanungo. Conger and Kanungo (1987, 1988) proposed a theory on attributed charismatic leadership. The basis of this theory was specific charismatic qualities that followers assign to leaders, although the qualities are not present in the behaviors attributed to charismatic leaders to the same degree or same situation. The behaviors attributed to charismatic leaders include (a) advocating a vision that is distinctively different than the norm, (b) self-sacrificing and risk taking in pursuit of one's own vision, and (c) pursuing vision in an unconventional manner (Yukl, 1989). Attributed charismatic leadership is typically for leaders who use expert or referent power to motivate followers as opposed to an authoritative attitude (Yukl, 1989). Conger and Kanungo (1987) envisioned attributed charismatic leadership for situations in which a crisis necessitated extensive change or in which the followers feel unsatisfied with the leadership. Attributed charismatic leadership measures transformational elements such as vision and articulation, environmental sensitivity, unconventional behavior, sensitivity to member needs, taking personal risk, and resisting the status quo (Bass & Riggio, 2014). Although some theorists have focused strictly on the charisma element of transformational leadership, others have elected to use the terms charismatic and transformational as synonymous (Bass & Riggio, 2014).

Bass (1985) expanded on earlier leadership theories by conducting studies on transactional and transformational leadership. Bass conducted research using a questionnaire and qualitative interviews with educational administrators and professionals. The findings indicated that followers were more satisfied and effective when working for charismatic, thoughtful, and motivating leaders. Bass's (1985) theory on transformational leadership presented information on how organizational leaders turn to charismatic leadership to inspire followers for increased performance outcomes. Bass's qualitative studies validated earlier transformational leadership theory. There was not significant quantitative research on transformational leadership, nor was there a reliable established measurement tool to assess quantitative responses (Bass, 1985).

Jim Kouzes and Barry Posner. Kouzes and Posner (2012) identified critical practices that form the basic framework for understanding the optimal behavior of leaders in volunteer organizations. In the absence of a traditional compensation structure and its propensity to satisfy individual intrinsic volunteers, volunteer leaders must use opportunities to connect with the desires of the volunteers. Transformational leaders who inspire volunteers and model behaviors that transcend the multiplicity of volunteer motivations, desires, and loyalties are more likely to create a motivated workforce.

The five practices of exemplary leadership in Kouzes and Posner's (2012) leadership model (see Figure 2) provide a clear framework for understanding how volunteer leaders invest in their followers by strengthening individual motivation and organizational engagement and commitment. The five practices of exemplary leadership provide organizational leaders with the necessary tools to improve leader effectiveness and volunteers' commitment, engagement, and satisfaction (Bowers & Hamby, 2013; Kosner & Posner, 2012). The five practices empower transformational leaders to rise above status quo workforce management to effect positive change in their respective organizations and local communities. As nonprofit organizations continue to face economic and leadership deficits, it becomes imperative that these organizations develop sustainable plans that will maximize their ability to attract and retain exemplary leaders to guide their future organization and volunteer workforce.



Figure 1. Five practices of exemplary leadership (Kouzes & Posner, 2012).

The five exemplary practices of leadership are as follows:

Model the way: Transformational leaders are expected to lead by example and exhibit the behavior that positively represents the organization.

Inspire a shared vision: Leaders must share the organizational vision, become acquainted with followers, and encourage followers to embrace future organizational efforts.

Challenge the process: Leaders must challenge followers toward innovation and new opportunities as opposed to status quo organizational ideas and operations.

Enable others to act: Transformational leaders nurture collaboration and build an organizational climate that fosters teamwork and trust.

Encourage the heart: As leaders link organization-wide accomplishment to individual follower performance it reinforces the importance of the followers in the collective success of the organization.

The five practices of exemplary leadership help leaders identify opportunities for followers to grow and invest personal ideas, skills, talents, and interests into the organizational vision. This is not a task easily accomplished by leaders of any organization, but is especially challenging amid the nonprofit sector. As Senge (2014) asserted, nonprofit organizations are learning organizations where transformational leaders who invest time and resources in their workforce will realize increased engagement and commitment of the volunteers to the mission and goals of the organization and ultimately will support the organization to meet the service delivery needs to the local community.

Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire

The MLQ, also known as MLQ-5X or the standard MLQ, is one of the most widely used instruments to measure transformational and transactional leadership behaviors. Bass's (1985) MLQ-5x assessed the characteristics of a transformational leader and provided research about how leadership behavior relates to leader effectiveness. In 1990, Bass and Avolio provided a significant shift from theoretical studies on transformation leadership to empirical studies. The MLQ-5x supports quantitative research by providing questions that can accurately measure surveyed responses, tailored to the study sampling and testing to ensure detection of design and instrumentation problems (Cooper & Schindler, 2011).

The MLQ-5x is a survey feedback instrument in which followers give feedback on the leader, including the leader's own self-reported behaviors. The survey respondents for this study responded to 20 items relating to the subscales of transformational leadership in the MLQ 5X-Short. Survey respondents assessed leader behaviors on a 5point scale with responses ranging from 0 = not at all to 4 = frequently if not always. The MLQ-5x provides feedback regarding how organizational leadership exerts a positive influence in diverse occupational and international settings. Quantitative studies on transformational leadership using the MLQ-5X-Short or the long form supported the theoretical constructs that transformational leadership effectively mitigated followerrelated issues of performance, commitment, and job satisfaction. Since its conception, many authors have provided changes or dropped items and scales from the MLQ-5x that they thought they could not reasonably assess. Eliminating some of the items or scales in prior research may have affected the development of expanded transformational leadership theories (Schriesheim, Powers, Scandura, Gardiner, & Lankau, 1993). In an effort to validate the validity and reliability of the MLQ-5x, many researchers offered criticisms of the survey instrument: Yukl (1999) noted that the transformational leadership behaviors identified were too vague and that theory did not provide theoretical support for the various delineated behaviors. Hunt and Peterson (1997) questioned the MLQ-5x's generalizability to international cultures; and Avolio, Bass, and Jung (1999) noted the need to provide results that would offer more generalizability than earlier studies provided. Avolio et al. attempted to verify the validity and reliability of MLQ-5x using a broader, more diverse survey population to determine if there was consistency

between the initial and the replicated sample results. Avolio et al. collected data from 3,786 respondents in 14 independent samples of the MLQ-5x, with sample sizes ranging from 45 to 549. The research involved testing models in a nine-sample set and then with a five-sample set. When comparing initial versus replication samples, consistency and reliability were high. Avolio et al. (1999) broadened the sample base of the MLQ-5X to enhance the generalizability of the survey findings.

Leaders should be able to influence and inspire others, develop strategies, organize resources, and empower people (Senge, 2014). Leaders often hold multiple positions in an organization, such as being a clinical expert in their field as well as being a manager in a hospital. In the nursing setting, change management, negotiating ability, and conflict management are essential skills that nurses should develop to become effective leaders (Lin, Maclennan, Hunt, & Cox, 2015).

Lin et al. (2015) explored nursing leadership style and its relationship with the mental health outcomes of nurses. The data in the quantitative cross-sectional study were from a self-report questionnaire that consisted of six sections: demographic information, leadership style, job content, general health well-being, organization commitment, and job satisfaction. Demographic data obtained included age, gender, marital status, grade of nursing practice, educational level, working experience, and work tenure.

The surveys were in Chinese and all scales underwent pilot testing. The participants were from 12 hospitals in Taiwan, with four hospitals in each type of ownership. Participation was voluntary, and participants signed informed consent forms. The nurses eligible to participate in Lin et al.'s (2015) study ranged from N1 (basic
training) to N4 (specialized training and research) and those with at least 1 year's work experience in their current hospital. The response rate was 80.7%. Six hundred fifty-one participants completed and returned valid questionnaires, and 41.5% respondents worked in private hospitals, 34.4% worked in public hospitals, and the remaining 24.1% worked in hospitals run by religious organizations. The mean age of the participants was 30.5 (SD = 6.2) years. The average work tenure was 4.5 (SD = 4.5) years. The majority of respondents were female, and more than half were single. In terms of grade of nursing practice and educational level, there was a statistically significant correlation among the three types of hospitals.

Participants completed the MLQ- 5x to measure idealized influence, inspiration motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass & Avolio, 1984). Participants indicated their degree of perception about transformational leadership style regarding their leader (one level above) by using a 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 = not at all to 3 = frequently, *if not always*. Cronbach's alpha (α) for transformational leadership was .975, which demonstrates good reliability (an alpha of greater than .70). In the present study, both composite reliability and the value of the average variance extracted (AVE) served to assess convergent validity. Researchers assess adequate convergent validity with reliabilities above .80 and the value of AVE above .50 (Ping, 2004). The value of the composite reliability in the transformational leadership scale is .98 (exceeding .80) and the value of AVE is .70, which may be viewed as good convergent validity (Lin et al., 2015).

Lin et al (2015) proposed a model to examine the relationships between nursing transformational leadership and the mental health outcomes of nurses. The result showed high statistically significant correlations between job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Both job satisfaction and organizational commitment were strong predictors of nurses' performance (Al-Ahmadi, 2009). The study addressed how should a leader's behavior influence staff satisfaction. Supervisor support influences psychosocial work characteristics. Lin et al. (2015) showed a statistically significant correlation between transformational leadership behaviors and supervisor support (r = .735). Transformational leadership behaviors correlated positively with supervisor support ($\beta = .76$). Nursing staff who were more satisfied with their work had a better quality of working life. When nurses felt satisfied with their employment, patient satisfaction increased (Kvist, Voutilainen, Mantynen, & Vehvilainen-Julkunen, 2014). As employees spend around half of their waking life at work, the workplace should be the best area to improve employees' health behaviors. The results of Lin et al.'s study indicated that encouraging leaders to use transformational leadership behaviors may be helpful to enhance organizational commitment. Thus, transformational leadership style can be a health promotion intervention applied within a health care setting.

Lin et al (2015) also measured organizational commitment. Organizational commitment is the level of psychological and social attachment an individual has to an organization. Organizational characteristics are important factors in the attraction and retention of nursing staff. One of the main approaches to measuring organizational commitment in health care professionals was the OCQ, which was a 15-item

questionnaire designed to describe global organizational commitment as a total commitment scale (Mowday, Steers, & Porter, 1979). A 5-point Likert scale ranging from $1 = strongly \ disagree$ to $5 = strongly \ agree$ was suitable for indicating degree of organizational commitment. Cronbach's alpha was .878. This scale included a total scoring method. The MLQ-5x showed strong reliability and validity. Although researchers have used other measurement instruments to explain transformational leadership, many researchers contend that the MLQ-5x is an effective instrument to measure transformational leadership constructs.

Utrecht Work Engagement Scale

The UWES-9 is a survey instrument used to measure work engagement (Schaufeli, 2014; Schaufeli et al., 2006). Work engagement refers to a positive workrelated state of fulfillment characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. Schaufeli (2014) and Schaufeli et al. (2006) developed the work engagement measurement and viewed engagement as consisting of three factors: vigor, dedication, and absorption. The UWES-9 measures employees' engagement level based on the hypothesis that engaged employees energetically and effectively connect with their work activities and see themselves as able to deal well with the demands of their job (Schaufeli, 2014; Schaufeli et al., 2006). The UWES was originally a 24-item scale that went to 17 items after psychometric evaluation, and the UWES-17 measures employee engagement according to six vigor items, five dedication items, and six absorption items (Schaufeli, 2014; Schaufeli et al., 2006). The UWES may be shortened to 9 items (UWES-9), as it will be used in this study. The validity of the UWES-9 has been established to have optimal internal consistency and test-retest reliability (Schaufeli et al., 2006).

The subscales of engagement are vigor, dedication and absorption. Vigor relates to high levels of energy and the willingness to invest in one's work. Dedication relates to a sense of significance, inspiration, and challenge from one's work. Absorption relates to the sense of feeling happily engrossed and immersed in one's work.

Organizational Commitment Questionnaire

The OCQ is a questionnaire designed to describe global organizational commitment as a total commitment scale (Meyer & Allen). The 18-item OCQ developed by Meyer & Allen (1993) is a widely used measure of organizational commitment among researchers. Meyer and Allen (1991) viewed commitment as a mind-set or psychological state that increases the likelihood of employees retaining membership in their organization and includes three components: affective commitment (desire to remain), continuance commitment (perceived cost of leaving), and normative commitment (perceived obligation to remain).

The 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 = *strongly disagree* to 7 = *strongly agree* indicates degree of organizational commitment. Mowday et al. (1979) researched organizational commitment based on a series of studies among 2,563 employees in nine divergent organizations and found satisfactory test–retest reliabilities and internal consistency reliabilities. Cross-validated evidence of acceptable levels of predictive, convergent, and discriminant validity emerged for the instrument. Norms for males and females reflect the available sample. Mowday et al (1979) reviewed possible instrument

limitations and future research on the measurement and study of organizational commitment.

A recent study on volunteer engagement and organizational commitment in nonprofit organizations included the OCQ measurement tool. Chacon and Marta (2013) conducted the study among volunteers from 18 nonprofit organizations to predict the organizational commitment intention of volunteers to remain and if the work engagement constructs would predict the psychological well-being of a sample of 232 active volunteers. The volunteers worked in social or environmental fields, dedicated an average of 22 hours a month to volunteering, and had been part of the nonprofit organization for an average of 20 months. Participants completed the UWES and the OCQ. On the UWES-9, responses to the nine items ranged from 1 = totally disagree to 7 = totally*agree*. The UWES-9 included items such as "I am enthusiastic about my volunteer work" (dedication), "I always feel like going to do my volunteering" (vigor), and "time flies when I am doing my volunteer work" (absorption). The internal consistency of each of the subscales, measured using Cronbach's alpha, was .79 for dedication, .79 for vigor, .78 for absorption, and .91 for the overall instrument.

The OCQ included 18 items (Meyer & Allen, 1993). Using a 7-point scale ranging from 1 = *strongly disagree* to 7 = *strongly agree*, the researchers assessed the degree to which the volunteers' were emotionally attached to their organization. It included items such as "I take an interest in the organization's future," "I find that the organization's values are similar to my own," and "I am proud to say that I am a part of this organization." Meyer & Allen's (1990) examination of the relationship between the

commitment scale reported the Cronbach's alpha was .87 for affective, .75 for continuance, and .79 for normative. The volunteer sample scored slightly higher in engagement (5.55) than commitment (5.45). The study conducted by Chacon and Marta (2013) demonstrated that engagement and commitment correlated with all the positive outcomes in volunteering, which included the intention to remain in the organization as a volunteer and psychological well-being.

Literature Review as Related to Key Variables

Transformational Leadership

Since the 1990's, research on leadership has focused on the positive link between effective leadership styles and positive performance outcomes in the for-profit organization sector. Charismatic leaders who direct, motivate, inspire, nurture, and embrace employee commitment and engagement can maximize performance outcomes. Transformational leadership nurtures trust in followers and inspires them to maximize their performance, morale, and ethical thrust within the organization.

While transformational leadership has many links to behaviors that foster many positive organizational outcomes, it can have potential negative consequences. Potential negative consequences involving transformational leadership include the claims that transformational leadership is a compilation of many leadership theories, which makes it difficult to train potential leaders, transformational leaders may be self promoting and ignore needs of followers, leaders may manipulate followers and encounter negative influences (Graham, Ziegert, & Capitano, 2015), it increases followers' dependency on their leader, and it is difficult to challenge the leader's authority.

Criticisms of Transformational Leadership

Transformational leaders exert a significant influence over followers, and a potential exists for those leaders to abuse the power, trust, and respect that followers extend to them (Stone et al., 2003). Followers who have high dependency needs will tend to follow transformation leaders implicitly. The organization may lack system checks to restrict the emergence of a dictatorship, oppressive behavior, or incongruity in the distribution of power, which causes an imbalance of collaborative interests. Most transformational leaders extol positive moral values, but there are historical examples of charismatic leaders who lack honesty, equitable perspectives, and moral aptitude, such as the leadership responsible for the 1978 deaths at the Peoples Temple Agricultural Project in Jonestown, Guyana. The ability of transformational leaders to effect organization change must include a sense of moral responsibility, as transformational leaders have the propensity to create organizational cultures that can be either liberating or oppressive (Hay, 2015). To foster an organizational culture of change that embraces a high level of moral responsibility, transformational leaders must motivate followers by appealing to their ideals of moral values, honesty, trustworthiness, ethical values, reliability, and accountability and place a high emphasis on human rights (Burns, 1978; Ciulla, 2014).

Engagement

Engagement is a "positive, fulfilling work-related state of mind characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption" (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). Employee engagement has a connection to optimal organizational performance (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) and high morale (Britt, Dickinson, Moore, Castro, & Adler, 2007). Engaged followers

demonstrate an emotional attachment to their work and conserve their own engagement through job crafting (Bakker et al., 2015). Evolving from the research of Kahn (1990), the term engagement refers to the specific involvement in and framework present in a follower's work experience. Followers are enthusiastic about their tenure at their respective organization and maintain the intention to remain as employees or volunteers. The focus of engagement is not on any particular object, event, individual, or behavior (Schaufeli, 2014). The factors that determine both work engagement and motivation are physical, emotional, and psychological well-being (Hallberg & Schaufeli, 2006). Researchers question whether engagement is conceptually distinct from other constructs, such as commitment or burnout. Cole, Walter, Bedelan, and O'Boyle (2012) explored whether a relationship existed between burnout and engagement and found the concepts had a negative relationship.

Kahn (1990) examined the relationship between burnout and engagement. Schaufeli et al. (2006) described engagement as a constant affective-cognitive state and a burnout, asserting that engaged followers were energetic, effectively connected to their work activities and organizations, and that they believed that they had a high functionality in meeting the demands of their jobs. Researchers disagree about whether engagement is the opposite of burnout or if a relationship exists between them. Cole et al. (2012) examined 50 unique samples from 37 studies. The authors used meta-analytical techniques to assess the extent to which job burnout and employee engagement were independent and useful constructs. The findings indicated that (a) dimension-level correlations between burnout and engagement are high, (b) burnout and engagement dimensions exhibit a similar pattern of association with correlates, and (c) controlling for burnout in meta regression equations substantively reduced the effect sizes associated with engagement. These findings indicated that organizations cannot dismiss doubts about the functional distinctiveness of the dimensions underlying burnout and engagement as pure speculation.

Researchers have suggested potential relationships between transformational leadership and employee engagement. Transformational leaders elevate followers to higher levels of potential while fulfilling the followers' higher order needs, which relates to a higher level of engagement (Kark & Shamir, 2013; Zhu et al., 2009). Researchers have documented transformational leadership and follower attitudes such as organizational commitment, engagement, happiness, job satisfaction, and personal wellbeing (Judge & Piccolo, 2004) but empirical research that links transformational leadership and followers' work engagement is limited (Zhu et al., 2009), especially regarding nonprofit organizations.

Volunteers' Engagement

Creating a worker engagement culture has become a focal point for organizational leaders. Organizational leadership recognizes that a satisfied worker is not necessarily the best worker in terms of commitment and engagement. The concept of volunteer engagement evolved from the volunteer management movement created in 1976 by Wilson. Wilson (1976; 2012) asserted that management skills of the highest order were the most effective method to plan, organize, staff, direct, and manage a volunteer workforce. Management of volunteers is no longer an organization management directive. The literature reflects organization change from a hierarchical top-down approach to a collaborative philosophy. Organizational management of volunteers has linked volunteer motivation on how volunteers want to embrace an organization's mission and vision with how they will attain organization goals into organizational behavior, philosophy, and structure. Keskes (2014) acknowledged that engaged workers value intellectual and emotional connections to the organization and demonstrate loyalty and commitment to the goals, values, and purpose of the organization. Engaged workers feel a commitment to exceeding basic workplace expectations and striving to realize their personal goals. Engaged volunteers respect leadership through the development of a culture that provides supportive leadership and encouragement for expressing ideas within the non-profit organization (Boezeman & Ellemers, 2014). Assembling an engaged and committed workforce is a challenge for many organizational leaders, as transformational leadership is necessary to devise effective strategies to inspire workers to maximize their full potential.

Commitment

Determining an authentic definition for commitment various among organizations is a complex task. No consensus definition encompasses the framework of every organizational culture and workforce. Organizational commitment represents an attachment or intention formed by workers related to their identification and participation in an organization. Worker loyalty, morale, needs satisfaction, positive organization culture, and worker empowerment contribute to a positive commitment by workers. Positive attachment to an organization may increase the likelihood of strong worker commitment. A leadership style that appeals to worker confidence satisfies workers' individual needs and encourages and recognizes their contributions will nurture strong worker commitment to the organization. Organizational identification partially mediates the relationship between organizational support and affective commitment (Beck & Wilson, 2000; Brown, 2016; Marique et al., 2013).

Volunteers' Commitment

Leaders of nonprofit organizations are increasingly using volunteer workers to ensure effective service delivery within their communities. In this study, a volunteer workforce included community residents who choose to volunteer to a nonprofit organization. The relationships among volunteers, community organizations, and workforce projects represent a gap in the field of nonprofit organizational commitment knowledge (Gilbert, Holdsworth, & Kyle, 2017)

Summary and Conclusions

The field of transformational leadership literature includes multiple studies that involved assessing if a link exists between transformational leadership and employee performance, engagement, and commitment. Scholars often misconstrue engagement and organizational commitment (Bakker et al., 2011). In general, engagement and commitment are uniquely different and operative concepts in volunteering (Chacon & Marta, 2013). Researchers have only recently begun studying transformational leadership constructs in the volunteering field (Vencina et al., 2012). Although literature exists that substantiates that researchers have explored the link between transformational leadership, employee engagement, and organizational commitment, few researchers have explored the link between transformational leadership and engagement and commitment of volunteers in the nonprofit sector. Most nonprofit studies include a specific nonprofit organization or a particular organizational type. Significant research exists on transformational leadership in for-profit organizations, government agencies, military organizations, and education institutions.

Transformational leadership is a leadership style that influences and engages followers to transform their work behavior to attain higher performance goals and commitment (Bass, 1985; Yukl, 1999). Transformational leadership creates commitment among the workforce by motivating followers and enhancing follower dedication and support for specific organizational goals (Klein, Molloy, & Brinsfield, 2012). In addition to the transformational behavior of leadership, follower commitment and engagement are effectively secure when organizational leaders embrace a culture of engagement focused on the development of engaging leaders whose behaviors nurture followers' engagement and commitment (Aon Hewett, 2014).

Follower engagement is critical to organization commitment and the attainment of organizational performance outcomes. Followers' engagement supports the attainment of organizational performance outcomes. Additionally, follower engagement and organization commitment requires a supportive culture, open feedback system, implicit trust, shared opportunities for career advancement, equitable and transparent human resources policies, procedures, training, and effective leadership development training for managers (Popli & Rizvi, 2016). Transformational leaders strive to inspire and motivate their followers to embrace the organizational vision and goals and commit themselves to higher organizational performance outcomes. Transformational leadership does not strictly focus on the ability of a leader to reinforce organizational policies or regulations or control follower behavior. Transformational leaders' leadership style has exerted a positive influence on employee engagement through motivating employees to work diligently toward organizational goals and providing support and confidence in their talents and abilities (Popli & Rizvi, 2016). Numerous researchers have found a significant relationship between leadership behavior and organizational commitment of followers (Lyons, 2004; Rojas, 2000). Strengthening worker engagement increases worker commitment, which makes organizations more effective through unifying the culture of the work environment and stimulating ideation and innovation toward sustainable organizational success (Society for Human Resource Management, 2014).

In the nonprofit sector, engagement among the volunteer workforce has a close association with organizational commitment (Schneider & George, 2010). Leadership in nonprofit organizations must motivate the volunteer workforce without using traditional management incentives such as bonuses, salary compensation, or recognition awards (Posner, 2015). The transformational leadership theory clarifies how volunteer leaders motivate the commitment and engagement of volunteers without the use of extrinsic rewards or punishments (Catano, Pond, & Kelloway, 2010) using a leadership style that acknowledges the individual motivational differences between volunteer leaders and volunteers and allows the leaders to exert influence upon volunteers Volunteer leaders must develop mutually satisfying relationships with volunteers such that the volunteers will be willing and motivated to attain organizational goals. Transformational leadership represents an interactive leadership style. Burns (1978) found leaders and followers needed to display a significant degree of collaboration to facilitate the desired goals and effect organizational change. Transformational leaders seek to bring out the best in the followers by recognizing their contributions to the organization. Creating a culture of collaboration in nonprofit organizations allows volunteer leaders to establish a feedback system that provides support, respect, and encouragement to the volunteers, who in turn become more engaged and committed and work more effectively toward attainment of the organization mission and goals. Leadership in volunteer organizations is different from leadership in traditional organizations where staff members receive compensation (Posner, 2015). Current contributions of transformational leadership in nonprofit organizational change management focus on the relationship between transformational leadership and empowering an effective volunteering process. As leaders of nonprofit organizations develop strategic plans that target strategic models for organizational structures; leadership development; and identification, training, and retention of volunteers, the leaders will recognize growth in leadership, system-wide programs, funding resources, evaluation, communication activities, technologies, cross-cultural awareness, and workforce engagement and commitment that will strengthen the organization's productivity and sustainability, as well as the timely delivery of services in their respective communities.

Leaders of nonprofit organizations are becoming acutely aware of the strong correlation between transformational leadership and acquiring the core organizational competencies to meet the needs of the internal and external stakeholders. Strong, more effective leadership in the nonprofit sector will equate to more effective decision making, actions, conflict resolution, engaged and committed staff, and management of fiscal and material resources. Use of transformational leadership knowledge and skills equates to more effective community service to individuals in need.

This awareness is overdue, as traditional nonprofit leadership does not embrace continuous learning or leadership competencies, and fewer qualified leaders are joining the nonprofit sector. Leadership development in nonprofit organizations has not met with much success historically. Nonprofit organization leaders must incorporate continuous learning skills to ensure their organization will attain the adaptation skills necessary to address the needs of their respective communities. Nonprofit leadership must have the training to manage an organization through complex change processes, embrace the relational components of collaboration, and understand the core competencies needed to sustain delivery of services to the community. To ensure long-term sustainability, nonprofit leadership requires leadership practices that engage and enhance volunteer leader-follower relationships through supportive management (Batista-Taran, Shuck, Gutierrez, & Baralt, 2013). Existing literature supports the benefits of strengthening leader and follower relationships to increase follower loyalties to the organization and to foster a more motivated workforce to accomplish the organization goals. The sustainability of nonprofit organizations depends upon visionary, charismatic,

transformational leaders crafting synergies with followers. As transformational leaders place more value on collaborative and purposeful connections with the volunteer workforce, nonprofit organization leaders will become more effective in developing viable organizational solutions, as well as meeting the demands of local community residents. Chapter 3 will delineate the research methods to measure whether a relationship exists between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment, creating a realistic understanding of how nonprofit volunteer motivation is sustained through effective leaders.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The focus of this chapter is the research design for the study to determine whether a relationship existed between transformational leadership and nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. Chapter 3 include the research deign and rationale, research questions and hypotheses, methodology, sample population, sampling strategies, recruitment plan, instrumentation, data analysis plan, threats to validity, reliability, and ethical considerations.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between transformational leadership, engagement, and its subscales (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption), and commitment, and its subscales (i.e., affective, continuance, and normative). The independent variable was transformational leadership (X). The two dependent variables were volunteer workforce engagement (Y_1) and volunteer workforce commitment (Y_2). The population for this study included 111 individuals who volunteer in nonprofit organizations as identified by SurveyMonkey® online survey administration.

Other researchers have focused on the relationship between transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment in for-profit organizations. These researchers have established a positive link between transformational leadership and increased employee commitment and engagement (Popli & Rizvi, 2016; Zhu et al., 2009). Very few researchers have identified the relationship between these variables in a nonprofit organization setting (Freeborough, 2012). As the mission of nonprofit organizations meet important community service needs, this study addressed a significant gap in existing volunteer research. In the study, I used a correlational research design that enabled the testing of the relationships between the study variables. A correlational design is a descriptive form of quantitative research that examines the relationships between the study variables to investigate "the extent to which differences in one characteristic or variable are related to differences in one or more other characteristics or variables" (Manley & Alerto, 2017, pp. 35-36). The correlational design is a simple regression model that tests the significance of the relationship between variables (X,Y). The hypotheses for RQs 1 and 2 were accepted or rejected depending on whether the *p* values for the *B*₁ coefficient were significant. In hypothesis testing, it is assumed that the null hypothesis is true unless rejected. The statistical relationship between the variables in the null hypotheses are represented by: H_0 : $B_1 = 0$. The alternative hypothesis is represented in testing as an observation of a nonrandom event. The test of the alternative hypothesis is represented by: H_1 : $B_1 \neq 0$.

In the study, RQs 3 and 4 used sets of simple linear regression models. RQ 3 tested the significance of the relationship between the independent variable (X) and the subscales (Y1, Y2, Y3). of the dependent variable engagement. The three subscales of engagement were vigor, dedication, and absorption. RQ 4 tested the significance of the relationship between the independent variable (X) and the subscales (Y1, Y2, Y3) of the dependent variable (X) and the subscales (Y1, Y2, Y3) of the dependent variable commitment. The three subscales of commitment were affective, normative, and continuance.

The hypotheses for RQs 3 and 4 were accepted or rejected dependent upon whether the p values for the B_1 coefficient were significant. The test of the hypotheses

for these research questions was represented by the model: $Y = B_0 + B_1 x + \mathcal{E}$, where B_1 and B_0 represented the regression coefficients and \mathcal{E} represented the random error. H_0 : $B_1 = 0$ and H_1 : $B_1 \neq 0$. The test of test of the alternate hypotheses for these RQs was represented by the model: H_1 : $B_1 \neq 0$.

Understanding how to motivate a volunteer workforce may contribute to social change by providing effective leadership strategies to motivate the volunteer workforce in nonprofit organizations as nonprofits align the organizational mission and goals with volunteer task assignments. This alignment may ensure a volunteer workforce will work beyond individual self-interest (Bass, 1996e and will embrace organizational goals and tasks.

Research Design and Rationale

This quantitative correlational study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership and nonprofit engagement and commitment. Quantitative research includes philosophical foundations or worldview assumptions as a means for conducting scientific research (DePoy & Gitlin, 2015). Worldviews in research are the basic tenets researchers hold to guide the framework of their research plan (Guba,1990). Researchers' experience influences the worldview and directly affects the approach taken during research studies. Quantitative researchers traditionally embrace a postpositivist sense of knowledge and recognize that the causal effects of research problems influence outcomes (Koivu & Damman, 2015). As postpositivists, quantitative researchers examine a phenomenon that exerts influence upon specific measureable outcomes. Post-positivists

choose to embrace a research approach that addresses the innovation process and its associated effect on society (Adam, 2014)

Postpositivists seek knowledge based upon real-world observation and the quantitative measurement of a phenomenon. In conjunction with observable measurements of human behavior, quantitative researchers attempt to quantify the underlying theories that have a causal impact on the phenomenon. Researchers attempt to substantiate or refute the theory objectively through empirical observations and tests.

Quantitative research involves collecting and analyzing numerical data to test hypotheses. Quantitative researchers test a null hypothesis to determine if they can reject it in favor of an alternative hypothesis (Banerjee, Chibris, Jadhav, Bhawalker, & Chaudhury, 2009). The process of supporting or refuting hypotheses with data, observable evidence, or underlying theoretical and conceptual considerations adds to the knowledge about how a phenomenon acts in the real world. Quantitative researchers use statistical analysis to test the relationships between the research variables as they would appear in the general population (Babbie, 2015; Crede & Borrego, 2014). Objectivity is essential in data collection, in examination of measures collected through instrumentation, observations, intervention, and in data analysis to ensure validity and reliability while mitigating potential study bias (Arguinis & Vandenberg, 2014).

Although researchers have related transformational leadership to employee engagement and commitment among for-profit organizations, the researchers have indicated in the literature the need for additional empirical research to assess relationships in the nonprofit organization sector (Freeborough, 2012). In this study, I used a quantitative, nonexperimental, correlational, inferential statistical research design, and a nonprobability random sample. A correlational, nonexperimental research methodology involves assessing research questions without manipulating the study variables. The correlational approach is an appropriate methodology to use to examine the relationship between the variables. An experimental approach involves manipulating a variable to determine the causal relationship between the variables. This study included a non-experimental approach to provide a description of the relationship between the variables rather than an assessment of the causality of the relationships between the variables (Cooper & Shindler, 2011).

The independent variable was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations. The quantitative research methodology was suitable to secure numerical data from the target population to assess the likelihood of a statistically significant relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations. The quantitative questions were suitable to support the analysis and to determine whether charismatic leadership affects nonprofit organization volunteer performance outcomes. This study involved the relationship between transformational leadership and the subscales of engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption) and commitment (affective, normative, and continuance). The subscales of engagement are as follows: (a) vigor refers to the willingness, high levels of energy, and cognitive fortitude invested during work, even in the midst of

challenge; (b) dedication refers to the significant involvement in a person's work endeavor and includes pride, inspiration and enthusiasm; and (c) absorption refers to the full contentment in work to the point of experiencing difficulty detaching from one's work (Schaufeli, 2014; Truss, Alfes, Delbridge, Shantz, & Sloane, 2012). The subscales of commitment are as follows: (a) affective commitment refers to the emotional attachment of an individual to an organization where they embrace the goals, values, and mission of the organization; (b) normative commitment refers to the fact that individuals remain with an organization based on specific behavioral or social expectations; and (c) continuance commitment refers to the degree to which an individual remains with an organization based upon their relationship with their organization on what they receive in return for their efforts (Meyer & Allen, 1997). This correlational study, which serves as a springboard for empirical investigations into the impact of transformational leadership on volunteer workforce engagement and commitment, builds upon existing research studies to address the critical concerns of management of the volunteers (Boezeman & Ellemers, 2014).

Research Questions

This study involved assessing the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement and commitment. Researchers who have conducted empirical research on transformational leadership include Downton (1973), House (1977), Burns (1978), and Bass and Avolio (1990). Previous researchers have sought to establish a significant link between transformational leadership and organizational commitment among for-profit organizations. Researchers have also targeted the relationship between transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment. Limited research exists in which a researcher correlated the relationship between transformational leadership and increased organizational commitment among non-profit organizations. (Zhu et al, 2009) Fewer studies exist that examined the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations, specifically assessing transformational leadership and its subscales, engagement and its subscales, and commitment and its subscales. Prior studies have indicated that the most recent version of the MLQ-5x assesses transformational leadership as a single hierarchical construct and recommend the need for further research to justify the interpretation of individual subscales (Avolio & Yammarino, 2013; Carless, 1998).

This quantitative correlational study provided a framework for evaluating the significance of the relationship between the independent and dependent variables in a reasonable timeframe without numerous constraints on the researcher or research process. The basic research questions and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_al : There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ – 5x. The dependent variable, volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, was measured by utilizing the UWES-9. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ2: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 2: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ – 5x. The dependent variable, volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations, was assessed by utilizing the OCQ. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations. In testing the above statistical model, $Y = B_1 + B_x = \epsilon$, where Y = the independent variable and X = the dependent variable, $H_0 = 0$ and $H_1: B_1 \neq 0$.

In RQs 1 and 2, the hypothesis tests assessed whether the total independent variable transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e., correlated) to volunteer

workforce engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations, respectively. The hypothesis tests for RQs 3 and 4 assessed which of the three dependent variable subscale(s) was statistically related (i.e., correlated) to the independent variable transformational leadership. These hypotheses tests provided an in-depth measure of how the independent variable transformational leadership affected the dependent subscales.

RQ3: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship between transformational leadership each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of a set of simple linear regression to see how transformational leadership impacted each of the subscales of engagement. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ – 5x. The dependent variables, the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, were measured by the UWES. The subscales of engagement measured the level of engagement that the volunteer worker developed with the organization through a positive work experience, characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. The hypotheses test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations. In testing the above statistical model, H_0 : $B_1 = B_2 = B_3$ and H_1 : $B_1 \neq B_2 \neq B_3$.

 $H_0 = 0$ and $Y = B_0 + B_1X_1 + B_1X_2 + B_1X_3$, where X1, X2, and X3 are the subscales of volunteer nonprofit engagement (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption)

RQ4: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_04 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of a set of simple linear regression to see how transformational leadership impacted each of the subscales of commitment. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by the MLQ –5x. The dependent variables, the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations, were measured by utilizing the OCQ. The subscales of commitment measure the commitment that the volunteer worker develops with the organization through a positive work experience, characterized by affective, normative, and continuance commitment. The hypothesis test will assess whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations. In testing the above statistical model, H_0 : $B_1 = B_2 = B_3$ and H_1 : $B_1 \neq 0 \neq B_2 \neq B_3$ where X_1 , X_2 , and X_3 are the subscales of volunteer (i.e., affective, continuance, and normative).

The study involved measuring the variables objectively using published instruments. The instrument selected to measure the independent variable,

transformational leadership, was the MLQ – 5x; the instrument selected to measure the dependent variable volunteer engagement was the UWES-9; and the instrument selected to measure the dependent variable volunteer commitment in the nonprofit organization was the OCQ. The data analysis involved correlational and multiple linear regression. This study extended prior research on the relationships between transformational leadership, engagement, and commitment in nonprofit organizations to assess if transformational leadership can motivate an organizational workforce into an engaged culture of committed volunteers. Enhancing the engagement and commitment of the workforce has a connection to positive organizational outcomes in for-profit organizations (Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). Positive business outcomes may provide strategic influences that strengthen the engagement and organizational commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations.

Methodology

Population

The target population for this study was individuals who have served as volunteers in nonprofit organizations for their respective communities in the United States. For the purpose of this research study, a *volunteer* was an adult, ages 18-65, who had provided volunteer service an organizational context out of free will and not for financial gain. The study sample included individuals of both genders, diverse educational experience, varied volunteer experience with their respective organization ranging from less than 1 year to over 20 years, age groups of 18-65 years, diverse volunteer organization purposes, varied volunteer staff responsibility, and

differing numbers of volunteers in their respective organization. The target populations represented a diverse group of individuals who volunteer on their own free will and without monetary compensation in U.S. community service organizations of varying sizes, mission, and vision.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The identification of the sample, determination of the study sampling procedures, and the selection of the sampling strategy related to the acquisition of a sample that will approximate the characteristics of the general population (Fowler, 2009). The sample frame represented individuals in the population who had a reasonable chance of selection for the sample (Coopers & Schindler, 2011). As this research study included a nonprobability sample, it did not include randomly selected study participants (Field,2009). Determining the optimal sample size for a research study can often interject unintentional bias. Fowler (2009) found that research sampling procedures for selecting a small sample of the population involved relying on pre-determined statistical parameters, and an acceptable margin of error.

Qualified SurveyMonkey® survey audience was used for this study. The target study population met the required conditions to participate as adults (ages 18- 65), who self-identified their role as volunteers in nonprofit organizations. In an effort to minimize bias, this study included participants who self-identified as volunteers in nonprofit organizations, regardless of their race or gender, and their nonprofit organization's mission, vision, size, and geographic location in the United States. The effect size for this study was calculated through utilization of G*Power 3.1. G *Power 3.1 was the sample size calculating software used to determine the required sample size for the research study. G* Power 3.1 was free software obtainable through Heinrich-Heine University of Dusseldorf. Its capabilities included power calculations and sample-size calculations. According to G* Power 3.1, the minimum sample size of this research study was 82, based upon a power level of .80 and $\propto = .05$. (See Appendix H.)

Recruitment

The participants were volunteers in U.S. nonprofit organizations. The volunteers, ages 18-65, represented a diverse group of organizational missions and goals, volunteer experience, ethnicities, and educational levels. The research study involved surveying an audience panel through SurveyMonkey® survey administrative service. The Survey Monkey® survey system automatically sent potential respondents an icon. The audience panel clicked on the icon to access a description of the study and provide consent to participate in the study. Participants were asked to read the consent form at the beginning of the survey and to indicate that they consented to participate in the survey by checking the appropriate box. The SurveyMonkey® survey system provided a secure web-based technology to identify and select qualified participants who had provided consent to serve on survey audience panels, measure response rates. The rationale for using SurveyMonkey® as a research platform was that it provided immediate access to the desired target population. An icon was sent from SurveyMonkey® to the audience panel account of self-identified nonprofit volunteers. By clicking the icon, the respondents

accessed a description study. While consent for participation in the study was embedded in the SurveyMonkey® audience panel, participants accessed a description of the study and provided consent to participate in the study by reading the consent form at the beginning of the survey and indicating that they consented to participate in the survey by checking the appropriate box.

Using SurveyMonkey® may enhance the response rate by allowing the participants to respond at their convenience within the time parameters of the survey process. Potential participants received instructions to complete the survey over a time frame of 7 business days. Anticipated time to respond to all items in the survey was 30 minutes.

Upon receipt of the survey participants' data, the response information, exported from Microsoft Excel 2016 into Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 24, was used to run a statistical analysis. BoxCryptor, a secure and encrypted electronic data storage system, stored the study data. The data will be permanently deleted from the supplemental computer in 5 years.

Instrumentation

The study included three published instruments and a demographic survey. Permission to use the instruments occurred through purchasing licenses, through written agreement to conduct the study, and through adherence to published usage parameters. The instruments in this study measured transformational leadership, gender, highest education level, age, number of years of volunteer experience, organizational purpose, and number of volunteers in the organization. The study involved measuring transformational leadership using Avolio and Bass's (2004) MLQ–5x. The study participants responded to 20 items in the MLQ, using a 5-point Likert scale with responses ranging from 0 = Not at all to 4 = frequently if not always (Avolio et al.,1999; Avolio & Bass, 2004, Bass & Avolio 1999. The MLQ –5x provided the opportunity to assess transformational leadership based upon Bass's (1985) leadership continuum. The MLQ - 5x features 20 statements, four statements for each of the five subscales, through which survey respondents described their perception of the leadership style of the person to whom they directly report.

This research study included five of the nine MLQ subscales. The five subscales selected were measures of transformational leadership: (a) idealized influence (behaviors), (b) idealized influence (attributes), (c) inspirational motivation, (d) intellectual stimulation, and (e) individualized consideration. Schaufeli et al. (2006) UWES-9 measured volunteer engagement. UWES-9 has three subscales: (a) vigor, (b) dedication, and (c) absorption. The UWES-9 instrument, Schaufeli and Baker (2003), consists of seventeen questions and a 7-point scale with responses ranging from 0 = never to $6 = every \, day$. The survey respondents indicated if they had experienced each of the described feelings, and the frequency by identifying the number (from 0 to 6) that best described the frequency of their experience. Cronbach's α of the UWES-9 exceeds the generally accepted scale of $\alpha > .70$ (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003).

The tool selected to measure volunteer commitment was the OCQ (Meyer et al., 1993). The OCQ consisted of 18 statements, six statements among each of the three subscales: affective, normative, and continuance. These subscales represented feelings

86

that survey respondents experienced about the nonprofit organization for which they volunteer. The research respondents indicated their level of agreement or disagreement in accord with each statement. The OCQ provided an opportunity to assess the respondents' feelings about the respective nonprofit organization for which they were volunteering. The assessment for all measures was on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from "1=strongly disagree" to "5= strongly agree" (Cohen,1988; Meyer et al.,2002). (See Appendix G.)

Data Analysis Plan

The assessment of research data involved a correlational analysis to assess the strength of the relationship between variables using statistical data. The statistical software, SPSS, was suitable to determine whether a relationship existed between the study variables, as well as how strong the relationship was. SPSS, version 24 was suitable to run the regression statistical analysis to test the hypotheses. The data analysis included descriptive statistics, standard deviations, and percentages necessary for the parametric tests. The research data, coded in a data file, corresponded to the responses for each question. SPSS was suitable to calculate the subscales and total scores of each of the instrument measurements. Before the statistical analysis was conducted, data screening procedures involving the research variables identified miscoded and missing data. The main purpose of conducting data screening was to strengthen the performance of the statistical methodology. SPSS screened the response data. Additionally, cleaning the research data assessed normality and linearity problems, the impact of outliers, and any missing data which could effectively increase the R squared values. Data research

screening procedures facilitated an analysis procedure which resulted in appropriate and accurate estimates.

Data analysis involved assessing the correlation between the independent and dependent variables. This quantitative correlational study served as a framework for evaluating the significance of the relationship between the independent and the dependent variables. Simple linear regression was used to measure the hypotheses to develop a predictive model in additional to the correlational analysis.

The research questions and hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ2: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

RQ3: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship between transformational leadership each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ4: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_04 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

As this was a correlational research study, statistical analysis was used to measure the relationship between continuous variables (Curtis et al., 2015; Cooper & Schindler, 2011). The rationale for using a correlational analysis was that it provided a predictive assessment about the relationship between the variables and ways they were related. Correlational analysis did not provide an assessment of causality of the phenomenon. With linearly related variables, Pearson's correlation coefficient *r* served as a measure to examine the strength of the association of the variables.

The instruments selected in this study (MLQ-5x, UWES-9, and the OCQ) included Likert- type ordinal scales that were treated as continuous variables (Avolio et al., 1999; Avolio & Bass, 2004; Bass & Avolio, 1990; Cohen, 1996; Meyer et al., 2002; Schaufeli et al., 2006). Cronbach's alpha established reliability for each subscale (Fields,

2009). Results showed whether there was a significant relationship to two decimal places.

Correlational and simple linear regression were used to analyze the study data. Bivariate correlations, a statistical analysis method, was used to assess the relationship between the independent and dependent variables (Cohen, Cohen, West, Stephen, & Aiken, 2013). Bivariate correlations and single linear regression were used to measure the degree of linear relationship. A bivariate correlation coefficient (r) ranges from -1 to +1 to indicate the degree of linear relationship between the study variables. The closer (r)is to +1 or -1, the more closely the two variables will be assessed as related. If the correlation coefficient (r) is close to 0, it will indicate that there is no relationship between the study variables. If the correlation coefficient (r) is positive, it will mean that there is a direct relationship between one variable and another (i.e. as one variable gets larger, the other variable gets larger. If (r) is negative, it will mean that there is an inverse relationship between the variables (i.e. as one variable gets larger the other will get smaller. A required $p \le .05$ will control for type 1 errors and result in rejection of the null hypothesis in favor of the alternative hypothesis (Cohen et al., 2013). Covariates or cofounding variables, continuous variables that are observable and often unanticipated during the research process, may have had a negative impact on the internal validity of the research participants responses. Covariates and confounding variables may also cause measurement unreliability and exert a disastrous effect on parameter estimates and error rates when entered into regression-based mode (Westfall & Yarkoni, 2016). To minimize the negative effects of confounding variables, researcher must select a research plan

which is well-planned and features sound operalization, but it is often difficult to control these effects.

Threats to Validity

This quantitative research study involved three distinct measurements of validity: external validity, internal validity, and construct validity. External validity refers to the extent to which an instrument used in the study provided conclusions a researcher could generalize to other populations or situations (Campbell & Stanley, 2015). Threats to external validity represent explanations that account for why a generalization may not be valid. Internal validity assesses how well an instrument measures the specific concept it should measure (Fields, 2009). The instruments selected for this study (MLQ -5x, UWES, and the OCQ) used Likert- type ordinal scales (Avolio et al., 1999; Avolio & Bass, 2004; Bass & Avolio, 1990; Cohen, 1996; Meyer et al., 2002; Schaufeli et al., 2006). Cronbach's alpha established reliability for each subscale (Fields, 2009). Results reported showed whether there was a significant relationship to two decimal places.

Construct validity relates to the degree to which a test measures what it claims, or how well a statistical test represents it (Cooper & Shindler, 2015; Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). The MLQ instrument provides strong construct validity among its subscales (Avolio & Bass, 2004). Several studies in literature confirmed the fact that the MLQ supports construct validity (Freeborough & Patterson, 2015).

Reliability

Reliability tests how consistently an instrument measures a specific concept (Fields, 2009). Researchers demonstrated the reliability of the three instruments selected
in this research study (i.e., MLQ-5x, UWES-9, and OCQ) in a number of previous studies (Avolio et al., 1999). Cronbach's alpha, which measures internal consistency, substantiates that UWES-9 exhibits good internal consistency and test-retest reliabilities (Schaufeli et al., 2006). Earlier researchers have also investigated OCQ reliability. The three subcomponents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment provide measurements with stable reliabilities (Meyer & Allen, 1991).

Pilot testing the three instruments was not necessary due to the established reliability provided in previous studies.

Ethical Procedures

Ethical considerations for research relates to responsibility, integrity, and respecting the human rights and dignity of participants. Researchers must ensure the privacy and confidentiality of study participants and appropriately anticipate the realm of possible uses of study information. Researchers do not attempt to secure opportunities that will promote personal gain. Researchers attempt to design research that minimizes risk to participants. Although a research study may not be risk-free, it was a reasonable expectation that no intentional harm would occur due to participation in this research. Walden University requires an approved Institutional Research Board (IRB) application, IRB approvals, and completed ethical research training prior to the start of the data collection process. The Walden University IRB approval number for this research study was 02-14-18-0279588.

The participation of the individuals in this study was voluntary. Participants did not personally receive monetary compensation for agreeing to participate. There was no consequences for not participating or completing a survey. SurveyMonkey® audience panel respondents do not personally receive incentives or compensation for their participation. SurveyMonkey® does donate \$.50 to a charity of the respondent's choice for each survey completed. Each potential participant received an icon in the audience panel account as an "invitation to participate". The survey explained the purpose of the study and the parameters for use of information provided by the responses. Informed consent was represented by each participant by selecting the appropriate consent box on the bottom of the consent form. All study participants indicated that they understood all relevant information regarding the decision to participate in the study (National Institutes of Health, 2011).

I will publish the results of the study. After May 1, 2018, I will provide the research study participants with the final results of the study. The SurveyMonkey® audience panel respondents to the survey will be informed about the availability of the final study results on the study Consent Form. Study respondents will be advised to access <u>www.Facebook.com</u> and search for the group "Transformational leadership-nonprofit volunteer engage/commit study result." I will publish the compilation of all of the study results, charts, and corresponding graphs. Researchers have an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of data. It will not be possible to associate a completed survey with a specific participant or class of participants. The survey participants' data and the response information was exported from Microsoft Excel 2016 into Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 24. SPSS was used to run a statistical analysis. BoxCryptor, a secure and encrypted electronic data storage system, stores the

study data on a supplemental computer, which was locked in a fire proof safe. The research data will remain in storage for the minimum 5 year time period, at which time the data will undergo destruction.

Summary

This chapter included an outline of the research methodology selected to examine the research questions and test the hypotheses. Chapter 3 included an overview of the research methodology, research design, sample, instrumentation, data collection and analysis, validity and reliability, and ethical considerations of the study. The purpose of this quantitative study involved examining the relationship between transformational leadership, engagement and commitment, and their respective subscales. Simple linear regression tested the significance of the relationship between variables (X,Y). The independent variable was transformational leadership (Y_1). The two dependent variables were volunteer workforce engagement (X_1) and volunteer workforce commitment (X_2). The research hypotheses was tested utilizing *t-test* statistical analysis.

The target population for this study, 111 volunteers in nonprofit organizations, received an icon in their audience panel account as an "invitation for participation" in the research study through SurveyMonkey®. This survey used three published instruments: The MLQ-5x, the UWES-9, and the OCQ. Data responses of the participants were collected, analyzed, and run through the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). The confidentiality of the participants' responses will be protected and data from the study will be stored for 5 years.

Chapter 4 will focus on the results of the study, including the data collection, recruitment response rate for (attempted vs. completed), descriptive and demographic characteristics of the sample population, representative appropriateness of sample, and the correlational and multiple linear regression tests on the study variables.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

This chapter provides an analysis of the data collected through the research process. Chapter 4 includes sections on survey purpose, research questions, hypotheses, data collection/response rates, analysis of descriptive statistics, evaluation of assumptions, study results, and an introduction to Chapter 5.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between transformational leadership, nonprofit volunteer engagement, and its subscales (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption), and nonprofit volunteer commitment, and its subscales (i.e., affective, continuance, and normative) in the nonprofit sector. The independent variable of this study was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were nonprofit volunteer workforce engagement and commitment. The population for this study consisted of 111 nonprofit employees, as identified by SurveyMonkey® online survey administration.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The basic research questions and hypotheses for this study were:

RQ1: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ – 5x. The dependent variable, volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, was measured by utilizing the UWES. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ2: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 2: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses was tested by means of simple linear regression. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ –5x. The dependent variable, volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations, was assessed by utilizing the OCQ. The hypothesis test was assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

RQ3: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship between transformational leadership each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The above hypotheses were tested by means of a set of simple linear regression to see how transformational leadership impacted each of the subscales of engagement. The independent variable, transformational leadership, was measured by utilizing the MLQ – 5x. The dependent variables, the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations, were measured by the UWES-9. The subscales of engagement measured the level of engagement that the volunteer worker develops with the organization through a positive work experience, characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption. The hypothesis test assessed whether transformational leadership was statistically related (i.e. correlated) to the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ4: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_04 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

As this will be a correlational research study, statistical analysis will be used to measure the relationship between continuous variables (Curtis et al., 2015; Cooper & Schindler, 2011). The rationale for using a correlational analysis is that it provides a predictive assessment about the relationship between the variables and ways they are

related. Correlational analysis will not provide an assessment of causality of the phenomenon.

Data Collection

The research survey was distributed through SurveyMonkey® to an audience response panel that adhered to the parameters of the study. The target study population met the required conditions to participate, which were to be adults (ages 18- 65) who selfidentified their role as volunteers in nonprofit organizations. In an effort to minimize bias, this study included participants who self-identified as volunteers in nonprofit organizations regardless of their race, gender, or their nonprofit organization's mission, vision, size, and geographic location in the United States.

G *Power 3.1 was the sample size calculating software use to determine the required minimum sample size for the research study. According to G* Power 3.1, the minimum sample size of this research study was 82, based upon a power level of .80 and $\alpha = .05$. (See Appendix H.)

Response Rates

Of the 259 surveys delivered, the 111 complete survey responses satisfied the minimum sample size of 82 individuals necessary to provide generalizability to the population at large. Approximately 57% of the surveys were removed for either failing to meet the study sample parameters or failure to complete the survey. The specific research data was analyzed in relation to the research questions and hypotheses.

Instrument Reliability

Cronbach's alpha coefficients were computed for each variable in order to assess the reliability of the three instruments used in the research study. Alpha coefficients above .70 are considered adequate. Cronbach's alpha provided a measure of the reliability or internal consistency of the instruments. Additionally, it ensured that the use of the item statistic was not problematic. The correlations measured the overall instrument reliability. Cohen's standard was used to evaluate the strength of the relationships, where coefficients between .10 and .29 represent a small effect size, coefficients between .30 and .49 represent a moderate effect size, and coefficients above .50 indicate a large effect size (Cohen, 1988). The Cronbach's Alpha coefficients for all three instruments were above .70, and the variable total correlations ranged from 0.44 or moderate to large and positive, indicating acceptable reliability.

Study Results

This study sought to evaluate the impact of transformational leadership on nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The research questions and hypotheses examined the implications of leaders utilizing transformational leadership to affect a change in the attitude and behavior of nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. Three published instruments were used to measure the research variables. (See Appendix I.) The MLQ- 5x was used to measure transformational leadership attributes in the study. The individual characteristics of independent variable transformational leadership were not measured. The data from the MLQ instrument was used in the aggregate to measure the impact of the charismatic leadership on nonprofit volunteers. The UWES-9 and the OCQ was used to measure the subscales of the dependent variables engagement and commitment, respectively. The UWES-9 measured the nonprofit volunteer engagement subscales: vigor, dedication, and absorption. The OCQ was used to measure the subscales of nonprofit volunteer commitment: affective, continuance, and normative. A demographic survey designed by SurveyMonkey® was used to assess the age, gender, household income, and region of the country. (See Appendix J.)

Test Assumptions

I assessed the assumptions of equality of variance and homogeneity of the correlations by running the reliability test of Cronbach's Alpha, an ANOVA-analysis of variance, and a simple linear regression to assess the equality of variances between the variables. The assumption of equality of variances was met in most of the tests at p < 0.001. Outliers were not problematic. R^2 values, which represented how much variance in the dependent variable is explained by the predictor variable, indicated that while the relationships were weak to moderate in significance, the predictor variable did not fully explain all of the variations among the dependent variables, especially with OCQ_C (Continuance).

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistical analyses were calculated on data from the 111 participants who responded to the survey. The most frequently observed category of age was 45-60 (n = 46, 41%). The most frequently observed category of gender was female (n = 95, 86%). The age and gender observed results were supported by the 2015 Bureau of Labor Statistics data that show that the average age of volunteers was 45 -54 and that women continue to volunteer at a higher rate than men (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2016) The most frequently observed category of household income was 25,000-49,000 (n=21, 19%). The most frequently observed category of the region was South Atlantic (n=27, 24%). Table 2 provides data results of the demographics information for the respondents by age, gender, household income, and region of the country. The descriptive statistics of the nominal variables are represented in Table 3.

Frequency Table for Nominal Variables

Variable	n	%
Age		
18-29	13	11
30-44	27	24.3
45-60	46	41.4
60+	25	22.5
Gender		
Female	95	85.6
Male	16	14.4
Household Income		
\$0-9,999	6	5.4
\$10,000-24,999	12	10.8
\$25,000-49,999	21	18.9
\$50,000-74,999	13	11.7
\$75,000-99,999	13	11.7
\$100,000-124,999	15	13.5
\$125,000-149,999	5	4.5
\$150,000-174,999	3	2.7
\$175,000-199,999	3	2.7
\$200,00+	5	4.5
No Answer	15	13.5
Region		
East North Central	13	11.7
East South Central	6	5.4
Middle Atlantic	12	10.8
South Atlantic	28	25.2
Mountain	12	10.8
New England	4	3.6
Pacific	17	15.3
West North Central	6	5.4
West South Central	13	11.7
No Answer	1	0.9

Descriptive Statistics of Variables (n=111)

Variable	М	SD	SE _M	Skewness	Kurtosis
		0.05	0.00	0.01	0.04
MLQ_Total	2.77	0.85	0.08	-0.81	0.24
UWES_Total	4.28	1.27	0.12	-0.68	-0.22
OCQ_Total	3.12	0.92	0.09	-0.43	-0.08
UWES_V	4.10	1.34	0.13	-0.55	-0.29
UWES_D	4.61	1.43	0.14	-0.93	-0.02
UWES_A	4.14	1.29	0.12	-0.71	0.27
OCQ_A	3.95	1.54	0.15	-0.80	0.20
OCQ_C	2.15	1.47	0.14	0.03	-0.83
OCQ_N	3.26	0.95	0.09	-0.15	0.42

Note: (n = 111), - denotes the sample size too small to calculate statistic

Prior to conducting the correlation analysis, the data were checked for normality, outliers, linearity, and homoscedasticity. First, the data was checked for outliers using boxplots. Outliers deviate from the data set and cause erroneous conclusions (Field, 2013). The boxplots showed that transformational leadership had zero outliers, engagement had zero outliers, and commitment zero outliers. The case processing of the study variables are represented in Table 4. The three variable boxplots can be seen in Figure 2.

Case Processing Summary by Variables

	Valid			Cases missi	ng		Total
Variable	N	Percent	N	Perce	nt	Ν	Percent
MLQ_Total	111	100%		0	100%	111	100%
UWES_Total	111	100%		0	100%	111	100%
OCQ_Total	111	100%		0	100%	111	100%



Figure 2. Boxplot of outliers for transformational leadership, engagement and commitment variables

Research Question 1 and Hypotheses

RQ1: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

The reliability and internal consistency for the instruments indicated high internal consistency and reliability. The Cronbach's alpha was .96, and .95 for the MLQ and UWES-9 which indicated excellent internal consistency and reliability.

Research question 1 assessed transformational leadership (MLQ_Total) and engagement (UWES_Total) in the aggregate. The linear regression indicated the relationships measured through the regression model were significant. The R^2 indicated the transformational leadership predicted approximately 23% of the variance in UWES_Total. As B = 0.72, one unit increase of MLQ would increase the value of UWES by 0.72 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis. The research data clarified that transformational leadership does affect the level of nonprofit volunteer engagement. Transformational leadership has a positive effect on follower work engagement when follower characteristics are more positive (Zhu et al., 2009). Transformational leaders utilize inspiration, creativity, and motivation to enhance worker engagement in the organizational vision and work tasks (Choi, Goh,

Adam, & Tan, 2016). Leadership which embraces transformational attributes inspire workers vision to look beyond personal concerns and strive to offer creative solutions to organizational challenges. Workers become more engaged as leaders support and promote innovation. Workers who have no outlet to freely share input become disengaged from the organization and begin to reduce work efforts (Badawy & Bassiouny, 2014). Transformational leaders are leaders who value the intellectual capabilities of workers, nurture innovation, and stimulate creativity. When transformational leaders make the workers feel empowered that their individual abilities and needs are understood and valued by leadership, the workers become more engaged. (Bi, Ehrich, & Ehrich, 2012).

A simple linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_Total. The "Enter" variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumption of normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and the absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. In the P-P scatterplot, the solid line represents the theoretical quantiles of a normal distribution. Normality can be assumed if the points form a relatively straight line. The initial normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 3). The normality plot of the dependent variable UWES_Total was shown by the Regression Studentized MLQ_Total and UWES_Total (Figure 4). *Multicollinearity*. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Table 5

Model of MLQ Total and Dependent Variable UWES Total

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std Err of the estimate
.480 ^a	.230	.223	1.12

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: UWES_Total

Table 6

Anova of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total

	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	
Regression	40.833	1	40.83	
Residual	136.445	109	1.25	
Total	177.277	110		

a. Dependent variable: UWES_Total

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 7

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_Total

	Unstandar coefficien	dized ts	Standardized coefficient
	В	Std Error	Beta
(Constant)	2.302	.363	
MLQ_Total	.716	.125	.480

a. Dependent variable: UWES_Total

Residual Statistics of M	<i>Q</i> Total and Dependent	Variable UWES Total
--------------------------	------------------------------	---------------------

				Std	
	Min	Max	Mean	deviation	Ν
Predicted value	2.37	5.17	4.28	.609	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.135	1.449	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.106	.351	.144	.043	111
Adjusted predicted	d				
value	2.01	5.15	4.29	.622	111
Residual	-3.51	3.29	000	1.11	111
Std residual	-3.139	2.943	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-3.165	3.100	.002	1.009	111
Deleted residual	-3.57	3.65	.005	1.15	111
Stud. deleted					
residual	-3.31	3.23	.002	1.02	111
Mahal distance	001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.524	.014	.055	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111



Figure 3. Normal P-P plot of regression standardized residual



Figure 4. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ_Total and UWES_Total

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 32.62, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.23$, indicating that approximately 23% of the variance in UWES_Total is explainable by MLQ Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_Total, B = 0.72, t(109) = 5.71, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ Total will increase the value of UWES_Total by 0.72 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement, which supports the H_a1 hypothesis. Table 9 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ Total predicting UWES Total

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	2.30	0.36	[1.58, 3.02]	0.00	6.34	< .001
MLQ_Total	0.72	0.13	[0.47, 0.96]	0.48	5.71	<.001
17 . D 1/	T(1, 1, 0, 0) 20 (2					

Note. Results: F(1,109) = 32.62, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.23$ Unstandardized regression equation: UWES Total = 2.30 + 0.72*MLQ Total

Research Question 2 and Hypotheses

RQ2: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

The reliability and internal consistency for the instruments indicated high internal consistency and reliability. The Cronbach's alpha was .96, and .84 for the MLQ_Total and OCQ_Total which indicated excellent and good internal consistency and reliability, respectively. RQ 2 assessed transformational leadership (MLQ_ Total) and commitment (OCQ) in the aggregate. The linear regression indicated the relationships measured through the regression model were significant. The R^2 indicated the transformational leadership predicted approximately 19% of the variance in OCQ_Total. As B = 0.47, one unit increase of MLQ would increase the value of OCQ units by 0.47 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and commitment, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis, though the significant relationships between leadership behaviors and both organizational and leadership effectiveness. Earlier studies support the existing assertion in the field of

literature that transformational leadership behaviors stimulate organizational commitment (Erkutlu, 2008).

A simple linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_Total. The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 5). The normality plot of the dependent variable OCQ_Total was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and OCQ_Total_(Figure 6).

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Field, 2009; Bates et al., 2014; Osborne & Walters, 2002).

Multicollinearity. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_Total

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std Err of the estimate
.436ª	.190	.183	.836

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: OCQ_Total

Table 11

ANOVA of MLQ Total and Dependent Variable OCQ Total

	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig
Regression	17.9	1	17.9	25.61	.000 ^b
Residual	76.164	109			
Total	94.1	110			

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_Totalb. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 12

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_Total

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standard coefficie	ized nt	
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig
(Constant)	1.81	.271		6.67	.000
MLQ_Total	.474	.094	.436	5.06	.000

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_Total

<i>Residual Statistics of MLQ</i>	Total and Dependent	Variable	UWES	Total
				Std

				Siu	
	Min	Max	Mean	deviation	Ν
Predicted value	2.37	5.17	4.28	.609	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.135	1.449	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.106	.351	.144	.043	111
Adjusted predicted	d				
value	2.01	5.15	4.29	.622	111
Residual	-3.51	3.29	000	1.11	111
Std residual	-3.139	2.943	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-3.165	3.100	.002	1.009	111
Deleted residual	-3.57	3.65	.005	1.15	111
Stud. deleted					
residual	-3.31	3.23	.002	1.02	111
Mahal distance	001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.524	.014	.055	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111



Figure 5. Normal P-P plot of regression standardized residual



Figure 6. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ_Total and OCQ_Total

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 25.61, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.19$, indicating that approximately 19% of the variance in OCQ_Total is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_Total, B = 0.47, t(109) = 5.06, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of OCQ_Total by 0.47 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement which supports the H_a 2 hypothesis. Table 14 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 14

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting OCQ_Total

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	p
				F	-	F
(Intercept)	1.81	0.27	[1.27, 2.35]	0.00	6.67	<.001
MLQ_Total	0.47	0.09	[0.29, 0.66]	0.44	5.06	< .001
<i>Note.</i> Results: $F(1,109) = 25.61, p < .001, R^2 = 0.19$						

Unstandardized regression equation: OCQ Total = 1.81 + 0.47*MLQ Total

Research Question 3 and Hypotheses

RQ3: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations?

 H_0 3: There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 3: There is a relationship between transformational leadership each of the subscales of volunteer workforce engagement in nonprofit organizations.

RQ3 assessed transformational leadership (MLQ_Total) and engagement the subscales of engagement (UWES_V, UWES_D, and UWES_A). The linear regression indicated the relationships measured through the regression model ranged from low moderate to moderately significant, demonstrating linear relationships among the study variables. The R^2 indicated the transformational leadership predicted approximately 21% of the variance in UWES_V (Vigor) As B = 0.72, one unit increase of MLQ would increase the value of UWES_V by 0.72 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and the Vigor subscale of engagement, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis.

The R^2 indicated that transformational leadership predicted approximately 28% of the variance in UWES_D (Dedication). As B = 0.89, one unit increase of MLQ would increase the value of UWES_D by 0.89 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and the Dedication subscale of engagement, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis.

The R^2 indicated that transformational leadership predicted approximately 12% of the variance in UWES_A (Absorption). As B = 0.54, one unit increase of MLQ_Total would increase UWES_A by 0.54 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and the Absorption subscale of engagement, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis.

Positive and fulfilling worker engagement is described as state of being characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption (Schaufeli, Salanova Gonzalez-Roma, & Bakker, 2002). Vigor is associated with an energetic willingness to invest in one's work tasks. Dedication is associated with a state of inspiration to meet the challenge of one's work tasks. Absorption is associated with the happiness which comes from being immersed in one's work. Each state of worker engagement is a connection to optimal organization performance (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003) and high morale (Britt, Dickinson, Moore, Castro, & Adler, 2007). Engaged individuals demonstrate an affinity toward their work experience which heightens their involvement and well-being in the work situation. Transformational leaders create a work engagement culture which changes the organization from a top down hierarchical approach to a collaborative environment of management and workers working in tandem to transform organization goals into organization wide behavior, philosophy, and structure. Assembling an engaged organizational environment is a challenge for many organizations. Transformational leadership is critical to the development of effective strategies to elevate the workforce to meet optimal performance.

Research Question 3: Regression Analysis for MLQ Total and UWES V (Vigor)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_V (Vigor). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 7). The normality plot of the dependent variable subscale UWES_V was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and UWES_V (Figure 8).

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values. (Field, 2009; Bates et al., Osborne & Walters, 2002) Table 15

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std Err of the estimate
.458 ^a	.210	.202	1.19

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ Total

b. Dependent variable: UWES_V

ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)

	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig
Regression	41.1	1	41.1	28.9	.000 ^b
Residual	155.0	109	1.422		
Total	196.1	110			

a. Dependent variable: UWES_V

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 17

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standardi coefficier	zed nt		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	2.1	.387		5.46	.000	
MLQ_Total	.72	.134	.458	5.38	.000	

a. Dependent variable: UWES_V

Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_V (Vigor)

				Std	
	Min	Max	Mean	deviation	Ν
Predicted value	2.18	4.98	4.10	.611	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.113	.374	.153	.046	111
Adjusted predicted	l				
value	1.80	4.97	4.09	.626	111
Residual	-3.55	3.48	0.00	1.19	111
Std residual	-2.99	2.92	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-3.00	3.08	.002	1.01	111
Deleted residual	-3.60	3.86	.006	1.21	111
Stud. deleted					
residual	-3.12	3.20	.002	1.02	111
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.524	.014	.055	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111

Residual Statistics

Dependent Variable: UWES_V



Figure 7. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 8. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ Total and UWES_V

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, $F(1,109) = 28.90, p < .001, R^2 = 0.21$, indicating that approximately 21% of the variance in UWES_V is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_V, B = 0.72, t(109) = 5.38, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of UWES_V by 0.72 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement subscale Vigor, which supports the H_a 2 hypothesis. Table 19 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 19

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_V

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	2.11	0.39	[1.34, 2.88]	0.00	5.46	< .001
MLQ_Total	0.72	0.13	[0.45, 0.98]	0.46	5.38	< .001
Note Results F(1	109) = 28.90	$n < 00^{\circ}$	$1 R^2 = 0.21$			

Unstandardized regression equation: $UWES_V = 2.11 + 0.72*MLQ_Total$

Research Question 3: Regression Analysis for MLQ_Total and UWES_D

(Dedication)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_D (Dedication). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of

normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 9). The normality plot of the dependent variable subscale UWES_D was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and UWES_D (Figure 10)

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values.

Table 20

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D (Dedication)

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std err of the estimate
.436 ^a	.190	.183	.836

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: UWES D

Table 21

ANOVA MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D (Dedication)

	Sum of	df	Mean square	F S	Sig
	squares				
Regression	17.9	1	17.9	25.61 .00	00 ^b
Residual	76.164	109			
Total	94.1	110			

a. Dependent variable: UWES D

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D (Dedication)

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standardi coefficier	ized		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	1.81	.271		6.67	.000	
MLQ_Total	.474	.094	.436	5.06	.000	

a. Dependent variable: UWES_D

Table 23

Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_D (Dedication)

Residual Statistics									
	Min	Max	Mean	Std deviation	N				
Predicted value Std predicted	2.23	5.71	4.61	.759	111				
value Std error of	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111				
predicted value Adjusted predicted	.116	.383	.157	.047	111				
value	1.81	5.70	4.60	.773	111				
Residual	-3.59	3.77	.000	1.21	111				
Std residual	-2.94	3.09	.000	.995	111				
Stud. residual	-2.98	3.26	.002	1.01	111				
Deleted residual Stud deleted	-3.65	4.19	.005	1.25	111				
residual	-3.09	3.41	.001	1.03	111				
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111				
Cook's distance Centered leverage	.000	.578	.015	.060	111				
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111				

Dependent variable : UWES_D



Figure 9. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 10. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ Total and UWES_D

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 42.59, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.28$, indicating that approximately 28% of the variance in UWES_D is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_D, B = 0.89, t(109) = 6.53, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of UWES_D by 0.89 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement subscale Dedication, which supports the H_a 3 hypothesis. Table 24 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 24.

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting UWES_D

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	2.14	0.40	[1.35, 2.92]	0.00	5.40	<.001
MLQ_Total	0.89	0.14	[0.62, 1.16]	0.53	6.53	< .001
Note Dogulto: E(1	100) - 42.50	n < 001	$D^2 = 0.29$			

Note. Results: F(1,109) = 42.59, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.28$ Unstandardized regression equation: UWES_D = 2.14 + 0.89*MLQ_Total

Research Question 3: Regression Analysis for MLQ_Total and UWES_A

(Absorption)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_A (Absorption). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of

normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and absence of outliers were examined.
Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 11). The normality plot of the dependent variable UWES_A was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and UWES A (Figure 14).

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Field, 2009; Bates et al., 2014; Osborne & Walters, 2002).

Multicollinearity. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Table 25

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A (Absorption)

R	R^2	Adjusted R ²	Std err of the estimate
.353ª	.125	.117	1.22

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Totalb. Dependent variable: UWES A

Table 26

ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A (Absorption)

Regression	22.98	1	22.9	15.54	.000 ^b
Residual	161.16	109	1.48		
Total	184.14	110			

a. Dependent variable: UWES_A

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 27

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standard coefficie	lized ent		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	2.66	.394		6.74	.000	
MLQ_Total	.537	.136	.353	3.94	.000	

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A (Absorption)

a. Dependent variable: UWES_A

Table 28

Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable UWES_A (Absorption)

	Min	Max	Mean	Std deviation	Ν
Predicted value	2.71	4.81	4.14	.457	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.115	.381	.156	.047	111
Adjusted predicted					
value	2.43	4.80	4.14	.467	111
Residual	-4.56	2.86	.000	1.21	111
Std residual	-3.75	2.35	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-3.79	2.42	.002	1.01	111
Deleted residual	-4.64	3.02	.004	1.23	111
Stud. deleted					
residual	-4.04	2.47	001	1.02	111
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.281	.012	.035	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111

Dependent variable: UWES_A



Figure 11. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 12. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ Total and UWES_A

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) =15.54, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.12$, indicating that approximately 12% of the variance in UWES A is explainable by MLQ Total. MLQ Total significantly predicted UWES A, B = 0.54, t(109) = 3.94, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ Total will increase the value of UWES A by 0.54 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement subscale Absorption, which supports the H_a3 hypothesis. Table 29 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 29

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ Total predicting UWES A

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	2.66	0.39	[1.88, 3.44]	0.00	6.74	<.001
MLQ_Total	0.54	0.14	[0.27, 0.81]	0.35	3.94	< .001
$M_{\rm eff}$ D a multiplication $E(1)$	100) - 1554		$1 D^2 = 0.12$			

Note. Results: F(1,109) = 15.54, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.12$ Unstandardized regression equation: UWES_A = 2.66 + 0.54*MLQ_Total

Research Question 4 and Hypotheses

RQ4: What is the relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations?

 H_04 : There is no relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between transformational leadership and each of the subscales of volunteer workforce commitment in nonprofit organizations.

Research question 4 assessed transformational leadership (MLQ_Total) and engagement the subscales of engagement (OCQ_A, OCQ_C, and OCQ_N). The linear regression indicated the relationships measured through the regression model ranged from low moderate to moderately significant, demonstrating linear relationships among the study variables. The R^2 indicated the transformational leadership predicted approximately 34% of the variance in OCQ_A (Affective) As B = 1.05, one unit increase of MLQ_Total would increase the value of OCQ_A by 1.05 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and the Affective subscale of commitment, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis.

The linear regression model of MCQ_Total and OCQ_C was not significant. R^2 indicated that transformational leadership predicted approximately 0% of the variance in OCQ_C. As the regression model was not significant, the individual predictors were not further examined. This indicated that there was no relationship between transformational leadership and the Continuance subscale of commitment, which supported the acceptance of the null hypothesis.

The R^2 indicated that transformational leadership predicted approximately 5% of the variance in OCQ N (Normative). As B = 0.25, one unit increase of MLQ Total would increase OCQ N by 0.25 units. This indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and the Normative subscale of commitment, which supported the rejection of the null hypothesis. Organizational commitment represents the attachment, intention, identification, or participation of workers in an organization. Commitment is positively affected by a worker's loyalty, morale, happiness, perceived satisfaction with the organization culture, and empowerment by leadership. Commitment is defined as a mind-set or psychological state that increases the likelihood of employees retaining membership in their organization (Meyer & Allen, 1991). There are 3 subscales of commitment: affective, continuance, and normative. Affective commitment refers to the desire to remain with an organization. Continuance commitment refers to the perceived cost of leaving an organization. Normative commitment is associated with the perceived obligation to remain with an organization. In the context of volunteering, prior research studies have indicated the commitment and engagement are correlated with an increase tendency to remain with an organization as a volunteer, as well as stronger psychological well being (Chacon & Macon, 2013). Strong attachment to an organization increases the likelihood of worker commitment to an organization. Nonprofit organization leadership must craft strategies to motivate the workforce without the use of traditional incentives, salaries, bonus compensation or awards.

Transformational leadership must acknowledge workers' needs and contributions, providing opportunities to recognize those needs and contributions and strengthen worker commitment to the organization.

Research Question 4: Regression Analysis for MLQ_Total and OCQ-A (Affective)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_A (Affective). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and the absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 13). The normality plot of the dependent variable OCQ_A was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and OCQ A (Figure 14).

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Field, 2009; Bates et al., 2014; Osborne & Walters, 2002).

Multicollinearity. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Table 30

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A (Affective)

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std err of the estimate
.583ª	.340	.334	1.25

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: OCQ_A

Table 31

ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A (Affective)

	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig
Regression	88.1	1	88.1	56.1	.000 ^b
Residual	171.9	109	1.571		
Total	259.4	110			

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_A

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 32

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_A (Affective)

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standard coefficie	ized nt		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	1.04	.407		2.56	.012	
MLQ_Total	1.05	.140	.583	7.49	.000	

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_A

Table 33

Residual Statistics of MLQ	Total and Dependent	Variable OCQ A	(Affective)
v ~ _	- 1	\sim	\ 00 /

				Std	
	Min	Max	Mean	deviation	Ν
Predicted value	1.14	5.25	3.95	.895	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.119	.393	.161	.048	111
Adjusted predicted					
value	1.21	5.27	3.95	.899	111
Residual	-4.24	3.13	.000	1.25	111
Std residual	-3.38	2.50	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-3.40	2.56	.001	1.01	111
Deleted residual	-4.29	3.30	.002	1.27	111
Stud. deleted					
residual	-3.58	2.63	003	1.02	111
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.174	.010	.023	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111

Dependent variable : OCQ_A



Figure 13. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 14. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ Total and OCQ_A

Results. The results of the linear regression model of MCQ_Total and OCQ_A were significant, F(1,109) = 56.06, p < 0.001. R^2 value (0.34) indicated that approximately 34% of the variance in OCQ_A is explainable by MLQ_Total.

MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_A, B = 1.05, t (109) = 7.49, p < 0.001. This indicated that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of OCQ_A by 1.05 units. This further indicated that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and commitment subscale, Affective, which supports the H_a 4 hypothesis. Table 34 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 34

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ Total predicting OCQ A

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	1.04	0.41	[0.23, 1.84]	0.00	2.55	.012
MLQ_Total	1.05	0.14	[0.77, 1.33]	0.58	7.49	< .001
Note Results F(1	100) = 56.06	$5 n < 00^{1}$	$1 R^2 = 0.34$			

Note. Results: F(1,109) = 56.06, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.34$ Unstandardized regression equation: OCQ_A = 1.04 + 1.05*MLQ_Total

Research Question 4: Regression Analysis for MLQ_Total and OCQ_C

(Continuance)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_C (Continuance). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of

normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and absence of outliers were examined.

Multicollinearity. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Machler, Bolker & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the

regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 15). The normality plot of the dependent variable OCQ_C was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and OCQ_C (Figure 16)

Homosedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values.

Table 35

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C (Continuance)

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std err of the estimate
.067ª	.005	005	1.472

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: OCQ_C

Table 36

ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C (Continuance)

	Sum of	df	Mean square	F	Sig
	squares				
Regression	1.075	1	1.075	.496	.483 ^b
Residual	236.167	109	2.167		
Total	237.242	110			

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_C

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 37

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C (Continuance)

		coefficients	coefficier	nt		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	1.83	.477		3.828	.000	
MLQ_Total	.116	.165	.067	.704	.483	

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_C

Table 38

Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_C (Continuance)

				Std	
	Min	Max	Mean	deviation	Ν
Predicted value	1.84	2.29	2.15	.099	111
Std predicted					
value	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111
Std error of					
predicted value	.140	.462	.189	.057	111
Adjusted predicted	l				
value	1.55	2.31	2.15	.113	111
Residual	-2.26	3.73	.000	1.47	111
Std residual	-1.54	2.53	.000	.995	111
Stud. residual	-1.55	2.60	.001	1.01	111
Deleted residual	-2.31	3.93	.003	1.50	111
Stud. deleted					
Residual	-1.56	2.67	.001	1.01	111
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111
Cook's distance	.000	.198	.012	.027	111
Centered leverage					
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111

Dependent variable : OCQ_C



Figure 15. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 16. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ_Total and OCQ_C

Results. The results of the linear regression model were not significant, F(1,109) = 0.50, p = .483, $R^2 = 0.00$, indicating MLQ_Total did not explain a significant proportion of variation in OCQ_C. Since the overall model was not significant, the individual predictors were not examined further. This indicates that there was not a significant relationship between transformational leadership and commitment subscale Continuance, which supports the H_04 hypothesis. Table 39 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 39

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ Total predicting OCQ C

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	1.83	0.48	[0.88, 2.77]	0.00	3.83	< .001
MLQ_Total	0.12	0.16	[-0.21, 0.44]	0.07	0.70	.483
\mathbf{M} (\mathbf{D} 1)	$\Gamma(1, 1, 0, 0) = 0, 50$	400	\mathbf{D}^2 0.00			

Note. Results: F(1,109) = 0.50, p = .483, $R^2 = 0.00$ Unstandardized regression equation: OCQ_C = 1.83 + 0.12* MLQ_Total

Research Question 4: Regression Analysis for MLQ_Total and OCQ_N

(Normative)

A linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_N (Normative). The 'Enter' variable selection method was chosen for the linear regression model, which includes all of the selected predictors.

Assumptions. Prior to conducting the linear regression, the assumptions of normality of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals, absence of multicollinearity, and the absence of outliers were examined.

Normality. Normality was evaluated using a P-P scatterplot (Field, 2009; Bates, Mächler, Bolker, & Walker, 2014; DeCarlo, 1997). The normal probability plot of the

regression standardized residual reflected normality (Figure 17). The normality plot of the dependent variable OCQ_Total was shown by the regression studentized MLQ-Total and OCQ_N (Figure 18).

Multicollinearity. Since there was only one predictor variable, multicollinearity does not apply.

Homosedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values.

Table 40

Model of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N (Normative)

R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std err of the estimate
.226 ^a	.051	.043	.943

a. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

b. Dependent variable: OCQ_N

Table 41

ANOVA of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N (Normative)

	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig
Regression	5.146	1	5.146	5.894	.017 ^b
Residual	95.163	109	.873		
Total	100.31	110			

a. Dependent variable: OCQ N

b. Predictors: (Constant), MLQ_Total

Table 42

Coefficients of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N (Normative)

		Unstandardized coefficients	Standardi coefficier	ized nt		
	В	Std Error	Beta	t	Sig	
(Constant)	2.559	.303		8.447	.000	
MLQ_Total	.254	.105	.226	2.428	.017	
D 1 /	• 1 1	0.00				

a. Dependent variable: OCQ_N

Table 43

Residual Statistics of MLQ_Total and Dependent Variable OCQ_N (Normative)

Residual Statistics						
	Min	Max	Mean	Std deviation	Ν	
Predicted value	2.58	3.58	3.26	.216	111	
Std predicted						
value	-3.14	1.45	.000	1.00	111	
Std error of						
predicted value	.089	.293	.120	.036	111	
Adjusted predicted						
value	2.50	3.60	3.26	.220	111	
Residual	-3.01	2.37	.000	.930	111	
Std residual	-3.22	2.53	.000	.995	111	
Stud. residual	-3.25	2.59	.001	1.01	111	
Deleted residual	-3.08	2.49	.001	.951	111	
Stud. deleted						
residual	-3.41	2.67	001	1.02	111	
Mahal distance	.001	9.83	.991	1.49	111	
Cook's distance	.000	.179	.011	.025	111	
Centered leverage						
value	.000	.089	.009	.014	111	



Figure 17. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Figure 18. Regression Studentized Residual MLQ Total and OCQ_N

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 5.89, p = .017, $R^2 = 0.05$, indicating that approximately 5% of the variance in OCQ_N is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_N, B = 0.25, t(109) = 2.43, p = .017. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of OCQ_N by 0.25 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and commitment subscale Normative, which supports the H_a 4 hypothesis. Table 44 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 44

Results for Linear Regression with MLQ_Total predicting OCQ_N

Variable	В	SE	95% CI	β	t	р	
(Intercept)	2.56	0.30	[1.96, 3.16]	0.00	8.45	< .001	
MLQ_Total	0.25	0.10	[0.05, 0.46]	0.23	2.43	.017	
<i>Note.</i> Results: $F(1,109) = 5.89$, $p = .017$, $R^2 = 0.0$							

Unstandardized regression equation: OCQ N = 2.56 + 0.25*MLQ Total

Summary

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact of transformational leadership in predicting nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. The survey was conducted through the SurveyMonkey® survey administration audience response panel. The response rate of those who clicked on the icon to participate in the survey (n = 259) to those who consented to participate in the survey and acknowledged that they had been a volunteer in a US nonprofit organization (n = 111) was 43%. Many of the potential respondents did not provide consent, had not volunteered in an organization in the nonprofit sector, or failed to complete the survey. The descriptive statistics verified

that the demographics of the majority of participants were female (85.6%), were primarily 45-60 years of age (41.4%), and lived in the South Atlantic region of the United States (25.2%). Many of these descriptive statistics reflect the nonprofit volunteer demographics identified by The Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2016)

The reliability and consistency of the MLQ, UWES- 9, and the OCQ, as measured by Cronbach's Alpha, was .95, .96 and .84, respectively. The range of these scores indicated high internal consistency reliability for the instruments employed in the study, using the guidelines suggested by George and Mallery (2016) where > .9 excellent, > .8 good, > .7 acceptable, > .6 questionable, > .5 poor, and \leq .5 unacceptable.

The results of the linear regression model for MLQ_Total and UWES_Total were significant, F(1,109) = 32.62, p < .001. The R^2 value (0.23) indicated that approximately 23% of the variance in UWES_Total is explainable by MLQ Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_Total, B = 0.72, t (109) = 5.71, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ Total will increase the value of UWES_Total by 0.72 units. This indicated that there was relationship between transformational leadership and engagement, which supports the H_a1 hypothesis, though the significance was moderate. The predictive equation was as follows: UWES_Total (Engagement) = 2.30 + 0.72 (MLQ Total).

The results of the linear regression model for MLQ_Total and OCQ_Total were significant, F(1,109) = 25.61, p < .001, R^2 value (0.19) indicated that approximately 19% of the variance in OCQ_Total is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted OCQ_Total, B = 0.47, t(109) = 5.06, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a

one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of OCQ_Total by 0.47 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and commitment which supports the H_a2 hypothesis., though the significance was low moderate. The predictive equation was as follows: OCQ_Total (Commitment) = 1.81 + 0.47(MLQ_Total).

In examining the relationship between transformational leadership and the subscales of engagement, the significance of the relationships ranged from low moderate to moderate. The results of the linear regression model were significant, $F(1,109) = 28.90, p < .001, R^2 = 0.21$, indicating that approximately 21% of the variance in UWES_V is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_V, B = 0.72, t (109) = 5.38, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of UWES_V by 0.72 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement subscale Vigor, which supports the H_a3 hypothesis. The predictive equation was UWES_V (Vigor) = 2.11 + 0.72(MLQ Total).

The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 42.59, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.28$, indicating that approximately 28% of the variance in UWES_D is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_D, B = 0.89, t(109) = 6.53, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ_Total will increase the value of UWES_D by 0.89 units. This indicates that there was a relationship between transformational leadership and engagement subscale Dedication,

which supports the H_a3 hypothesis. The predictive equation was UWES_D (Dedication) = 2.14 + 0.89 (MLQ_Total).

The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(1,109) = 15.54, p < .001, R^2 value (0.12) indicated that approximately 12% of the variance in UWES_A is explainable by MLQ_Total. MLQ_Total significantly predicted UWES_A, B = 0.54, t(109) = 3.94, p < .001. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of MLQ.

Chapter 5 will focus on the discussion, conclusions, and recommendations of the research study, as related to the research purpose, questions, and hypotheses. The chapter will review how the research supports the study's theoretical foundation, provides additional informational to the existing literature on transformational leadership, engagement, and commitment of nonprofit volunteers, and clarify the implications for this research on future research, practice, and positive social change. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Chapter 5 presents the discussion, conclusions, and recommendations of the research results that appeared in Chapter 4. This chapter will review the findings of the study as it relates to the research purpose, questions, and hypotheses. Specifically, chapter 5 will describe how this research supports the context of the study 's theoretical framework, clarify how the research adds to the body of literature that exists on the subject of transformational leadership, engagement, and commitment of volunteers in U.S. nonprofit organizations, and affirm the potential impact for positive social change in the community.

Interpretation of the Findings

This purpose of this quantitative correlation research was to evaluate the impact of transformational leadership on volunteer engagement and commitment within US nonprofit organizations. The independent variable for this study was transformational leadership. The dependent variables were engagement and commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations. Transformational leadership, which is composed of five attributes (i.e. idealized attitudes, idealized behaviors, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration), was assessed, in aggregate, to observe if it had a mediating effect on the engagement and commitment of nonprofit volunteers. Prior research indicated a significant relationship between transformational leadership and engagement and commitment. This research study sought to evaluate the effect of the transformational leadership on the subscales of engagement (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption) and the subscales of commitment (i.e., affective, continuance, and normative) utilizing three existing survey instruments: MLQ-5x, UWES-9, and OCQ.

Volunteers in US organizations were surveyed through a 52-item questionnaire administered through SurveyMonkey®. The survey used 20 questions from the MLQ-5x, nine questions from the UWES-9, 18 questions from the OCQ, and five demographic questions from SurveyMonkey®. (i.e., age, gender, household income, region of country, and type of electronic device on which the survey was completed). Additionally, two qualifying questions were included for respondents to affirmatively answer in order to proceed to the actual study survey: (a) consent to participate in the survey, and (b) affirmation that they were volunteers in an US nonprofit organization.

The research study was distributed through SurveyMonkey® to a specialized audience response panel that adhered to the parameters of the study. The target study population met the required conditions to participate as adults (ages 18-65), who self-identified their role as volunteers in nonprofit organizations. In an effort to minimize bias, SurveyMonkey® selected participants regardless of their race, gender, and the mission, vision, size, and geographic location of their US nonprofit organization.

A total of 259 participants were invited to participate in the research study and 111 participants responded by completing the questionnaire, for a 46.6% response rate. Approximately 57% of the prospective participants were removed for failing to meet the study parameters or due to failure to complete the survey. Descriptive statistics calculated from the research findings indicated that the most frequently observed category of Age was 45-60 (n= 46.41%). Gender results indicated the most observed

category were Female (n=95, 86%). The age and gender results are supported through the findings of the 2015 Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics 2016 data which showed that the average age of volunteers in U.S. nonprofit organizations was 45-54 years of age, and that women continue to volunteer at a higher rate than men. The most frequently observed category of household income was \$25,000 – \$49,999 (n=21, 19%). The most frequently observed category for the region was South Atlantic (n=27, 24%).

According to the research findings delineated in Chapter 4, a significant relationship was found to exist between transformational leadership and 8 of the 9 subscales of engagement and commitment. Transformational leadership did positively affect engagement vigor, dedication, absorption and affective and normative commitment. Transformational leadership did not a have a significant relationship with continuance commitment, so the null hypothesis could not be rejected. Chapter 5 will reiterate the key findings of the relationships among the study variables, based upon the research data.

Prior research has demonstrated a significant relationship between transformational leadership and employee engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations. Transformational leadership theory served as the theoretical foundation for this research study. Leaders who employ the transformational leadership style affect dynamic change in workforce performance outcomes and behaviors (Zhu et al., 2016). Freeborough (2012) acknowledged that a positive established link between transformational leadership and employee existed between nonprofit leader engagement and commitment. This study confirmed Freeborough's (2012) findings that there is a significant relationship between transformational leadership and engagement vigor, dedication, and absorption. He noted a negative relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment in the affective and continuance subscale levels. The research from this study affirmed that the relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment affective and continuance subscales were weak to no relationship, respectively. This research study effort successfully examined the relationships of transformational leadership and engagement and commitment at the subscale level and found the Freeborough (2012) results to be accurately assessed.

Prior studies have noted the connection between transformational leadership and enhanced employee engagement and commitment in for-profit organizations (Marathe & Balasubramanian, 2013). However, fewer studies have been conducted to assess those relationships in the nonprofit organizational sector (Riggio et al, 2004). Though engagement has been linked to a positive relationship with transformational leadership, few studies have focused on the impact of that relationship in nonprofit organizations (Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). Among for-profits and nonprofit organizations, leaders who can effectively manage the workforce must motivate workers to embrace the organization's vision as well as work collaboratively toward the organization purpose and goals (Bass & Avolio, 1995; Phillips, 2015).

Limitations of the Study

Trustworthiness of the Data

The credibility of the data was ensured through established survey instruments used in the study. Each of the instruments used in the study were published questionnaires whose validity and reliability have been demonstrated in prior studies. Three survey instruments were employed to collect the research data from the respondents: The MLQ, the UWES-9, and the OCQ. The MLQ measured transformational leadership (Bass & Avolio, 1990), the UWES-9 measured nonprofit volunteer engagement (Schaufeli et al, 2006), and the OCQ measured the commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations (Meyer, Allen, & Smith, 1993).

Data credibility was preserved through the use of the SurveyMonkey® survey administration. Data was collected from 111 individuals who had served as volunteers at U.S. nonprofit organizations. The anonymity of the survey respondents was ensured through exclusion of the collection of identifying information such as names and e-mail addresses. The use of SurveyMonkey® for survey administration provided reliable collection of the study data. Using SurveyMonkey® enhanced the response rate by allowing the participants to respond at their convenience within the time parameters of the survey process. Potential participants received instructions to complete the survey over a time frame of up to7 business days. Anticipated time to respond to all items in the survey was 10-15 minutes. The actual survey concluded in less than 48 hours with 111 completed surveys.

Validity

This quantitative research involved three measures of validity: external, internal, and construct. The external validity is related to the extent to which the published instruments used during the study provided the opportunity to extrapolate generalization over the population at large. The study only targeted volunteers in US nonprofit organizations. The results of this quantitative study were limited by the population that was surveyed. This study did not solicit prospective participants from nonprofits in other countries, therefore the generalizability is limited to the population in the United States. Internal validity assessed how well the published instrument measured the study variables that were intended to be measured. The three instruments utilized in this study, the MLQ 5-Short, UWES-9, and the OCQ were long tested and validated questionnaires which minimized a potential instrument threat to internal validity (Avolio et al., 1999; Avolio & Bass, 2004; Schaufeli et al., 2006). Construct validity refers to the degree to which a test measures what it claims to measure, or how a statistical test represents it (Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). Several earlier studies confirm the fact that the published instruments used in this research study provided strong construct validity (Avolio & Bass, 2004, Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). Cronbach's alpha was used to measure the internal consistency and test-re-test reliabilities (Schaufeli et al., 2006). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were calculated for each of the study variables to assess the reliability of the three instruments that were employed. Cohen's standard was used to evaluate the strength of the relationships, where coefficients between .10 and .29 represented a small effect size, coefficients between .30 and .49 represented a moderate effect size, and

coefficients above .50 indicated a large effect size (Cohen, 1988). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients for all three study instruments were above .70, and the variable total correlations ranged from 0.44 or moderate to large and positive, which indicated acceptable reliability for this study.

Ethical Considerations

The ethical considerations for research refers to the responsibility, integrity, and respect of human rights and dignity of participants (Academy of Management, 2011). This study adhered to the ethical principles required by the IRB. Participants were given informed consent forms regarding: the purpose of the research, how the research would be utilized, how the results of the study could be accessed, how their anonymity would be preserved, the minimization of risks to them as participants, the voluntary nature of the participation in the research, the lack of consequences for choosing to participate/ refusing to participate or failing to complete the survey, the participant information regarding ongoing questions or how to report concerns to the Walden University IRB and the \$.50 compensation that SurveyMonkey® would pay to the charity of their choice for completion of the survey. Each participant had to agree to participate on the research consent form. Participation was voluntary on the part of the SurveyMonkey® audience response panel, and the participants could choose to withdraw from the survey at anytime, without consequence. No identifiable information was collected or maintained on any of the participants. An application for research was completed submitted, and approved by the Walden University IRB, prior to the commencement of the research process. (IRB Approval # 02-14-18-0279588)

The survey participants' data and the response information was exported from Microsoft Excel 2016 into Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 24. SPSS was used to run a statistical analysis. The data was analyzed using a simple linear regression through SPSS. The data was further analyzed utilizing Cronbach's alpha, F tests, ANOVA, *p*, *B*, and R^2 .

After May 1, 2018, I provided the research study participants with the final results of the study. The SurveyMonkey® audience panel respondents to the survey will be informed about the availability of the final study results on the study consent form. Study respondents were advised to access www.Facebook.com and search for the group " Transformational leadership-nonprofit volunteer engage/commit study result." I will publish the compilation of all of the study results, charts, and corresponding graphs. Researchers have an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of data. It will not be possible to associate a completed survey with a specific participant or class of participants. BoxCryptor, a secure and encrypted electronic data storage system, will store the study data on a supplemental computer, which will be locked in a fire proof safe. The research data will remain in storage for the minimum 5 year time period, at which time the data will undergo destruction.

Recommendations

This results of this research study suggests that transformational leadership may strengthen volunteer engagement and commitment in US nonprofit organizations. The positive relationships between transformational leadership and UWES, and its subscales as well as OCQ, and its subscales OCQ_A (Affective) and OCQ_N (Normative) confirm that leaders who strive to focus on worker needs and concerns support worker engagement and commitment to the organization. Continuance commitment demonstrated no relationship with no relationship with transformational leadership. As continuance commitment refers to the perceived cost for leaving the organization, it may be difficult for leaders to impact the personal perceptions of the individual volunteer worker.

The study results is supported by prior studies which posited that transformational leadership exerted an influence over the engagement and commitment in for-profit and nonprofit organizations (Freeborough & Patterson, 2015). Sustaining volunteer engagement and commitments is challenging for most nonprofit organ While most earlier studies focused on for-profit organizations, more recent studies have included organizations in the nonprofit sector (El Badawy & Bassiouny, 2014). In a study of 247 volunteers working in 4 different nonprofit organizations, participants were surveyed regarding their motivation to volunteer and their perception of the organizational leadership dynamics as a factor in their decision to sustain their volunteerism. The results of the study showed that volunteer commitment and engagement are sustained by the presence of positive interpersonal relationships within the nonprofit organization. Leadership that created a motivated organizational climate reinforced volunteer engagement to assume work tasks, strengthened bonds between the volunteers and management, and enhanced volunteer commitment to the organization (Nencini, Romaioli, & Meneghini, 2016). Conducting more studies targeted at the use of transformational leadership with volunteers at nonprofit organizations would provide an

increased opportunity for leadership to understand how to influence worker engagement and commitment.

Implications

Positive Social Change

Nonprofit organizations support the needs of communities throughout the United States. Over 2.3 million nonprofit organizations have experienced increased demand to provide community services which have been traditionally met through federal and local government programs which have decreased due to fiscal deficits. Providing these safety net services for communities requires a nonprofit organizational workforce which fully supports the strategic mission and organizational structure (Maier et al., 2016). Effective community service delivery demands an engaged and committed volunteer workforce that are motivated to carry out the mission and goals of the nonprofit organization. Recent studies have shown a significant relationship between transformational leadership and engagement and commitment in nonprofit organizations (Freeborough, 2012). Transformational leaders inspire and motivate volunteer workforce through enhancement of their engagement and commitment (Richardson, 2014). Using transformational leaders with charismatic knowledge and skills will heighten nonprofit organizations' ability to manage their workforce to more effectively address critical services to individuals in need. To ensure optimal community service delivery, nonprofit organizations should seek transformational leaders who are adept at managing organization resources and processes as well as inspiring volunteer engagement and commitment which work in tandem to meet ongoing societal needs (Austin & Seitanidi, 2014).

Future Research

While the specific results of this study demonstrate that there is a relationship between transformational leadership and the subscales of engagement, and 2 of the subscales of commitment. The significance of those relationships fall into the low moderate to moderate range. This study fills a gap in the field of literature by examining how transformational leadership impacts the engagement and commitment of volunteers in nonprofit organizations. Other variables, which were not included in the focus of this study, may be shown to exert a significant influence on the dependent variables of engagement and commitment, and would have served as a more accurate predictor of the variance among the variables. Future studies should examine the specific influence of the individual subscales of transformational leadership (i.e. idealized attitudes, idealized behavior, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration) with UWES, and its subscales and OCQ, and its subscales. The focus of that study could the researcher to discern if there is a more significant relationship among the subscales of the study variables that would show nonprofit leadership how to utilize the specific attributes of transformational leadership. Additionally, future studies should examine the variables, and subscales of this research study to address the demographic differences of nonprofit volunteers against those in for-profit organizations, as this nonprofit organizational volunteer workforce tended to be a skewed gender and age population (i.e. 85.65 female to 14.4% male) or 45 years of age or older. Future studies may want to examine the variables studied in this research with a for-profit workforce, as nonprofit organization volunteers possess different motivations for their work efforts than

employees in for-profit organizations who are being compensated. Leadership in forprofit organizations may also embrace a different leadership style from leaders in nonprofit organizations. Understanding the differences between leadership in the forprofit and nonprofit sectors could positively impact the affects of transformational leadership as a predictor for the variance in worker engagement and commitment. This study was a quantitative research study which did not attempt to gain an understanding of the underlying reasons, motivations, or personal opinions of the participants. Future research may want to conduct a qualitative study to gain the perspective from the point of view of the participant regarding the impact of transformational leadership on nonprofit volunteer engagement and commitment. **Practice**

This research study suggests that there is a positive relationship between transformational leadership and engagement and commitment among volunteers in nonprofit organizations. Nonprofit organizations would benefit from the employment of leaders who possess transformational knowledge and skills to manage their volunteer workforce. Nonprofit management may want to provide ongoing training to current leadership to ensure strategic development of a transformational leadership style. Understanding how to ideally influence, motivate, nurture, intellectually stimulate the volunteer workforce could lead to more effective management of volunteer time, utilization of organization resources, and service delivery outcomes.

Conclusions

Transformational leadership has been shown to have a positive relationship with engagement and commitment in for-profit and nonprofit organizations. While most earlier studies have focused on the influence of transformational leadership in for-profit environments, recent studies recognize the benefits of this leadership approach for the nonprofit sector. As a dynamic and charismatic leadership style, transformational leadership could elevate the management of human resources in the nonprofit sector, provide more effective strategies for decision making, structure conflict resolution, provide fiscal and material resource oversight, and strengthen engagement and commitment of nonprofit volunteer workforce, thereby helping to ensure more sustainable service delivery organizations for US communities.

References

- Adam, F. (2014). *Measuring national innovation performance*. Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Al-Ahmadi, H. (2009). Factors affecting performance of hospital nurses in Riyadh
 Region, Saudi Arabia. *Leadership Health Services*, 22, 40-54.
 doi:10.1108/0952686091092743
- Allen, N., & Meyer, J. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63, 1-18. doi:10.1111/.2044-8325.1990.tb00506.x
- Alverson, M., & Sveningsson S. (2015). Changing organizational culture: Cultural change work in progress. New York, NY: Routledge.
- American Psychological Association. (2010). *Publication manual of the American Psychological Association* (6th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Antonakis, J., Fenley, M., & Liechti, S. (2011). Can charisma be taught? Tests of two interventions. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 10(3), 374-396. doi:10.5465.amle.2010.0012
- Applebaum, B., & Gebeloff, R. (2012, February 12). Even critics of safety net increasingly depend on it. *New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2012/02/12/us/even-critics-of-safety-net-increasinglydepend-on-it.htm?pagewantes=all
- Arguinis, H., & Vandenberg, R. J. (2014). An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure: Improving research quality before data collection. *Annual Review of*
Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 1(1), 595.

doi:10.1146/annurer-orgpsych-031413-091231

- Ariani, D. W. (2014). Relationship leadership, employee engagement, and organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Business and Social Research*, 4(8), 74-90. doi:10.3923/rjbm.2014.262.283
- Asrar-ul-Haq, M., & Kuchinke, K. P. (2016). Impact of leadership styles on employees' attitude towards their leader and performance: Empirical evidence from Pakistani banks. *Future Business Journal*, *2*(1), 54-64. doi:10.1016/j.fbj.2016.05.002
- Atieno, O. P. (2009). An analysis of the strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research paradigms. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 13(1), 13-38. doi:10.1080/073084
- Austin, J. E., & Seitandidi, M. M. (2014). Creating value in nonprofit business collaborations: New thinking and practice. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.

Avolio, B. J. (1999). Full leadership development. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (2017). Manual for MLQ: Multifactor leadership questionnaire. Retrieved with permission on April 18, 2017, from http://www.mindgarden
- Avolio, B. J., & Yammarino, F. J. (Eds (2013). Introduction to, and overview of, transformational and charismatic leadership. In *Transformational and charismatic leadership: The road ahead 10th anniversary edition* (pp. 449-470). Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

- Babbie, E. R. (2015). *The practice of social research*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Cengage.
- Bakker, A. B. (2011). An evidence-based model of work engagement. *Current Directions* in Psychological Science, 20, 265. doi:10.1177/0963721411414534

Bakker, A. B., Albrecht, S. L., & Leiter, M. P. (2011). Key questions regarding work engagement. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 20(1), 4-28. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2010.485352Baldwin, G., & Rosenthal, R. J. (2015). *Volunteer engagement 2.0: Ideas and insights changing the world*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

- Banerjee, A., Chibris, U. B., Jadhav, S. L., Bhawalker, J. S., & Chaudhury, S. (2009). *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 18(2), 127-131. doi:10.41003/0972-6748.62274
- Barrick, M. R., Thurgood, G. R., Smith, T. A., & Courtright, S. H. (2015). Collective organizational engagement: Linking motivational antecedents, strategic implementation, and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58, 111-135. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0227
- Bass, B. M. (1985). *Leadership and performance beyond expectations*. New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1997). Does the transactional/transformational leadership transcend organizational and national boundaries? *American Psychologist*, 52, 130-139. doi:10.1037/003-066X.52.2.130

- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *8*, 9-32. doi:10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1990). Transformational leadership development: Manual for the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychological Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving organizational effectiveness through transformational leadership. London, England: Sage.
- Bass, B., & Riggio, R. E. (2014). *Transformational leadership* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015) Fitting linear Mixed –Effects using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-51.
 doi: http://hdl.handle.net/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Batista-Taran, L. C., Shuck, M. B., Gutierrez, C. C., & Baralt, S. (2013). The role of leadership style in employee engagement. Miami: FL: Florida International University.
- Beck, K., & Wilson, C. (2000). Development of affective organizational commitment:
 A Cross sequential examination of change with tenure. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 56(1), 114 -136. doi:10.1006/jvbe.1999.1712
- Berman, E. (2015). *Performance and productivity in public and nonprofit organizations*.London, England: Routledge.

Bernstein, M., Bright, M., Cutrell, E., Dow, S., Gerber, E., Jain, A., & Kulkarni, A.

(2013). Micro-volunteering: Helping the helpers in development.
In Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work companion (pp. 85 -88). New York, NY: Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2441955.244.1979

- Bi, L., Ehrich, J., & Ehrich, L. (2012). Confucius as transformational leader: Lessons for ESL leadership. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *26*(4), 391-402. doi:10.1108/0951354121122779
- Blackwood, A., Roeger, K. L., & Pettijohn, S. L. (2012). The nonprofit sector in brief: public charities, giving and volunteering. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/publications/412674.html
- Bodenhausen, C., & Curtis, C. (2016). Transformational leadership and employee involvement: Perspectives from millennial workforce entrants. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 17(3), 1-17.

doi:10.1080/1528008X.2015.1048920

Boehm, S.A., Dwertman, D.J. G., Bruch, H., & Shamir, B. (2015). The missing link?
Investigating organizational identity strength and transformational leadership climate as mechanisms that connect CEO charisma with firm. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *26*(2), 156-171. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.012

Boezeman, E., & Ellemers, N. (2014) Volunteer Leadership: The role of pride and respect in organizational identification and leadership satisfaction. *Leadership*, 10(2), 160-173. doi:10.1177/1742715012467487

- Bowers, K. M., & Hamby, W. J. (2013). An analysis of volunteer leader behavior: Self-reported measures. *Academy of Business Research Journal*, *3*, 1-14.
 Retrieved from aobronline.com
- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2014). Daily self-management and employee work engagement. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84, 31-38. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2013.11.002
- Breevart, K., Bakker, A., Hetland, J., Demerouti, E., Olsen, O., & Espevik, R. (2013).
 Daily transactional and transformational leadership and daily employee
 engagement. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 87(1), 138-157. doi:10.1111/joop.12041
- Britt, T. W., Dickinson, J. M., Moore, D., Castro, C. A., & Adler, A. B. (2007).
 Correlates and consequences of morale versus depression under stressful conditions. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *12*(1), 34-47. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.12.1.34
- Brown, M. L. (2016). The impact of transformational, transactional, and passive/avoidant leadership on affective, continuance, and normative employee commitment (Doctoral Dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10165691)

Bryman, A. (Ed.). (2013). Leadership and organizations. London, England: Routledge.

Bryson, J. M., Ackermann, F., & Eden, C. (2014). Visual strategy: Strategy mapping for public and nonprofit organizations. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

- Buchbinder, S. B., & Shanks, N. H. (2016). Introduction to health care management. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Publishers.
- Burke, W. W., & Noumair, D. A. (2015). Organization development: A process of learning and changing. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper/Row.

- Bycio, P., Hackett, R. D., & Allen, J. S. (1985). Further assessments of Bass's conceptualization of transactional and transformational leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 80, 468-478. doi:10.1027/1015-5759.18.1.16
- Campbell, D. T., & Stanley, J. C. (2015). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs* for research. United States: Ravenio Books.
- Carless, S. (1998). Assessing the discriminant validity of transformational leader
 behavior as measured by MLQ. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 71(4), 353-358. doi:10.1111/j2044-8325.1998.tb00681.x
- Carleton Centre for Voluntary Sector Research and Development (2010). Bridging the gap: Enriching the volunteer experience for a better future for our communities. Retrieved on March 26, 2015 from http://volunteer.ca/file/BTG-Final.pdf
- Catano, V. M., Pond, M., & Kelloway, E. K. (2001). Exploring commitment and leadership in volunteer organizations. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 26(6), 256-263. doi:10.1108/01437730110403187
- Chemers, M. (2014). *An integrative theory of leadership*. New York, NY: Psychology Press.

- Choi, S. B., Kim, K., & Kang, S. W. (2017). Effects of transformational leadership and shared leadership styles on employees' perception of team effectiveness. Social *Behavior and Personality: An International Journal, 45*(3), 377-386. doi:10.2224.sbp.5805
- Choudhary, A. I., Akhtar, S. A., & Zaheer, A. (2013). Impact of transformational and servant leadership on organizational performance: A comparative analysis.
 Journal of Business Ethics, *116*, 433-440. doi:10.1111/1467-8608
- Ciulla, J. B. (2013). *Leadership ethics*. New York, NY: Blackwell. doi:10.1002/9781444367072.wbiee370
- Ciulla, J. B. (2014). *Ethics the heart of leadership*. Santa Barbara, CA: Praeger, ABC-CLIO.
- Ciulla, J. B. (2015). Conversations and correspondence with Burns on the ethics of transforming leadership. *Leadership and the Humanities*, *3*, 26-31. doi:10.4337/lath.2015.01.04
- Choi, S., Goh, C., Adam, M., & Tan, O. (2016). Transformational leadership, empowerment, and job satisfaction: the mediating role of employee empowerment. *Human Resources for Health*, *14*(73), 229-242. doi:10.1186/s12960-016-0171-2
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavior sciences* (2nd ed.). St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2013). *Applied multiple* regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences. New York, N.Y:

Routledge.

- Cole, M. S., Walter, F., Bedelan, A. G., & O'Boyle, E. H. (2012). Job burnout and employee engagement: A meta-analytic examination of construct proliferation. *Journal of Management*, 38, 1550-1581. doi:10.11770149206311415252
- Conger, J. A., & Kanungo, R. N. (1987). Toward a behavioral theory of charismatic leadership in organizational settings. *Academy of Management Review*, 12, 637-647. doi:10.5465/AMR.1987.4306715
- Connelly, L. M. (2014). Ethical considerations in research studies. *Medsurg Nursing*, 23(1), 54. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgibin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa/wa/viewSection?s_id=1073744495
- Conover, W. J., & Iman, R. L. (1981). Rank transformations as a bridge between parametric and nonparametric statistics. *The American Statistician*, 35(3), 124-129. doi:10.1080/00031305.1981.10479327
- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2011). *Business research methods* (11th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw –Hill/ Irwin.
- Cossin, D., & Caballero, J. (2013). Transformational leadership. *International Institute for Management Development*. Retrieved from www.imb.org.
- Crawford, E. R., Rich, B. L., Buckman, B., & Bergeron, J. (2014). *Employee engagement in theory and practice*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Crede, E., & Borrego, M. (2014). Understanding retention in US graduate programs by student nationality. *Studies in Higher Education*, *39*(9), 1599-1616. doi:10.1080/03075079.2013.801425

Crossan, M., Bryne, A., Seijts, G., Reno, M., Monzani, L., & Gandz, J. (2017).

Toward a framework of leader character in organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, *54*(1), 1-33. doi:10.111/joms.12254

- Cummings, T. G., & Worley, C. G. (2014). *Organization development and change*. Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning
- Curtis, M., Bond, R., Spina, D., Ahluwalia, A., Alexander, S., Giembycz, M.... McGrath, J., (2015). Experimental design and analysis and their reporting: new guidance for publication in BJP. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 72(18), 4600. doi:10.1111/bph.12856
- DePoy, E., & Gitlin, L. N. (2015). *Introduction to research: Understanding and applying multiple strategies*. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Daft, R. L. (2014) *The leadership experience* (6th ed.). Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.
- Day, D. V., & Antonakis, J. (2012). *The nature of leadership*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- De Carlo, I. T. (1997). On the meaning of kurtosis. *Psychological Methods*, 2(3), 292-307. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.2.3.292
- Deichmann, D., & Stam, D. (2015). Leveraging transformational and transactional leadership to cultivate the generation of organization-focused ideas. *Leadership Quarterly, 26*, 204-219. doi:10.1016.13qqua.2014.0.004
- Denhardt, R. B., Denhardt, J. V., & Aristigueta, M. P. (2015). *Managing human behavior in public and nonprofit organizations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Denscombe, M. (2014). *The good research guide: for small-scale social research projects*. Berkshire, England: McGraw Hill Education Open University Press.
- Diaz-Saenz, H. R. (2011). Transformational leadership. In A. Bryman, D. Collinson, K.
 Grint, B. Jackson, & M. Uhl-Bien (Eds), *The Sage handbook of leadership* (pp. 299-310). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Downton, J. V. (1973). *Rebel leadership: Commitment and charisma in a revolutionary* process. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Dvir, T., Eden, D., Avolio, B., & Shamir, B. (2002). Impact of transformational leadership on follower development and performance: A field experiment. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45, 735-744. doi:10.2037/3069307
- Dwyer, P. C., Bono, J. E., Snyder, M., Nov, O., & Berson, Y. (2013). Sources of volunteer motivation: Transformational leadership and personal motives influence volunteer outcomes. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, *24*, 181-205. doi:10.1002/nml.21084
- El Badawy, T. A., & Bassiouny, M. (2014). Employee engagement as a mediator between transformational leadership & intention to quit. *International Journal of Contemporary Management*, 13(2), 152-160. Retrieved from http://www.ejournals.eu/ijcm/
- Erkutlu, H., (2008). The impact of transformational leadership on organizational and leadership effectiveness: The Turkish case. *Journal of Management Development*, 27(7),708-726. doi:10.1108/02621710810883616

Ertureten, A., Cernalcilar, Z., & Aycan, Z. (2013). The relationship of downward mobbing with leadership style and organizational attitudes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 116, 205-216. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-14

Farrell, M. (2014). Leadership reflections: Leadership development through service. *Journal of Library Administration*, 54(4), 308-317. doi:10.1080/
01930826.2014.924317

- Fernando, M. (2016). Responsible leadership in theory. *Leading responsibly in the Asian century*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA; Sage.

Fowler, F. J. (2014). Survey research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth.
- Freeborough, R. E. (2012). Exploring the effect of transformational leadership on nonprofit leader engagement and commitment (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 498733)
- Freeborough, R., & Patterson, K. (2015). Exploring the effect of transformational leadership on nonprofit leader engagement. *Servant Leadership: Theory and Practice*, 2, 49-70. Retrieved from https://www.sltjournal.org
- Fullan, M. (2014). *Leading in a culture of change personal action guide and workbook*.San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.

- Gaipin, T., Whittington, J. L., & Bell, G. (2015). Is your sustainability strategy sustainable? Creating a culture of sustainability. *Corporate Governance*, 15, 1-17. doi:10.1108/CG-01-2013-0004
- Geib, P., & Swenson J. (2013). China: Transformational leadership for policy and product innovation. Advances in Management, 6(5), 3-10. Retrieved from http://www.managein.net/bk_issue/abst_6_5.htm
- George, D. & Mallery, P. (2016). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and Reference, 11.0 update (14th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Gilbert, G., Holdsworth, S., & Kyle, L. (2017). A literature review and development of a theoretical model for understanding commitment experienced by volunteers over the life of a project. *Voluntas*, 28(1), 1-25. doi:10.1007/s11266-016-98211
- Gozukara, I., & Simsek, O. F. (2016). Role of leadership in employees' work
 engagement: Organizational identification and job autonomy. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 11, 72-84. doi:10.539/ijb.v1lnlp72
- Graham, K. A., Ziegert, J. C., & Capitano, J. (2015). The effect of leadership style, framing, and promotion regulatory focus on unethical pro-organizational behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *126*, 423-436. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1952-3
- Harper, C. (2015). *Organizations: structures, processes and outcomes* (10th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Harter, J. K., Schmidt, F. L., & Hayes, T. L. (2002). Business-unit-level relationship between employee satisfaction, employee engagement, and business outcomes: a

meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Psychology, 87(2), 268-279.

doi:10.1037/0021-9010.87.2.268

- Harter, J. K., Schmidt, F. L., Killham, E. A. & Agrawal, S. (2009). *Q12 meta-analysis: The relationship between engagement at work and organizational outcomes.*Washington, DC: Gallup University Press.
- Hay, I. (2015). Transformational leadership: Characteristics and criticisms. Retrieved from https://www.leadingtoday.org.weleadin learning/transformational leadership.htm
- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2015). Validity and reliability in quantitative studies.*Evidence Based Nursing*, 18, 66-67. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102129
- Aon Hewett. (2014). 2014 trends in global employee engagement. Retrieved from https://www.aonhewett.com
- Holmes, K., & Smith, K. (2012). Managing volunteers & tourism: Attractions, destinations and events. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hopkins, K., Meyer, M., Shera, W., & Peters, C. (2014). Challenges facing nonprofit human service organizations in a post-recession era. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 38*(50), 419-422. doi:10.1080/23303/31.2014.977208

Hossain, S., & Saleh, F. (2016). Role of leadership in performance excellence. *International Journal of Research in Organizational Behavior and Human Resource Management*, 4(2), 42-57. Retrieved from
http://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx?target=ijor:ijrobhrm&type=home

- House, R. J. (1977). A 1976 theory of charismatic leadership. In J. G. Hunt & L. Larson (Eds.), *Leadership: The cutting edge* (pp. 189-207). Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Howell, J. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1993). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, locus of control and support for innovation: key predictors of consolidated-business unit performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(6), 891-902. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.78.6.891
- Howell, J. M., & Shamir, B. (2005). The role of followers in the charismatic leadership process: Relationships and their consequences. *Academy of Management Review*, 30(1), 96-112. doi:10.5465/amr.2005.15281435
- Hunt, J. G., & Peterson, M. F. (1997). Two scholars' views of some nooks and crannies in cross-cultural leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, 8(4), 343-354. doi:10.1016/s1048-9843(97)90019-9
- Hustinz, L., Cnaan, R. A., & Handy, F. (2010). Navigating theories of volunteering: A hybrid map for a complex phenomenon. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behavior*, 40(4), 410-434. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5914.2010.00439.x
- Huynh, J., Metzer, J. C., & Winefield, A. H. (2012). Validation of the four-dimensional connectedness scale in a multi-sample volunteer study: A distinct construct from work engagement and organizational commitment. *Voluntas: The International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 23(4), 1056-1082. doi:10.1007/s11266-011-9259-4

- Jago, A. G. (1982). Leadership: Perspectives in theory and research. *Management Science*, *28*, 315-336. doi:10.1287/mnsc.28.3.3.15
- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 755-768. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of Management Journal*, 33(4), 692-724. doi:10.5465/256287
- Kaiser, R. B., McGinnis, J. L., & Overfield, D. V. (2012). The how and the what of leadership. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 64, 119-135. doi:10.1037/a0029331
- Kark, R., & Shamir, B. (2013). The dual effect of transformational leadership: priming relational and collective selves and further effects on followers. In Bruce J. Avolio & Francis J. Yammarino (Eds.), *Transformational and charismatic leadership: The road ahead 10th anniversary edition* (pp. 77-101). Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Group.
- Keskes, I. (2014). Relationship between leadership styles and dimensions of employee organizational commitment: A critical review and discussion of future directions. *Intangible Capital*, 10(1), 26-51. doi:10.3926/ic.476
- Kezar, A. J., Chambers, A. C., & Burkhardt, J. C. (eds.). (2015). *Higher education for the public good: Emerging voices from a national movement*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.

- Khan, M., Khan, I., Quereshi, Q., Ismail, H., Rauf, H., Latif, A., & Tahir, M. (2015). The styles of leadership: A critical review. *Public Policy and Administration Research*, 5(3), 87-92. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org
- Kim, K. Y., Eisenberger, R., & Baik, K. (2016). Perceived organizational support and affective organizational commitment: Moderating influence of perceived organizational competence. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(4), 558-583. doi:10.1002/job.2081
- Klein, H. J., Molloy, J., & Brinsfield, C. (2012). Reconceptualizing workplace commitment to redress a stretched construct: Revisiting assumptions and removing confounds. *Academy of Management Review*, *37*, 130-151. doi:10.5465/amr.2010.0018
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2012). *How to make extraordinary things happen* (5th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kovjanic, S., Schuh, S. C., & Jonas, K. (2013), Transformational leadership and performance: An experimental investigation of the mediating effects of basic needs satisfaction and work engagement. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 86, 543-555. doi:10.1111/joop.12022
- Kriger, M., & Zhovtobryukh, Y. (2016). The role of charismatic, transformational, and transactional leadership. In *Strategic leadership for turbulent times* (pp. 83-92).
 New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan US.
- Kvist, T., Voutilainen, A., Mäntynen, R., & Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K. (2014). The relationship between patients' perceptions of care quality and three factors:

Nursing staff job satisfaction, organizational characteristics and patient age. *BMC Health Services Research*, *14*(1), 466. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-466

- Lampkin, L., Romeo, S., & Finnin, E. (2001). Introducing the nonprofit program classification system: The taxonomy we've been waiting for. *Nonprofit and voluntary sector quarterly*, 30(4) 781-793. doi:10.1177/0899764001304009
- Law, B., & Hui, C. H. (2015). Volunteer management and the millenium development goals. In Isabel McWha-Hermann, Douglad C. Maynard, & Mary O'Neill Berry (Eds.), *Humanitarian work psychology and the goal development agenda: Case studies and interventions* (pp. 181). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lin, P. Y., Maclennan, S., Hunt, N., & Cox, T. (2015). The influences of nursing transformational leadership style on the quality of nurses' working lives in Taiwan: A cross-sectional quantitative study. *BMC Nursing*, 14(33), 1 doi:10.1186/s12912-015-0082-x
- Maier, F., Meyer, M., & Steinbereithner, M. (2016). Nonprofit organizations becoming business-like: A systematic review. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 45(1), 64-86. doi:10.1177/0899764014561796
- Manley, B. F., & Alberto, J. A. N. (2016). *Multivariate statistical methods: A primer*. New York, NY: CRC Press.
- Marathe, G., & Balasubramanian, G. (2013). Two pathways of union leadership for participation. *Indian Journal of Industrial Relations, 48*, 663-679.
 Retrieved from http://www.gogalegroup.com

Marique, G., Singlhamber, F. Desmette, D., Caesens, G., & De Zanet, F. (2013). The relationship between perceived organizational support and affective commitment:
A social identity perspective. *Group & Organization Management, 38*(1), 68-100. doi:10.1177/1059601112457200

Maslow, A. H. (1954). *Motivation and personality*. New York, NY: Harper.

McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5(4), 117-130. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/

McKibben, W. B., & Silvia, P. J. (2016). Inattentive and socially desirable responding:
Addressing subtle threats to validity in quantitative counseling research. *Counseling Outcome Research and Evaluation*, 7(1), 53-64.
doi:10.1177/2150137815613135

- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1997). *Commitment in the workplace: Theory, research, and application*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., & Smith, C. A. (1993). Commitment to organizations and occupations: Extension and test of a three-component conceptualization. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 78(53), 538-551. doi:1047/0021-901078.4.538

Meyer, J., & Allen, N. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Human Resources Management Review*, 1(1), 81-89. doi:10,1016/1053-4822(91)9011-Z Meyer, J., & Allen, N. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *The Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63, 1-18. doi:10.1016/1053-4822(91) 90011-Z

Meyer, J. P., Stanley, D. J., Herscovitch, L., & Topolnytsky, L. (2002). Affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization: A meta-analysis of antecedents, correlates, and consequences. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *61*, 20-52. doi:10.1006/jvbe.2001.1842

- Mitchell, W. (2012). *An interview on corporate citizenship*. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Volunteer Canada.
- Mone, E. M., & London, M. (2014). Employee engagement through effective performance management: A practical guide for managers. London, England: Routledge.
- Moss, S. A., Dowling, N., & Callanan, J. (2009). Towards an integrated model of leadership and self-regulation. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(2), 162-176. doi:10.1016/j. leaqua.2009.01.905
- Mowday, R. T., Steers, R. M., & Porter, L. W. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *14*, 224-247. doi:10.1016/0001-8791 (79) 90072-1
- Mutabara, J., & Mutabara, S. (2012). Fostering motivation in the engagement of volunteer workers: An analysis of volunteers in humanitarian organizations in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics and Management Sciences*, *3*, 872-881. doi:10.1.1.300.3706

 Nencini, A., Romaioli, D., Meneghini, A. (2016). Volunteer motivation and organizational climate: Factors that promote satisfaction and sustained volunteerism in NPO's. *Voluntas*, 27, 618-639. doi: 10.1007/s11266-015-9593-z

Northouse, P. G. (2015). Leadership: Theory and practice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Nowatzke, C., Leinen, M., & Perez, R. (2012). Critical issues in nursing, transformational leadership. Retrieved from http://criticalissuesinnursing.blogspot.com/2012/05/transformational-leadershipcarrie.html

- Odumeru, J. A., & Ogbonna, I. G. (2013). Transformational vs. transactional leadership theories: Evidence in literature. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 2, 355-361. Retrieved from http://www.irmbrjournal.com
- Osborne, J. W. & Waters, E. (2002). Multiple regression assumptions. *Eric Digest*. Retrieved from www.ericdigest.org.
- Osula, B., & Ng, E. C. W. (2014). Toward a collaborative, transformative model of nonprofit leadership: Some conceptual building blocks. *Administrative Sciences*, *4*(2), 87-104. doi:10.3390/admsci4020087
- Oztekin, O., Isci, S., & Karakag, E. (2015). The effect of leadership on organizational commitment. *Leadership and Organizational Outcomes: Meta-analyses of Empirical Studies*. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-14908-0_4
- Pandey, S. K., Davis, R. S., Pandey, S., & Peng, S. (2016). Transformational leadership and the use of normative public values: Can employees be inspired to serve larger public purposes? *Public Administration*, 9(1), 204-222. doi:10.1111/padm.12214

- Pettijohn, S. (2013). *The nonprofit sector in brief: Public charities, giving, and volunteering*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.
- Phillips, L. D. (2015). Empowerment and coworker response to leader tactic and organizational hope. *Emerging Leadership Journeys*, 8(1), 22-45. Retrieved from www.regent.edu/acad/global/publications/elj/
- Pillai, R. (2013). Transformational leadership for crisis management. In A. J. Dubrin (Ed.), *Handbook of research on crisis leadership in organizations* (pp. 47-66).
 Cheltenham, England: Edward Elgar.
- Popli, S., & Rizvi, I. (2016). Drivers of employee engagement: The role of leadership style. *Global Business Review*, *17*, 1-15. doi:10.1177/0972150916645701
- Porter, J. (2015). The relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment in nonprofit long term care organizations: The direct care worker perspective. *Creighton Journal of Interdisciplinary Leadership*, 1(2), 68-85. doi:10.17062/cjil.vl2.13
- Porter-O'Grady, T., & Malloch, K. (2014). Nurses making: From bedside to boardroom. New York, NY: Springer.
- Posner, B. Z. (2015). An investigation into the leadership practices of volunteer leaders.
 Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 36, 885-898.
 doi:10.1108/LODJ-03-2014.0061
- Pourbarkhordari, A., Zhou, E. H. I., & Pourkarimi, J. (2016). How individual-focused transformational leadership enhances its influence on job performance through

employee work engagement. International Journal of Business and Management, 11, 249-261. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v11n2p249

- Rahn, D. L., Jawahar, I. M., Scrimpshire, A. J., & Stone, T. (2016). Are leaders defined by followers? Role of follower's ILT and the mediating influence of LMX on follower outcomes. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance*, *3*, 43-69. doi:10.1108/joepp-042015-0016
- Rea, L.M. & Parker, R. A. (2014). Designing and conducting survey research: A comprehensive Guide. Hoboken, N. J.: John Wiley & Sons.
- Reichenpfader, U., Carlfjord, S., & Nilsen, P. (2015). Leadership in evidence-based practice: A systematic review. *Leadership in Health Services*, 28, 298-316. doi:10.1018/LHS-08-2014-0061
- Richardson, F. W. (2014). Enhancing strategies to improve workplace performance (Doctoral Dissertation) Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3669117)
- Riggio, R. E., Bass, B. M., & Orr, S. S. (2004). Transformational leadership in nonprofit organizations. In R. E. Riggio & S. S. Orr (Eds.), *Improving leadership in nonprofit organizations* (pp. 49-62). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Roeger, K., Blackwood, A., & Pettijohn, S. (2012). *The nonprofit almanac*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.
- Rojas, R. R. (2000). A review of models for measuring organizational effectiveness among for-profit and nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 11, 97-104. doi:10.1002/nml.11109

- Sadeghi, A., & Pihie, Z. A. L. (2012). Transformational leadership and its predictive effects on leadership effectiveness. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(7), 186-197. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Salamon, L. M., Geller, S. L., & Spence, K. L. (2009). Impact of the 2007-09 economic recession on nonprofit organizations. *Listening Post Project*, 14, 1-34. doi:10.15270/49-1-79
- Salas, G. R. (2009). Volunteer functions, satisfaction, commitment, and the intentions to leave government volunteering (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3338094)
- Schaufeli, W. B. (2014). What is engagement? In C. Truss, R. Dellbridge, K. Alfes, A.
 Shantz, & E. Soane (Eds.), *Employee engagement in theory & practice* (pp. 15-28). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Schaufeli, W., & Bakker, A. (2003). UWES- Utrecht work engagement scale preliminary Manual. Version 1. Occupational Health Psychology Unit. Utrecht University.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2006). The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-national study. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 66, 701-716. doi:10.1177/001316445282471
- Schaufeli, W., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2006). The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-national study. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*. 66(4), 701-716. doi:10.1177/0013164405282471

- Schaufeli, W., Salanova, M., Gonzalex-Roma, V., & Bakker, A. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *3*(1), 71-92. doi:10.1023?A:1015630930326
- Schriesheim, C. A., Powers, K. J., Scandura, T. A., Gardiner, C. C. & Lankau, M. J. (1993). Improving construct measurement in management research: Comments and a quantitative approach for assessing the theoretical content adequacy of paper and pencil survey- type instruments. *Journal of Management*, *19*(2), 385-418. doi.10.1177/0149206393301900208
- Senge, P. M. (2014). The fifth discipline fieldbook: Strategies and tools for building a learning organization. New York, NY: Crown Business.
- Shamir, B., House, R. J., & Arthur, M. B. (1993). The motivational effect of charismatic leadership: A self-concept based theory. *Organization Science*, *4*, 577-594. doi:10.1287/orsc.4.4.577
- Shantz, A., Saksida, T., & Afes, K. (2013). Dedicating time to volunteering: Values, engagement, and commitment to beneficiaries. *Applied Psychology*, *63*(4), 671-697. doi:10.1111/apps.12010
- Shepard, L. A. (2009). Commentary evaluating the validity of formative and interim assessment. *Educational Measurement Issues and Practice*, 28(3), 32-37. doi:10.1111/j.1745-3992.2009.00152.x
- Simola, S., Barling, J., & Turner, N. (2012). Transformational leadership and leaders' mode of care reasoning. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 108, 229-237.

doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1080-x

- Sladowski, P. S., Hientz, M., & MacKenzie, R. (2013). Volunteering: A catalyst for citizen engagement, social inclusion and resilient communities. *The Philanthropist*, 25, 37-44. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.67.4.491
- Society for Human Resource Management. (2014). Employee engagement: The newest research and trends. *Workplace, Visions: A Publication of SHRM,* 2(2),
 - 1-6. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org/Research/SurveyFindings/Documents
- Stogdill, R. M. (1974). *Handbook of leadership: A survey of the literature*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Stull, M. (2009). Balancing market and mission: A nonprofit case study. Business Renaissance Quarterly, 4(3), 129-152. doi:10.1108/14626001111179730
- Suresh, A., & Rajini, J. (2013). Transformational leadership approach in organizations: Its strengths and weaknesses. *International Journal of Social Science & Interdisciplinary Research*, 2(3), 155-160. Retrieved from http://indianaresearchjournals.com
- Taylor, C. M., Cornelius, C. J., & Colvin, K. (2014). Visionary leadership and its relationship to organizational effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35, 566-583. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2012-0130
- Thomson, N. B., Rawson, J. V., Slade, C. P., & Bledsoe, M. (2016). Transformation and transformational leadership: A review of the current and relevant literature for academic radiologists, *Academic Radiology*, 23, 592-599. doi:10.1016/acra.2016.01.010

- Tichy, N. M., & Devanna, M. A. (1986). *The transformational leader*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Tierney, T. J. (2006). The leadership deficit. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, *4*(2), 26-35. doi:10.1007/978-3-531-93298-9 8
- Towers Perrin. (2006). Ten steps to creating an engaged workforce: Key European findings. Towers Perrin Global Workforce Survey 2005(White paper). Retrieved from http://towerwatson.com
- Truss, C., Alfe, K., Delbridge, R., Shantz, A., & Sloane, E. (2013). *Employee* engagement in theory and practice. London, England: Routledge.
- US Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statisics. Volunteering in the United States, 2015. (2016). Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www.bis.gov/news release/volun.toc.htm
- Vencina, M. L., Chocon, F., Mazana, D., & Marta, E. (2013). Volunteer engagement and organizational commitment in nonprofit organizations: What makes volunteers remain within organizations and feel happy? *Journal of Community Psychology*, *41*, 291-302. doi:10.1002/jcop.21530
- Vender, R. J. (2015). Leadership: an overview. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *110*, 362-367. doi:10.1038/ajg.2014.199
- Waller, M., & Fawcett, S. (2013). Data science, predictive analytics, and big data: A revolution that will transform supply chain design and management. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 34(2), 77-84. doi:10.1111/jbl.12010

Walumbwa, F. O., & Lawler, J. J. (2003). Building effective organizations:

Transformational leadership, collectivist orientation, work-related attitudes, and withdrawal behaviors in three emerging economics. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *14*, 1083-1101. doi:10.1080/09585190320004219

- Weng, R. H., Huangm C. Y., Chen, L. M., & Chang, L. Y. (2013). Exploring the impact of transformational leadership on nurse innovation behavior: a cross-sectional study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23(4), 427-439. doi:10.111/jonm.12149
- Westfall, J., & Yarkoni, T. (2016). Statistically controlling for confounding constructs is harder than you think. *PLos ONE*, 11 (3): eo152719.
 doi:10.1371/journal. pone. 0162719
- Westfall, P. H. & Henning, K. S. S. (2013). Texts in statistical science; Understanding advanced statistical methods. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis.
- Williams, V. D. (2014). Leadership behavior practice patterns' relationship to employee work engagement in a nonprofit that supports the homeless (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3614812)
- Wilson, M. (1976). *The effective management of volunteer programs*.Boulder, CO: Volunteer Management Associates.
- Wilson, J. (2012). Volunteerism research: A review essay. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, *41*(2), 176-212. doi:10.1177/0899764011434558

- Wing, K. T., Roeger, K. L., & Pollak, T. H. (2012). The nonprofit sector in brief: Public charities, giving and volunteering. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute. Retrieved from http://www.urban.org/publications/412674.html
- Worth, M. J. (2014). Nonprofit management (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yukl, G. (1999). An evaluation of conception weaknesses in transformational and charismatic leadership theories. *Leadership Quarterly*, *10*, 285-305.
 doi:10.1016/51048-9843 (99) 00013-2
- Zhang, T., Avery, G., Bergstainer, H., & More, E. (2014). The relationship between leadership paradigms and employee engagement, *Journal of Global Responsibility*, 5, 4-21. doi:10.1108/JGR-02-2014-0006
- Zhu, W., Avolio, B., & Walumbwa, F. O. (2009). Moderating role of follower characteristics with transformational leadership and follower work engagement. *Group & Organization Management, 34*, 590-619.
 doi:10.117710506001108331242
- Zhu, W., Newman, A., Miao, Q., & Hooke, A. (2013). Revisiting the mediating role of trust in transformational leadership effects: Do different types of trust make a
- Zhu, W., Sosik, J. J, Riggio, R. E., & Yang, B. (2012). Relationships between transformational and active transactional leadership and followers' organizational identification: The role of psychological empowerment. *Journal of Behavioral* and Applied Management, 13, 186-212. doi:10.1016/jleaqua.2012.08.004

difference? Leadership Quarterly, 24, 94-105. doi:10.1016/j.leagua.2012.08.004

Appendix A: SurveyMonkey® Privacy Policy

This is the link to the SurveyMonkey® Privacy Policy:

https://www.surveymonkey.com/mp/policy/privacy-policy

The effective date of this privacy policy is September 12, 2016.

Appendix B: Permission to use the Mutifactor Leadership Questionnaire

For use by Victoria Bohannon Buck only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on December 20, 2016

Permission for Victoria Bohannon Buck to reproduce 500 copies within one year of December 20, 2016 and Scoring Guide (Form 5X-Short) by Bruce Avolio and Bernard Bass Published by Mind Garden, Inc. info@mindgarden.com www.mindgarden.com

IMPORTANT NOTE TO LICENSEE

If you have purchased a license to reproduce or administer a fixed number of copies of an existing Mind Garden instrument, manual, or workbook, you agree that it is your legal responsibility to compensate the copyright holder of this work -- via payment to Mind Garden – for reproduction or administration in any medium. Reproduction includes all forms of physical or electronic administration including online survey, handheld survey devices, etc.

The copyright holder has agreed to grant a license to reproduce the specified number of copies of this document or instrument within one year from the date of purchase.

You agree that you or a person in your organization will be assigned to track the number of reproductions or administrations and will be responsible for compensating Mind Garden for any reproductions or administrations in excess of the number purchased.

This instrument is covered by U.S. and international copyright laws as well as various state and federal laws regarding data protection. Any use of this instrument, in whole or in part, is subject to such laws and is expressly prohibited by the copyright holder. If you would like to request permission to use or reproduce the instrument, in whole or in part, contact Mind Garden, Inc. © 1995 Bruce Avolio and Bernard Bass. All rights reserved in all media. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., www.mindgarden.com

these 500 licenses to 12/20/18 or until the 500 licenses have been used, whichever occurs first.

Mind Garden <info@mindgarden.com> Reply| Thu 12/7/2017, 1:13 PM You Hello Victoria, n regards to your email request to extend the expiration date on the 500 licenses remaining on the 500 MLQ licenses that you purchased via Order #10155 on 12/20/16, this email provides the extension for

Regards, Ken Mind Garden, Inc. 650-322-6300

Appendix C: Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire

From The Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire: Manual and Sample (3rd Ed) by Avolio & Bass, 2004, Menlo Park, CA: Mind Garden. Copyright 2004 by Mind Garden, Inc. Reprinted with permission.

This questionnaire is used to describe the leadership style of your direct supervisor as you perceive it. Answer all items on this answer sheet. If an item is irrelevant, or if you are unsure or do not know the answer, leave the answer blank. Please answer this questionnaire anonymously.

Scale

0-Not at all1-Once in a while2-Sometimes3-F4-Frequently, if not always

Sample items

- 1. Provides me with assistance in exchange for my efforts.
- 2. Re-examines critical assumptions to question whether they are appropriate.
- 3. Fails to interfere until problems become serious.
- 4. Focuses attention on irregularities, mistakes, exceptions, and deviations from standards.
- 5. Avoids getting involved when important issues arise.

Appendix D: Permission to Use Utrecht Work Engagement Scale

Notice for potential users of the UWES-9.

You are welcomed to use the UWES-9 provided that you agree to the following two conditions:

- 1. The use is for non-commercial educational or research purposes only. This means that no one is charging anyone a fee.
- 2. You agree to share some of your data, detailed below, with the authors. We will add these data to our international database and use them only for the purpose of further validating UWES-9 (e.g., updating norms, assessing cross-national equivalence).

Data to be shared:

For each sample, the raw test-scores, age, gender, and (if available) occupation. Please

adhere to the original answering format and sequential order of the items.

For each sample, a brief narrative description of its size, occupation(s) covered (if

available), language and country.

Please send data to: Preferably the raw data file should be in SPSS or EXCEL format. by continuing to The TEST FORMS, you agree with the above statement.

No explicit, personal permission is required — and will be given — as long as both

previously mentioned conditions are fulfilled.

Copyright©. Used with permission from: http://wilmarschaufeli.nl/wp/downloads/test-

manuals/.

Appendix E. Utrecht Work Engagement Scale

From The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-national study, 2006, Educational and Psychological Measurement by Schaufeli, Bakker, and Salanova, Copyright 2006 by Schaufeli, Bakker, and Salanova. Reprinted with permission.

The following statements are about how you feel at your volunteer organization. Please read each statement carefully and decide if you ever feel this way about your job. If you have never had this feeling, mark the "0" (zero) in the space after the statement. If you have had this feeling, then how often you felt it by marking the number (from 1 to 6) that best describes how frequently you feel that way.

Scale

- 0 = Never
- 1 = A few times a year or less 2 = Once a month or less
- 3 = A few times a month
- 4 =Once a week
- 5 = A few times a week
- 6 = Every day

Sample Items

- 1. At my work, I feel bursting with energy.
- 2. I am enthusiastic about my job.
- 3. I feel happy when I am working intensely.
- 4. I am proud of the work that I do.
- 5. I am immersed in my work.

Appendix F: Permission to use the Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ)

The test of a three component conceptualization by Meyer, Allen, and Smith, 1993. Journal of Applied Psychology, 78,538 - 551. Copyright 1993 by Meyer, Allen, and Smith. Reprinted with permission.

RE: Permission to use Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ) -Meyer, Allen, & Smith (1993)

Wiley Global Permissions <permissions@wiley.com>

Reply

Tue 9/12/17, 2:42 PM

Dear Victoria Buck :

Thank you for your request.

Permission is hereby granted for the use requested subject to the usual acknowledgements (author, title of material, title of book/journal, ourselves as publisher). You should also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the publication; this can be found on the copyright page if the material is a book or within the article if it is a journal.

Any third party material is expressly excluded from this permission. If any of the material you wish to use appears within our work with credit to another source, authorization from that source must be obtained.

This permission does not include the right to grant others permission to photocopy or otherwise reproduce this material except for accessible versions made by non-profit organizations serving the blind, visually impaired and other persons with print disabilities (VIPs).

Sincerely, Paulette Goldweber Manager, Copyright & Permissions Wiley <u>pgoldweb@wiley.com</u>2+1 201-748-8765

111 River Street Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774 U.S.^Dpermissions@wiley.com



Appendix G: Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ)

Commitment to organizations and occupations, as measured by Meyers, Allen and Smith (1993) to assess employee commitment to work organizations. The Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ) features 18 questionnaire statements (six statements for each subscale). The OCQ, scored on a 7 point Likert scale, provides a reliable test of the relationships between organizational commitment affective, continuance, and normative.

The following questionnaire statements represent feelings that nonprofit volunteers might have about the company or organization for which they volunteer. With respect to the feelings about the particular organization for which the individual is now working, please indicate the degree of your agreement or disagreement with each statement.

Scale

- 1= Strongly Disagree
- 2 = Disagree
- 3 = Slightly Disagree
- 4= Undecided
- 5 =Slightly Agree
- 6 = Agree
- 7 = Strongly Agree

Sample Items

- 1. I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career with this organization.
- 2. Right now, staying with my organization is a matter of necessity as much as desire.
- 3. I really feel as if this organization's problems are my own.
- 4. I owe a great deal to my organization.
- 5. This department has great deal of personal meaning for me

Appendix H: G Power* 3.1 Sample Size Verification Graphics

		T-tests- GPowe	er*3.1 Buck_V	
]•] Q			<u>م</u>	Search
		G*Power	3.1	
	Central and nonce	entral distributions	Protocol of power analyses	
[2] Mond	day, April 03, 2017 -	- 16:59:29		
t tests - Co	rrelation: Point bise	rial model		
Analysis: A priori: Compute required sample size				
Input:	Tail(S)	-	TWO	
	α err prob	-	0.05	
	Power $(1-\beta \text{ err prob}) = 0.8$			
Output:	Noncentrality parameter $\delta = 2.8477869$			
	Df = 80			
	Total sample size	-	82	
	Actual power		0.8033045	
Test family	Statistical test			
ttoete	t tests			<u></u>
Type of pow	er analysis			
()pe ai peri				
A priori: Co	mpute required sample size	 given a, power, an 	id effect size	0
Input parame	eters		Output parameter	'S
	Tail(s)	Two O	Noncentrality paran	neter δ 2.8477869
Determin	Effect size Iol	03	Critical t	1 9900634
Determin		0.0	or not t	
	a err prob	0.05	Df	80
Power (1-β err prob)		0.8	Total sample size	82
			Actual power	0.8033045
			V V plat for a range.	of unlung Coloulate
Appendix I: Impact of Transformational Leadership on Volunteer Engagement and Commitment in Nonprofit Organizations Survey

This Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) is used to describe the leadership style of your nonprofit organization leader as you perceive it. Answer all items on this answer sheet. If an item is irrelevant, or if you are unsure or do not now the answer leave the answer blank.

Important (necessary for processing) Which best describes you?
I am at a higher organizational level than the person I am rating
The person I am rating is at my organizational level
I am at a lower organizational level than the person I am rating
Other than above

Twenty descriptive statements are listed on the following pages. Judge how frequently each statement fits the person you are describing. Use the following rating scale:

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Frequently, if not always
0	1	2	3	4

The person I am Rating.....

1.Re-examines critical assumptions to question whether are appropriate.	0	1	2	3 4
2. Talks about his/her most important values and beliefs	0	1	2	3 4
3. Seeks differing perspectives when solving problems	0	1	2	3 4
4. Talks optimistically about the future	0	1	2	3 4
5. Instills pride in me for being associated with him/her	0	1	2	3 4

Permission for use by Victoria Bohannon Buck only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on April 18, 2017

Not at all	Once in a	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Frequently, if not always
0	1	2	3	4

6. Specifies the importance of having a strong sense of purpose	0	1	2	3	4
7. Spends time teaching and coaching	0	1	2	3	4
8. Goes beyond self-interest for the good of the group	0	1	2	3	4
9. Acts in ways that builds my respect	0	1	2	3	4
10. Considers the moral and ethical consequences of decisions	0	1	2	3	4
11. Displays a sense of power and confidence	0	1	2	3	4
12. Articulates a compelling vision of the future	0	1	2	3	4
13. Gets me to look at problems from many different angles	0	1	2	3	4
14. Helps me to develop my strengths	0	1	2	3	4
15. Emphasizes the importance of having a collective sense of mission	0	1	2	3	4
16. Expresses confidence that goals will be achieved	0	1	2	3	4

Permission for use by Victoria Bohannon Buck only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on April 18, 2017.

Not at all	Once in a	Sometimes	Fairly Often	Frequently, if not always
0	1	2	3	4

17. Talks enthusiastically about what needs to be accomplished.	0	1	2	3	4
18. Suggests new ways if looking at how to complete assignments	0	1	2	3	4
19. Treats me as an individual rather than just a member of a group	0	1	2	3	4
20.Considers me as having different needs, abilities, and aspirations from others	0	1	2	3	4

Permission for use by Victoria Bohannon Buck only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on April 18, 2017.

Work and Well-Being Survey (UWES-9)

The following 9 statements are about how you feel about your volunteer work. Please read each statement carefully and decide if you ever feel this way about your job. If you have never had this feeling, cross the "0" (zero) in the space after the statement. If you have had this feeling, indicate how often you felt it by crossing the number (from 1 to 6) that best describes how frequently you feel that way.

Never	Almost Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very Often	Always
0	1	2	3	4	5	6
Never	A few times	Once a	A few times	Once a	A few times	Every
	a year/less	month/less	a month/less	week	a week	day
21 At my volunteer work. I feel bursting with energy 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6						
22. At m	y volunteer w	ork, I feel str	ong and vigorou	15.	0 1 2 3 4	5 6
23. I am	enthusiastic al	bout my volu	inteer work.		0 1 2 3 4	5 6
24. My v	olunteer work	t inspires me.			0 1 2 3 4	5 6
25. I am	proud of the v	olunteer wor	k that I do.		0 1 2 3 4	5 6
26. I am	immersed in	my volunteer	work.		0 1 2 3 4	5 6
27. Whe	en I get up in t o do volunteer	0 1 2 3 4	5 6			
28. I get carried away when I am doing volunteer work.0 1 2 3 4 5 6						5 6
29. I feel	happy when	I am working	; intensely		0 1 2 3 4	\$ 5 6

Source: Schaufeli, Bakker, & Salanova (2006)

Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ)

From commitment to organizations and occupations: Extension and test of a three component conceptualization by Meyer, Allen, and Smith, 1993. Journal of Applied Psychology, 78, 538-551.

The following series of 18 statements represent potential feelings that you may have about the organization for which you do volunteer work. With respect to how you feel about a particular organization for which you are currently doing volunteer work, please indicate your level of agreement or disagreement with each statement.

Please respond to each statement, based on how you feel, as indicated by the 7-point Likert scale below:

Stro	ongly N	Moderately	Slightly	Neither Agree	Slightly	Moderately	Strongly
Dis	agree I	Disagree	Disagree	or disagree	Agree	Agree	Agree
1		2	3	4	5	6	7

30.I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career with this

organization.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
31. I really feel as if this organization's problems are my own.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
32. I do not feel like part of the family at this organization.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
33. I do not feel emotionally attached to this organization.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
34. This organization has a great deal of personal meaning for me.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
35. I do not feel a strong sense of belonging to this organization.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
36.Right now, staying with my organization is a matter of necessity as	
as much as desire.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Source: Meyer, Allen & Smith (1993)

Strongly Moderately Slightly Neither Agree Slightly Moderately Strongly

Γ	Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	or disagree	Agree	Agree	Agree	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

37. It would be very hard for me to leave my organization right now,	
even if I wanted to.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
38. Too much of my life would be disrupted if I left my organization.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
39.I feel that I have too few options to consider leaving this	
organization.	1234567
40. One of the few negative consequences of leaving my this	
organization would be the scarcity of available alternative	
elsewhere.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
41. One of the major reasons I continue to work for this	
organization is that leaving would require considerable	
personal sacrifice.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
42. I think that people these days move from organization to	
organization too often.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
43. One of the reasons I continue to work for this organization	
is that I believe that loyalty is important and therefore feel a	
sense of moral obligation to remain.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Source: Meyer, Allen & Smith (1993)	

Strongly	Moderately	Slightly	Neither Agree	Slightly	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	or disagree	Agree	Agree	Agree

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
44. I was	s taught to be	elieve in the	value of remai	ning		
loya	al to one org	anization				1234567
,	5					
45. I do r	not believe tl	nat a person	must always b	be loyal to his	or	
her	organizatior	1.				1 2 3 4 5 6 7
46. Jum	ping from or	ganization to	organization	does not seer	n	
at a	II unethical t	o me.				1 2 3 4 5 6 7
47. lf I go	o another off	er for a bette	er volunteer jot	o elsewhere, l		
WOL	uld feel that i	t was right to	leave my orga	anization.		1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Source: Meyer, Allen & Smith (1993)

Appendix J: Demographic Survey

AGE

- _____ 18-29
- _____ 30-44
- _____ 45-60
- > 60

GENDER

 Female
 Male

HOUSEHOLD INCOME

 \$0 - \$9,999
 \$10,000 - \$24,999
 \$25,000 - \$49,999
 \$50,000 - \$74,999
 \$75,000 - \$99,999
 \$100,000 - \$124,999
 \$125,000 - 149,999
 \$150,000 - 174,999
 \$175,000 - \$199,999
 \$200,000+

Prefer not to answer

REGION

 New England
 Middle Atlantic
 East North Central
 West North Central
 South Atlantic
 East South Central
 West South Central
 Mountain
 Pacific